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To our shareholders

Letter to the shareholders

Dear shareholders, employees and friends of Northern Data,

From the vantage point of 2020, we look back on a year in which COVID-19 turned our world upside 

down. Previously unknown challenges called for novel measures. It quickly became apparent that 

the digitalization of processes is one of the most important problem solvers for the challenges. The 

associated need to process massive torrents of data, which was certainly intensified by the pan-

demic, is matched by the foundation of our intended business model: the processing of large data 

volumes quickly and securely on the basis of high-performance computing (HPC), over and beyond 

the currently prevailing cryptomining.

In the past fiscal year, we expanded our capacities, developed new sites and entered into strategic 

partnerships. By laying important foundations for our future business model, 2020 was an exciting 

and successful year for Northern Data AG from an operational perspective. These advances, however, 

were not yet reflected in our figures; here, we refer to the explanations in the management report. 

The year 2020 was also the first financial year after the merger of the two predecessor companies 

and was characterized by the build-up and development phase. 

The foundation for the development that the Group has embarked on is the expertise that we have 

amassed over seven years in bitcoin mining – basically, the first major commercial HPC application. 

In HPC operations, thousands of high-performance computers process data in parallel in real time. 

HPC is indispensable for new technologies such as blockchain, the Internet of Things or artificial 

intelligence. In our data centers, we harness HPC solutions based on graphics processing units 

(GPU) and ASIC chips. In the dynamic development of our business model, in the current phase, the 

focus on cryptomining remains in place. Perspectively, however, these dynamics and momentum is 

shifting to a strong expansion of the range of HPC applications. In this context, our actions are always 

characterized by efficiency: Efficiency in the development, construction and operation of our data 

centers. In order to ensure this, we are leveraging our proprietary software and hardware develop-

ments, including our own cooling solutions, and placing an attractive product on the market.

We started off in 2020 with our data center at the Texas site, whose efficiency in design, construction 

and operation clearly demonstrated decisive customer benefits: We enabled customers to operate 

profitably even in connection with low mining profitability, in which we participated via fixed hosting 

fees. The arrangement meant that we became independent of the price developments of cryptocur-

rencies ourselves, while scaling, however, was only possible by way of a rapid and, for our company 

size, comparatively capital-intensive investment course. We divested our Texas site after the end of 

the fiscal year, in May 2021. In the meantime, we have sold all the shares from the transaction, result-

ing in total proceeds of around 400 million euros. 

The sale was already part of our new multi-site strategy, as the focus on size as at this site was put to 

question not least by risks arising in connection with the pandemic. The new strategy marks a depar-

ture from the principle of maximally dimensioned data centers to smaller dimensioned, flexible data 

centers. In other words, many sites with exemplary environmental performance and balanced risk 

profiles as opposed to one large, central site. On the other hand, the sale was necessary in view of the 

ever-increasing supply of our infrastructure sourcing energy from renewable sources, which was not 

satisfactorily available in Texas. Now our portfolio features green and climate-neutral energy supply 

for HPC applications. In this way, we are combining high profitability with sustainability. 

Next on the agenda, in 2020, we greenlighted a GPU-based distributed computing cluster for HPC 

applications, distributed across sites in Germany, the Netherlands, Norway and Sweden. At its core, it 

is all about the high-margin utilization of GPU computing power. The aim of this shift in our course 

was to achieve higher margins with lower investment volumes than was the case in Texas at the 

time. 
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In Q3 2021, we acquired Decentric and Bitfield with the aim of entering the mining segment and 

participating in the overall profits from the provision of computing power for cryptomining in the 

best possible manner. The two acquisitions will form the foundation of an expanded growth strategy 

to scale a „value generator“ of HPC infrastructure solutions characterized by global presence, green 

energy and leading cost structures.

While we are currently still generating the major share of our revenue from cryptomining, we aim to 

become a leading provider of cloud computing in the GPU business. Sustainability is always at the 

core of everything we do. We are already operating our GPU-based services efficiently and on the 

basis of renewable energies. This setup delivers significant added value.

At the same time, we have strong momentum on our side. With our offerings, we are meeting a rap-

idly growing demand for computing power, which was already an expression of a global megatrend 

prior to the pandemic. The ability to collect and analyze data in real time is rapidly evolving from a 

smart competitive advantage for companies to a fundamental requirement to be able to compete 

in the first place. With our unique approach, the in-depth experience from many years of develop-

ment, a clear focus on renewable energies, with strategic acquisitions, strong global partners such as 

Gigabyte and AMD, among others, as well as our fantastic team and a great deal of passion, we will 

achieve the goals we have set ourselves.

A R O O S H  T H I L L A I N A T H A N

CEO

In 2021 and the following years, the focus will be on further expanding our position and ensuring 

strong growth in connection with sustainable profitability. The market opportunities are particularly 

sizable at the moment, while at the same time we have to master the task of quickly developing 

additional sites. In terms of figures, this includes a forecast that assumes revenues of around EUR 180 

million to EUR 220 million and EBITDA of around EUR 100 million to EUR 125 million, predominantly 

from the provision of computing power for crypto-mining purposes. 

The year 2020 was just the beginning. We used it primarily to develop a viable business model. Now 

I am looking forward to the challenges that lie ahead. We would also like to thank you, our esteemed 

shareholders, for your trust and for accompanying us on our journey. You should and can expect a 

great deal from us in the upcoming years. 

Sincerely, 

Aroosh Thillainathan

Frankfurt am Main, November 2021





P A G E  1 7A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 

Northern Data AG

P A G E  1 6 A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 

Northern Data AG

  

 

 

 

Report of the Supervisory Board

Dear shareholders,

The year 2020 was a year of change for the young Northern Data AG, with Mr. Aroosh Thillainathan 

appointed as its new CEO as of January 1, 2020. The year 2020 also saw changes on the Supervisory 

Board. With the company’s Annual General Meeting on November 10, 2020, the previous Supervisory 

Board Chair, Mr. Eerik Budarz, and Mr. Marc Schönberger stepped down from the company’s Super-

visory Board. Dr. Tom Oliver Schorling and Hermann-Josef Lamberti were elected as members of the 

Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board then elected Dr. Tom Oliver Schorling as its Chair. Dr. Bernd 

Hartmann continues to be a member of the company’s Supervisory Board.

During	the	year	under	review,	a	reshuffle	also	occurred	on	the	company’s	Management	Board.	The	

Supervisory Board appointed Mr. Stefan Sickenberger as an additional member of the Management 

Board	with	effect	from	August	1,	2020.	Mr.	Sickenberger	has	since	served	as	Chief	Operating	Officer.	

With effect from September 7, 2020, Dr. Mathias Dähn was also appointed as a member of the Man-

agement	Board	and	as	Chief	Financial	Officer.	He	thereby	succeeds	Mr.	Mathis	Schultz,	who	stepped	

down from the Management Board at the same time after many years of service with the company.

With regard to the company’s operating business, 2020 was largely characterized by the realignment 

of the business towards the construction and operation of a global HPC infrastructure. The Supervi-

sory Board has closely monitored this realignment and the associated expansion and growth. 

The	significant	number	of	Supervisory	Board	meetings	–	33	in	total	–	convened	in	the	2020	reporting	

year is an expression of this intensive support provided by the Supervisory Board. All meetings were 

attended by the Supervisory Board in its respective composition. Due to the coronavirus pandemic, 

all meetings were held virtually, including two as videoconferences and 31 as teleconferences. In 

individual cases, the Supervisory Board approved resolutions by written procedure outside the scope 

of meetings. This related, in particular, to aspects in the meaning of Section 90 (1) Clause 1 No. 4 of 

the	German	Stock	Corporation	Act	(AktG):	transactions	that	may	be	of	significant	importance	to	the	

company’s	liquidity	or	profitability.

The Supervisory Board supervised the Management Board’s management of the company through-

out	the	2020	fiscal	year,	and	advised	the	Management	Board	on	matters	concerning	the	man-

agement	of	the	company.	This	included,	in	particular,	the	company’s	business	trends,	its	financial	

position	and	performance,	as	well	as	its	investment	plans.	The	Management	Board	always	fulfilled	

its information obligations to an appropriate extent and informed the Supervisory Board concerning 

corporate planning, the progress of business, strategic development and the Group’s current position. 

The Supervisory Board was informed regularly, promptly and comprehensively, both in writing and 

verbally, about issues and measures relevant to the company. 

The	company’s	expansion	and	growth	were	reflected	in	the	topics	discussed	at	the	Supervisory	Board	

meetings	and	in	the	resolutions	adopted.	In	this	context,	mention	should	be	made	first	of	capital	

increases for the purpose of raising capital, as well as for investor participation and the acquisition of 

subsidiaries. At various meetings at the start of the year, the main topic was the contribution of the 

interest in Whinstone US Inc. to Northern Data AG as a non-cash capital contribution. 

The establishment or acquisition of various subsidiaries abroad also formed the subject of Supervisory 

Board meetings in the second half of 2020: in September 2020, the Supervisory Board concerned 

itself with the founding of a (limited company) subsidiary in Canada, and in October 2020 with the 

capital increase against a non-cash capital contribution of the interest in Canadian company Groupe 

Kelvin Emtech Inc. The Supervisory Board also approved the founding of an (AS) subsidiary and/or the 

acquisition of a corresponding shelf company in Norway, as well as the acquisition of a shelf company 

under Swedish law. In November 2020, the Supervisory Board approved the Management Board’s 

decision to found a (BV) subsidiary under Dutch law and to acquire a data center in the Netherlands. 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board also approved investments and the conclusion of corresponding 

contracts for the construction and operation of data centers in Frankfurt am Main-Höchst and in Nor-

way, as well as the acquisition of a property in Norway.

In the year under review, the Supervisory Board also concerned itself with business partnerships, and 

the purchase of hardware and software as well as related licenses, which serve to optimize the compa-

ny’s portfolio. 

In view of the growing number of employees, the Supervisory Board also regularly discussed the hiring 

of new staff, as well as the company’s stock option program, during the year under review. 

Audit	and	approval	of	the	annual	financial	statements	

These	separate	and	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Northern	Data	AG	for	the	2020	fiscal	year	

have been audited by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, the auditors appointed by 

the	Shareholders’	General	Meeting,	and	have	been	issued	with	an	unqualified	audit	opinion.	The	

Supervisory	Board	examined	both	the	separate	financial	statements	for	the	fiscal	ended	December	31,	

2020	of	Northern	Data	AG,	as	well	as	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	in	particular	with	regard	to	

their legal, correct and effective nature, and discussed the documents in detail with the Management 

Board and the auditor on the basis of a draft version of the audit report.

The auditors reported on the progress of the audit at several Supervisory Board meetings and 

attended the Supervisory Board meeting on November 9, 2021, at which the results of the audit as a 

whole and the individual focus points of the audit were reported upon. The auditors were available 

to answer any questions arising from the members of the Supervisory Board. The members of the 

Supervisory Board took note of the audit reports and the audit opinions, critically evaluated them and 

discussed them, as well as the audits themselves, with each other and with the auditors. This included 

questioning	the	nature	and	scope	of	the	audit	and	the	audit	findings.	The	Supervisory	Board	was	

able to satisfy itself of the correctness of the audits and the audit reports. The Supervisory Board has 

taken note of the information provided by the auditor on the improvement of the accounting-related 

internal control system, and will monitor its implementation. The Supervisory Board has conclusively 

assessed	the	separate	annual	financial	statements	of	Northern	Data	AG	as	of	December	31,	2020,	as	

well	as	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	taking	the	auditor’s	audit	reports	into	consideration,	

and raises no objections based on the results of its examination. The Supervisory Board approved 

and	thereby	adopted	the	separate	annual	financial	statements	prepared	by	the	Management	Board	

by way of a Supervisory Board resolution dated November 9, 2021; it also approved the consolidated 

financial	statements.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the members of the Management Board and all of the 

company’s employees for their personal commitment in this challenging year, for their energetic 

efforts	on	the	company’s	behalf,	and	for	the	successes	achieved	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.	The	Supervisory	

Board would like to thank the shareholders for their interest in our company and for the trust they 

have placed in us.

Dr. Tom Oliver Schorling

Frankfurt am Main, November 9, 2021
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1. Group Management Report

G R O U P  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T  F O R  T H E  F I S C A L  Y E A R  F R O M 

 J A N U A R Y  1  T O  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 0

1.1. Basis of the Group

1 . 1 . 1 .  B U S I N E S S  M O D E L

The Northern Data Group (hereinafter also referred to as “Northern Data” or the “Group”), based in 

Frankfurt am Main, focuses on the expansion of stationary as well as mobile data centers, the develop-

ment of the HPC business segment, the provision of hosting services, as well as the hardware required 

for	this	purpose.	In	the	2021	fiscal	year,	Northern	Data	entered	the	crypto	market	in	the	context	of	

providing computing power for crypto mining. The Group employed an average of 113 staff worldwide 

in	the	2020	fiscal	year.	The	total	number	of	employees	within	the	Group	at	the	end	of	the	fiscal	year	

was 157, eight of whom are senior managers.

Northern Data’s offering aims to design, build and operate both stationary and mobile data centers in 

an	energy-efficient	manner	with	a	high	level	of	automation.	In-house	software	and	hardware	devel-

opments contribute to achieving the targeted high level of automation and steady utilization of the 

data centers. The Group’s mobile data centers are proprietary developments, whereas the stationary 

data centers are either built in-house or corresponding facilities are acquired. If required, these can be 

adapted structurally to meet Northern Data’s needs. The data centers are located in North America 

and Europe.

HPC involves high computing power delivered at high speed. Application areas include crypto mining, 

blockchain,	artificial	intelligence,	big	data	analytics	and	rendering.	In	principle,	HPC	delivers	a	multiple	

of computing power and storage capacity compared to conventional server systems. This is accompa-

nied by greater heat generation, which necessitates special thermal management.

Northern Data procures, installs and operates the server hardware within its data centers, with the 

server hardware being the customer’s property. This distinguishes the Group from co-location provid-

ers which rent server space in their data centers for their customers’ differing applications. Northern 

Data’s business model is driven by the design-to-cost approach, which focuses on the cost and energy 

efficiency	of	the	server	architecture.	Northern	Data	advises	its	customers	accordingly	in	the	selection	

of hardware. In the procurement area, the Group works with renowned manufacturers such as Giga-

byte and AMD, among others.

With the completion of the acquisitions of Decentric Europe B.V. (hereinafter also referred to as 

Decentric),	Amsterdam,	Netherlands,	and	of	Bitfield	N.V.,	The	Hague,	Netherlands	(formerly	Bitfield	

AG,	Hofheim	am	Taunus)	(hereinafter	also	referred	to	as	Bitfield),	in	August	and	October	2021,	the	

Group currently has a strong focus on the provision of computing power for crypto mining, including 

the use of its own hardware.

G R O U P  H I S T O R Y

Northern Bitcoin AG, as the predecessor of Northern Data AG, was active in bitcoin mining in 2018 and 

2019. The business activities mainly comprised the expansion and operation of sustainable infrastruc-

ture for bitcoin mining.

In	the	2020	fiscal	year	,	the	merger	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	Rockdale,	Texas,	USA,	with	Northern	Data	AG	

was executed. Whinstone US, Inc. acted as an operator of data centers specializing in blockchain appli-

cations such as bitcoin mining, and had already started investing in building a scalable data center in 

late 2019. The merger of Whinstone US, Inc. with Northern Data AG created the Northern Data Group, 

with	Northern	Data	AG	as	the	Group’s	parent	company,	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.	

Following the merger with Whinstone US, Inc., Northern Data invested in the expansion of the HPC 

data center in Rockdale, Texas, USA, particularly for customer applications in the area of blockchain 

and bitcoin mining, with the aim of leveraging competitive advantages based on low operating costs. 

Furthermore,	the	business	model	was	further	developed	and	a	profit-share	model	developed	as	part	

of	hosting	services.	During	the	second	half	of	2020,	revenue	was	recognized	for	the	first	time	from	cus-

tomer relationships of Whinstone US, Inc.

In addition, Northern Data began building its own data centers in Europe in 2020. The carrying 

amount	of	the	data	centers	operated	worldwide	stood	at	kEUR 31,087	as	of	December	31,	2020.

In December 2020, hardware supply and service agreements were also concluded with Decentric and 

Bitfield.	Decentric	was	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary	of	Block.one	Group,	which	held	a	3.2 percent	interest	

in the Northern Data Group as of December 31, 2020. The company’s business is to generate comput-

ing power using GPU servers for crypto mining and other HPC applications. As of the reporting date, 

27.1 percent	of	Bitfield	was	held	by	the	Block.one	Group,	13.0 percent	by	Apeiron	Investment	Group	

Limited,	which	is	owned	by	Christian	Angermayer,	as	well	as	2.9 percent	directly	by	Marco	Beck-

mann	and	12.9 percent	by	Beckmann	Capital	GmbH,	which	is	owned	by	Marco	Beckmann.	Christian	

Angermayer	and	Marco	Beckmann	held	16.7 percent	and	19.9 percent	respectively	in	the	Northern	

Data Group as of December 31, 2020 via Apeiron Investment Group Limited and Cryptology Asset 

Group	P.L.C.	on	the	one	hand,	and	BlackMars	GmbH	and	Singularity	AG	on	the	other.	Bitfield	focuses	

on providing computing power for bitcoin mining. The computing power is generated by means 

of ASIC miners and remunerated in bitcoins. The aforementioned contracts included, in particular, 

hardware supply contracts as well as service contracts for the operation of the supplied hardware. 

Despite	mutual	fulfillment	of	all	related	contractual	obligations,	no	revenue	was	recognized	with	these	

companies for the hardware deliveries in 2020 due to Northern Data‘s assessment that the criteria for 

a contract in the meaning of IFRS 15.9 were not met, and due to the lack of a transfer of economic con-

trol	as	of	December	31,	2020.	Similarly,	despite	both	parties	fulfilling	all	related	contractual	obligations,	

no	revenue	was	recognized	from	services	provided	to	Bitfield	because	the	performance	obligations	

were not separable in IFRS and the provision of the hosting service could not commence until the 

hardware was commissioned in 2021. The performance obligations would have had to be spread over 

the planned operating phase.

In March 2021, with the acquisition of the Hydro66 Group, the takeover of a data center site in Boden, 

Sweden, was completed and computing capacities further expanded.

In May 2021, the divestiture of Whinstone US, Inc. to Riot Blockchain Inc, USA, was realized.

During	the	2021	fiscal	year,	in	addition	to	deliveries	to	two	additional	customers,	further	hardware	

units	were	delivered	to	Decentric	and	Bitfield	and	successively	put	into	operation.	Both	companies	

already	generated	revenue	in	the	first	half	of	2021	from	the	provision	of	computing	power	for	mining	

cryptocurrencies.	A	definitive	contract	for	the	operation	of	Decentric’s	hardware	by	Northern	Data	

was not concluded, contrary to original planning. The companies were acquired in the third quarter 

of	2021	with	the	aim	of	entering	the	mining	business	and	participating	in	the	overall	profits	from	the	

provision of computing power. One of the effects of the acquisition was the transfer of ownership of 

the hardware supplied to the companies between Northern Data and those companies. As a conse-

quence	of	the	Decentric	and	Bitfield	acquisitions,	it	continued	to	be	the	case	that	no	revenue	from	

the supply of mining hardware and agreed services, including the operation of the hardware, was 

recognized	in	the	2021	fiscal	year.
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1 . 1 . 2 .  C O M P A N Y  M A N A G E M E N T

Management Board

Northern Data AG is managed by its Management Board. The strategic development of the Group is 

realized in close consultation with the Supervisory Board. The Management Board constantly informs 

the Supervisory Board concerning new strategies as well as opportunities and risks. 

The Management Board is responsible for the strategic development and successful management 

of	Northern	Data.	In	the	2020	fiscal	year,	the	Management	Board	initially	consisted	of	two	members	

–	Chairman	Aroosh	Thillainathan	and	Mathis	Schultz.	In	August	2020,	the	Management	Board	was	

expanded to include Mr. Stefan Sickenberger, and in September 2020, Dr. Mathias Dähn succeeded 

Mathias	Schultz	as	Chief	Financial	Officer.

Significant	influence	was	exercised	by	the	Block.one	Group	as	of	the	reporting	date.

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board serves as a supervisory body for the Management Board, and consists of three 

members. Since the 2020 Ordinary Annual General Meeting, these three members have been Dr. Tom 

Oliver Schorling (Chair), Hermann-Josef Lamberti and Dr. Bernd Hartmann.

1 . 1 . 3 .  G R O U P  S T R U C T U R E

The Group is headed by Northern Data AG. Northern Data AG performs Group management tasks in 

the	areas	of	finance,	investor	relations,	controlling,	legal	and	compliance	as	well	as	purchasing	and	

personnel. In addition, central management and administrative functions for the Group are integrated 

within Northern Data AG.

The Northern Data Group includes the following main subsidiaries (as of December 31, 2020): 

 ▶ Groupe Kelvin Emtech Inc. and its three direct subsidiaries Kelvin Emtech Inc., Kelvin Emtech 

Technologies Inc., and Kelvin Emtech Construction Inc., all located in Montreal, Canada, (here-

inafter referred to as the “Kelvin Emtech Group” or the “KE Group”). The Kelvin Emtech Group 

is responsible for manufacturing of the containers to house the server equipment. Its activities 

include, among others, inspections, demand analyses, planning as well as the construction and 

operation of the systems.

 ▶ Whinstone US, Inc. was responsible for the construction and operation of an HPC data center in 

Rockdale, Texas, USA, primarily in the area of blockchain and bitcoin mining.

 ▶ Northern Data Software GmbH, which is responsible to a large extent for operational tasks such 

as software development, logistics, planning and construction of data centers worldwide and 

sales.

 ▶ Northern	Data	CA	Ltd,	Canada,	was	still	in	the	build-up	phase	in	the	2020	fiscal	year,	and	is	

expected to provide hosting services in the future in a data center that is still in the planning 

stage.

 ▶ Northern Data NL B.V., Netherlands, tasked with building and operating a data center in the 

Netherlands.

1 . 1 . 4 .  R E S E A R C H  A N D  D E V E L O P M E N T

The Northern Data Group operates in a highly innovation-driven environment, and the active pursuit 

of research and development is thus crucial to the success of the business. Research and development 

are conducted especially in the areas of software and hardware, as well as in the planning, develop-

ment and construction of the data centers.

The goal of the activities is to optimize the setup and operational processes in terms of time. Through 

more process-optimized digitization and user guidance, and by optimizing the software in the hard-

ware	deployed,	both	power	usage	and	computing	power	are	to	be	reduced	with	specific	reference	to	

the environment.

In addition, work is being conducted on cooling concepts in order to permanently improve the 

so-called “Power Usage Effectiveness” (PUE), which provides a measure of data centers’ energy 

efficiency.	Mobile	data	centers	are	also	being	refined,	e.g.	through	the	use	of	renewable	raw	materi-

als such as wood, as well as process optimization in the area of deployment and automation of work 

processes.

Research	and	development	costs	totaled	kEUR 195	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	(previous	year:	kEUR 0).

1.2. Economic and business report

1 . 2 . 1 .  M A C R O E C O N O M I C  A N D  S E C T O R - S P E C I F I C  C O N D I T I O N S

The	global	economy	was	impacted	by	the	COVID-19	pandemic	in	the	past	2020	fiscal	year.	Overall,	the	

global	economy	contracted	by	3.5 percent	in	2020	as	a	consequence	of	the	pandemic,	according	to	

the IMF.*

The decade-long growth of the global HPC market was interrupted in 2020 with a COVID-19 induced 

decrease	of	3.7 percent	to	USD 37.6 billion,	according	to	data	from	market	research	firm	Intersect360	

Research.	However,	this	reduction	is	more	a	reflection	of	investments	postponed	than	investments	

canceled. On the product side, the COVID-19 pandemic had the greatest impact on demand for 

servers.	In	contrast,	HPC	clouds	and	services	such	as	managed	services	benefited	from	restrictions	on	

stationary installations, and reported sustained growth.**

The	aforementioned	macroeconomic	and	sector-related	trends	in	2020	were	not	significant	for	

Northern Data, as the Group is still in the strategic market development and establishment phase, 

with business development and negotiations with new customers forming the main focus as a conse-

quence. 

The	cryptocurrency	market	had	a	further	indirect	significance	for	the	Group’s	business	in	the	2020	

fiscal	year.	In	the	second	half	of	the	year,	various	developments,	including	the	acceptance	of	cryp-

tocurrencies by major payment providers and the addition of cryptocurrencies to the portfolios of 

major asset managers, led to a strong surge in bitcoin and other cryptocurrency prices. Nonetheless, 

cryptocurrency prices tend to be subject to greater volatility. In total, the market capitalization of all 

cryptocurrencies	in	existence	in	2020	amounted	to	around	USD 758 billion.	The	comparable	figure	

from	2019	stood	at	around	USD 194 billion.***

1 . 2 . 2 .  B U S I N E S S  P E R F O R M A N C E

The Northern Data Group is currently in the market development and establishment phase. This 

phase is characterized by the acquisition of new customers, the construction of data centers and the 

recruitment	of	qualified	personnel.	This	entails	a	high	level	of	investment,	the	establishment	and	

*  https://www.imf.org/-/media/Files/Publications/WEO/2021/Update/January/English/text.ashx

**  http://www.intersect360.com/LiteratureRetrieve.aspx?ID=158848

***  https://coinmarketcap.com/charts/
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expansion	of	the	company	organization,	and	the	definition	of	corporate	processes.	In	parallel,	the	

Group	expanded	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	by	acquiring	companies	that	are	already	on	the	market	as	well	

as	by	establishing	and	spinning	off	its	own	subsidiaries.	Important	steps	in	this	fiscal	year	included	the	

merger with Whinstone US, Inc., the construction and expansion of a data center of Whinstone US, 

Inc. in Texas, the start of construction of a “distributed computing cluster” at locations in the Neth-

erlands, Scandinavia, Germany and Canada, the acquisition of Canadian technology group, the KE 

Group, and the agreement of research and technology partnerships. In addition, Northern Data AG 

has expanded its Management Board and increased its total number of staff to around 157 across the 

Group. 

In mid-February 2020, the Northern Data Group announced a strategic partnership in the applied 

blockchain technology areas with SBI Crypto Co., Ltd, (hereinafter “SBI Crypto”), a wholly owned 

subsidiary	of	SBI	Holdings	Inc.	SBI	Crypto	was	one	of	the	first	companies	to	have	its	hardware	hosted	

in	the	Texas	data	center	that	opened	later.	In	addition,	both	parties	have	identified	further	areas	for	

strategic development. These areas include projects related to blockchain technology infrastructure 

as well as the joint development and supply of software. Over the further course of the year, SBI Crypto 

also became a shareholder in Northern Data AG due to the conversion into shares of a convertible 

bond issued by Northern Data AG in 2019.

The acquisition of Whinstone US, Inc. was completed in March 2020. The original strategic goal of the 

merger was to combine both companies’ technology and customer expertise and to leverage such 

expertise in the development of HPC platforms. Whinstone US, Inc. built and operated an HPC data 

center	in	Rockdale,	Texas,	USA,	during	the	fiscal	year	under	review,	particularly	for	customer	applica-

tions in the blockchain and bitcoin mining area. Operations began in June 2020, with initial revenue 

from hosting services generated in the second half of the year. The data center’s capacities were suc-

cessively expanded over the course of the year. In May 2021, the divestiture of Whinstone US, Inc. along 

with its data center and hosting business was completed.

In August 2020, planning work also began on a strategic growth project for a cloud-based GPU HPC 

solution	for	applications	such	as	artificial	intelligence,	deep/machine	learning,	Big Data analysis and 

the rendering of CGI (Computer Generated Imagery) projects.

With this new solution, Northern Data aims to expand its existing activities in data center construction, 

operations and managed services to include the area of a cloud provider for the HPC mass market 

and computing-intensive enterprise customers. This project will form the primary focus of the teams 

within Northern Data in the second half of the year.

In addition, research and development in the area of “Pod Engineering” began in mid-September 

2020. Here, a new, modular construction of data centers in mobile containers, including cooling by 

outside air, is being realized. A total of 51 units of this new pod generation will go into production in the 

2021	fiscal	year	once	the	testing	phase	has	been	completed.	It	is	to	serve	as	a	new	solution	for	mobile	

data centers and is to be available for immediate delivery. This new generation of data centers also 

decouples data center construction and site provisioning.

In October 2020, Northern Data also acquired the Kelvin Emtech Group in Canada, which specializes 

in data centers and electrical engineering. The Kelvin Emtech Group is responsible for manufacturing 

the containers to house the server equipment.

At	the	end	of	the	2020	fiscal	year,	contracts	were	concluded	with	Decentric	and	the	Bitfield	Group.	

These also include contracts relating to the supply of hardware to be installed in the course of 2021. 

Northern	Data	acquired	the	aforementioned	companies	in	the	2021	fiscal	year.	Please	refer	to	the	

related comments in the sections discussing the business model and the Group’s history.

Furthermore,	the	2020	fiscal	year	was	significant	for	scouting	for	new	data	center	locations	in	Europe	

and North America, as well as for screening potential corporate acquisitions in the area of data 

center providers for GPU servers and hosting services. In addition to strategic expansion for customer 

capacities, such activities aim to diversify data center locations away from a mega-site approach to a 

multi-site strategy. This will enable Northern Data to develop and build parallel data centers in differ-

ent regions and countries with different teams in combination with local suppliers, including during 

a global pandemic. The aim is to minimize the impact of the pandemic on the Northern Data Group’s 

business. 

In	the	2020	fiscal	year,	Northern	Data	entered	into	supplier	contracts	for	ASIC	hardware,	securing	

access	to	otherwise	hard-to-find	ASIC	systems	that	will	be	fully	delivered	by	mid-2021.	

The same applies to the supplier contracts for graphics card-based server systems (GPU). The partner-

ships with Gigabyte and AMD as well as with Nvidia also enabled the announcement in September 

2020	of	the	planned	development	of	the	“distributed	computing	cluster”	–	i.e.	the	cloud-based	GPU	

HPC	solution	–	at	the	locations	in	Germany,	the	Netherlands,	Norway	and	Sweden.	

At	the	time	when	the	first	Annual	General	Meeting	of	Northern	Data	was	held	in	November	2020,	the	

third expansion phase in Texas was being completed. In addition, a new data center in Frankfurt am 

Main and a new location in the Netherlands were commissioned. 

It	is	to	be	noted	that	the	US	dollar	was	exposed	to	greater	volatility	during	the	2020	fiscal	year,	particu-

larly with the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Especially from May 2020 onwards, the US dollar 

depreciated	significantly	against	the	euro.	The	euro	consequently	reported	a	marked	appreciation	to	

USD 1.23	by	the	end	of	the	year.	This	shift	in	the	exchange	rate	was	the	main	reason	for	the	translation	

difference	of	EUR -6.3 million	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income,	as	well	as	expenses	from	

currency	translation	of	EUR 5.1 million	and	income	of	EUR 2.0 million.

1 . 2 . 3 .  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N  A N D  P E R F O R M A N C E

The	comparability	of	the	financial	position	and	performance	of	the	current	reporting	period	with	the	

corresponding comparative periods of the previous year is limited as new fundamentals have resulted 

as a consequence of the initial consolidation of the acquired and newly established subsidiaries as well 

as a change in the business model.

1 . 2 . 4 .  N E T  A S S E T S

Owing	to	the	first-time	consolidation	of	the	acquired	and	newly	founded	subsidiaries,	almost	all	asset	

and	liability	items	as	well	as	total	assets	have	increased	significantly	compared	to	the	previous	year’s	

reporting date. Consequently, they are only comparable with the previous year to a limited extent.

On	the	assets	side,	a	total	of	kEUR 407,562	(previous	year:	kEUR 8,589)	of	non-current	assets	are	recog-

nized.	These	mainly	include	the	goodwill	arising	from	the	initial	consolidation	in	the	fiscal	year	under	

review	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	and	the	Kelvin	Emtech	Group	(kEUR 42,471	and	kEUR 1,008	respectively),	

and	customer	bases	(kEUR 88,522	and	kEUR 3,268	respectively).

In	addition,	rights	of	use	from	leasing	agreements	(kEUR 12,933;	previous	year:	kEUR 3,371)	and	prop-

erty,	plant	and	equipment	(kEUR 234,201;	previous	year:	kEUR 5,017)	are	reported	under	non-current	

assets. The investments in property, plant and equipment realized in the reporting period relate, in 

addition to prepayments for hardware, primarily for the data centers in Texas and the Netherlands 

(kEUR 27,524)	and,	in	an	amount	of	kEUR 33,846,	to	the	hardware	delivered	to	Decentric	and	the	Bit-

field	Group	in	December	2020,	which,	in	the	absence	of	a	transfer	of	control,	continues	to	be	recog-

nized on the balance sheet of Northern Data as of the balance sheet date. Please refer to the related 

comments in the sections discussing the business model and the Group’s history.

Other non-current assets mainly include security deposits, primarily under agreements that Whin-

stone US, Inc. has with electricity suppliers, as well as in relation to long-term rental agreements.
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Current	assets	amount	to	kEUR 95,015	(previous	year:	kEUR 3,497).	These	mainly	include	cash	and	

cash	equivalents	(kEUR 73,862;	previous	year:	kEUR 3,248)	and	inventories	(kEUR 11,875;	previous	year:	

kEUR 58).	The	inventories	mainly	relate	to	services	from	contract	manufacturing	not	yet	invoiced	as	of	

the reporting date.

Other	current	assets	(kEUR 6,702;	previous	year:	kEUR 192)	primarily	include	VAT	receivables	

(kEUR 5,760;	previous	year:	kEUR 0).	

The	equity	and	liabilities	side	reports	consolidated	equity	of	kEUR 176,525	(previous	year:	kEUR -8,471)	

as	well	as	current	and	non-current	liabilities	totaling	kEUR 326,052	(previous	year:	kEUR 20,556).

Following the capital increase measures that were implemented during the reporting period, positive 

equity is reported as of the balance sheet date. For details, please refer to our remarks concerning the 

financial	position,	as	well	as	the	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

As	of	the	balance	sheet	date,	liabilities	totaling	kEUR 219,975	(previous	year:	kEUR 476)	relate	to	other	

liabilities, most of which are current. These mainly arise from prepayments received from Decentric 

and	Bitfield	for	the	provision	of	hardware	and	engineering	services.	Please	refer	to	the	related	com-

ments in the sections discussing the business model and the Group’s history.

Current	and	non-current	financial	liabilities	amount	to	a	total	of	kEUR 79,684	(previous	year:	

kEUR 19,973).	These	primarily	include	trade	payables	(kEUR 20,246;	previous	year:	kEUR 980),	loan	

liabilities	of	kEUR 25,498	to	a	customer	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	in	connection	with	the	financing	of	

the data center in Texas, negative fair values of embedded derivatives from electricity contracts 

(kEUR 16,925;	previous	year:	kEUR 0),	a	loan	liability	to	shareholders	and	third	parties	(totaling	

kEUR 1,164;	previous	year:	kEUR 4,547),	and	lease	liabilities	(totaling	kEUR 14,771;	previous	year:	

kEUR 3,406).	A	residual	liability	from	convertible	bonds	(kEUR 176;	previous	year:	kEUR 11,041)	is	also	

reported.

Other	current	liabilities	to	third	parties	amount	to	kEUR 217,938	(previous	year:	kEUR 476)	and	mainly	

derive	from	prepayments	received	from	Decentric	and	Bitfield	for	the	provision	of	hardware	and	

engineering services.

Income	tax	liabilities	amount	to	kEUR 7,131	(previous	year:	kEUR 0).	

Deferred tax liabilities arise primarily from the release of hidden reserves in connection with the initial 

consolidation of Whinstone US, Inc. and the Kelvin Emtech Group. As of the reporting date, they 

totaled	kEUR 14,354	(previous	year:	kEUR 58).

1 . 2 . 5 .  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

The	following	capital	raising	and	financing	measures	were	realized	in	the	reporting	period.

A	non-cash	capital	increase	was	implemented	at	Northern	Data	AG	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	as	part	

of the merger with Whinstone US, Inc. In this context, a resolution was passed by the Management 

Board to utilize the Approved Capital that had been approved in 2019 in order to increase the com-

pany‘s share capital by EUR 3,720,750.00 against a non-cash capital contribution. To this end, an issue 

of	3,720,750	no-par	value	bearer	shares	with	a	notional	interest	in	the	share	capital	of	EUR 1.00	each	

(Approved Capital 2019/I) was implemented. Shareholders’ statutory subscription rights were excluded 

in this context. The shareholders of Whinstone US, Inc. were admitted to subscribe against contribu-

tion	of	their	respective	shares	in	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	The	capital	increase	was	completed	in	the	first	

quarter	of	2020	in	the	full	amount	of	EUR 3,720,750.00	against	non-cash	capital	contributions.	The	

non-cash capital contributions were realized by transferring all of Whinstone’s shares to the company 

upon entry in the commercial register on March 9, 2020. After the non-cash capital increase, the com-

pany’s	share	capital	amounted	to	EUR 11,162,250.00.	The	difference	between	the	fair	value	(stock	mar-

ket	price)	on	the	transaction	date	and	the	nominal	value	of	the	shares	issued	(totaling	kEUR 116,087)	

was transferred to the capital reserve.

By making partial use of Approved Capital 2020/I, as approved by the Ordinary Annual General 

Meeting on December 30, 2019, and entered in the commercial register on March 16, 2020, a share 

capital	increase	of	EUR 685,000.00	to	EUR 11,847,250.00	against	cash	capital	contributions	was	

implemented in April 2020. The gross proceeds from the capital increase amounted to approximately 

EUR 30.1 million.	The	amount	exceeding	the	nominal	value	of	the	issued	shares	(in	total	kEUR 29,455)	

was	transferred	to	the	capital	reserve.	In	July	2020,	a	further	share	capital	increase	of	EUR 431,225.00	to	

EUR 12,278,475.00	against	cash	capital	contributions	was	completed.	Gross	proceeds	of	EUR 21.6 mil-

lion	were	generated.	Of	this	amount,	a	total	of	kEUR 21,130	was	transferred	to	the	capital	reserve.	

Based on the conditional increase of the share capital approved on August 30, 2019, as amended by 

the resolution of the Shareholders’ General Meeting on December 30, 2019 (Conditional Capital 2019/I), 

subscription	shares	with	a	nominal	value	of	EUR 2,277,875	were	issued	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	in	con-

nection with the servicing of the convertible bond. As a consequence, the share capital of Northern 

Data	AG	increased	to	EUR 14,556,350.00.	The	difference	between	the	nominal	value	of	the	shares	

issued	and	the	value	of	the	convertible	bond	attributable	to	them	(in	total	kEUR 15,945)	was	trans-

ferred to the capital reserve. 

As part of the merger with Groupe Kelvin Emtech Inc., a further non-cash capital increase was 

implemented	in	December	2020.	In	the	process,	the	share	capital	was	increased	by	EUR 83,334.00	

to	EUR 14,639,684.00	on	the	basis	of	the	authorization	granted	by	the	Annual	General	Meeting	on	

December 30, 2019. For this purpose, a total of 83,334 no-par value bearer shares with a notional 

interest	in	the	share	capital	of	EUR 1.00	each	were	issued.	The	shareholders	of	the	Kelvin	Emtech	Inc.	

Group were admitted to subscribe against contribution of their respective shares in the Kelvin Emtech 

Inc. Group. The capital increase was completed in the fourth quarter of 2020 in the full amount of 

EUR 83,334.00	against	non-cash	capital	contributions.	The	non-cash	capital	contributions	were	real-

ized by transferring all shares in Northern Data AG with entry in the commercial register on December 

3, 2020. The difference between the fair value (stock market price) on the transaction date and the 

nominal	value	of	the	shares	issued	(totaling	kEUR 4,700)	was	transferred	to	the	capital	reserve.

By making partial use of the Approved Capital 2020/I, as approved by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Gen-

eral Meeting on November 10, 2020, and entered in the commercial register on December 8, 2020, a 

share	capital	increase	of	EUR 900,000.00	against	cash	capital	contributions	was	initiated	in	December	

2020.	This	share	capital	increase	was	filed	with	the	Frankfurt	am	Main	District	Court	on	December	

23, 2020, and entered in the commercial register on January 6, 2021. The gross proceeds from the 

capital	increase	already	received	in	December	2020	amounted	to	approximately	kEUR 52,470.	As	of	

December 31, 2020, the amount is reported under equity, under the item “Contributions rendered to 

implement the approved capital increase”.

As	of	the	balance	sheet	date,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	amounted	to	kEUR 73,862	(previous	year:	

kEUR 3,248).

The	cash	flow	from	operating	activities	(kEUR 183,484;	previous	year:	kEUR -6,006)	is	attributable	to	the	

change	in	the	business	model.	The	cash	flow	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	is	characterized	on	the	one	hand	

by prepayments received from the companies acquired in 2021 for hardware deliveries as well as pay-

ments received for services rendered up to the balance sheet date. On the other hand, prepayments 

were made to suppliers for hardware deliveries, disbursements for various purchased advance services, 

and	the	payment	of	a	deposit	to	an	electricity	supplier	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.	

The	cash	flow	from	investing	activities	(kEUR -211,577;	previous	year:	kEUR -1,112)	mainly	comprises	the	

investments	made	in	the	reporting	period	in	intangible	assets	(kEUR -2,304;	previous	year:	kEUR 0),	

property,	plant	and	equipment	(kEUR -216,139;	previous	year:	kEUR -1,108),	investments	in	other	com-

panies	(kEUR -1,447;	previous	year:	kEUR -4)	and	the	cash	and	cash	equivalents	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	
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and	of	the	Kelvin	Emtech	Group	at	the	respective	initial	consolidation	dates	(in	total	kEUR 8,297;	pre-

vious	year:	kEUR 0).	In	addition	to	prepayments	made	for	hardware,	capital	expenditure	on	property,	

plant and equipment primarily relates to the data centers in Texas and the Netherlands.

The	positive	cash	flow	from	financing	activities	(kEUR 99,058;	prior	year	kEUR 7,367)	in	the	2020	

fiscal	year	derived	primarily	from	cash	capital	increases	(kEUR 104,172)	as	well	as	proceeds	from	the	

subscription	to	the	convertible	bond	(kEUR 9,550)	and	from	taking	out	a	supplier	loan	(kEUR 11,418).	

These items are offset by outgoing payments relating to the redemption of leasing and loan liabilities 

(totaling	kEUR -13,776),	and	a	cash	settlement	in	connection	with	the	servicing	of	the	convertible	bond	

(kEUR -4,413).

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	(kEUR 73,861;	previous	year:	kEUR 3,247)	consist	of	bank	balances	less	liabil-

ities to banks due at any time.

1 . 2 . 6 .  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

Northern	Data	reports	consolidated	revenue	of	around	EUR 16.4 million	and	EBITDA	of	EUR 12.3 mil-

lion. 

Revenue	in	the	fiscal	year	2020	in	an	amount	of	kEUR 16,377	mainly	derives	from	hosting	services	pro-

vided by Whinstone US, Inc. The advance services purchased for this purpose are reported under cost 

of	materials	(kEUR 10,285).	The	parent	company’s	revenue	of	kEUR 10,132	reported	in	the	previous	year	

was generated from the sale of cryptocurrencies and the development of software for the safekeeping 

of	cryptocurrencies,	including	before	the	modification	of	the	business	model.	A	cost	of	materials	of	

kEUR 12,148	was	incurred	in	this	connection	in	the	previous	year.	This	included,	in	particular,	min-

ing-specific	costs	as	well	as	the	costs	of	associated	trading	transactions.	Following	the	change	in	the	

business model, these costs are reported as part of Northern Data AG under other expenses in the 

year under review. 

Other	income	in	the	fiscal	year	under	review	mainly	derives	from	currency	translation	(kEUR 1,991;	

previous	year:	kEUR 1).

The	increase	in	personnel	expenses	of	kEUR 4,619	to	kEUR 5,547	(previous	year::	kEUR 928)	primarily	

reflects	the	addition	of	new	companies	and	the	Group’s	growth.	Other	expenses	(kEUR 15,291;	previous	

year:	kEUR 1,693)	mainly	include	legal	and	consulting	costs	(kEUR 5,647;	previous	year:	kEUR 851),	as	

well	as	expenses	from	currency	translation	(kEUR 5,068;	previous	year:	kEUR 6).	Moreover,	the	year-on-

year	increase	in	other	expenses	especially	reflects	the	aforementioned	modification	in	the	disclosure	

of	mining-specific	costs.

Depreciation,	amortization	and	impairment	losses	in	the	fiscal	year	under	review	(kEUR 18,131;	previous	

year:	kEUR 3,894)	include	amortization	of	intangible	assets	recognized	as	part	of	the	acquisition	of	

Whinstone	US,	Inc.	(kEUR 8,585)	as	well	as	impairment	losses	totaling	kEUR 2,518.

The	financial	expenses	of	kEUR 53,252	include,	in	particular,	the	expense	from	the	measurement	of	

the	convertible	bonds	(kEUR 32,814)	as	well	as	the	fair	value	measurement	of	an	embedded	derivative	

arising	from	electricity	contracts	(kEUR 18,055)	and	from	other	financial	liabilities,	as	well	as	interest	

expenses recognized in connection with the leasing contracts.

In	the	income	tax	expenses,	the	effective	tax	expenses	of	kEUR 7,025	are	offset	by	total	income	deriv-

ing	from	deferred	taxes	of	kEUR 6,478.	The	income	from	deferred	taxes	mainly	arises	from	the	pro	rata	

amortization of deferred tax liabilities in connection with the carrying forward of the disclosed hidden 

reserves	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	and	the	Kelvin	Emtech	Group,	as	well	as	from	the	first-time	recognition	

of deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards.

Overall,	a	negative	EBITDA	of	kEUR -12,345	and	a	negative	consolidated	net	result	of	kEUR -84,258	is	

reported	for	the	fiscal	year.**** 

****  For the calculation, please refer to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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1 . 2 . 7 .  F I N A N C I A L  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N D I C A T O R S

Key	figures	such	as	revenue	and	EBITDA	contribute	to	the	management	of	the	Group	and	serve	as	the	

basis for strategic decisions. 

EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization)***** serve as a key business indi-

cator	for	measuring	the	profitability	of	Northern	Data.	In	the	2020	fiscal	year,	profitability	was	below	

the	Group’s	expectations.	The	Group	failed	to	achieve	the	revenue	forecast	for	the	2020	fiscal	year	by	

EUR -103.6 million	(-86.3 percent).	The	planned	EBITDA	of	EUR 45 million	was	not	achieved	in	2020.	

EBITDA	amounted	to	EUR -12.3 million.

As set out in detail in the section concerning the business model, contracts were signed with Decen-

tric	and	the	Bitfield	Group	in	December	2020.	These	contracts	included,	in	particular,	hardware	supply	

contracts as well as service contracts for the operation of the mining hardware supplied. The hard-

ware, deliveries of which commenced in 2020, should be fully delivered and installed during the 2021 

fiscal	year.	In	particular,	in	the	absence	of	a	transfer	of	economic	control	as	of	December	31,	2020,	no	

revenue was recognized in relation to these companies in 2020.

1.3. Opportunity, risk and forecast report

1 . 3 . 1 .  O P P O R T U N I T I E S  R E P O R T

It is not possible for us to quantify opportunities and the probability relating to their realization. We 

have listed the opportunities in descending order of importance for the Group.

1 . 3 . 2 .  O P P O R T U N I T I E S  R E L A T I N G  T O  N E W  T R E N D S  A N D 

 S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y

Overall,	major	opportunities	can	be	identified	thanks	to	significant	market	growth	for	computing	

power.	In	particular,	trends	such	as	artificial	intelligence,	the	Internet	of	Things,	blockchain	technolo-

gies and cryptocurrencies are expected to report a leap in growth in the near future. At the same time, 

Northern Data is already focusing on issues such as sustainability and the use of renewable energy to 

operate its data centers. Provided Northern Data succeeds in running data centers on energy from 

renewable sources, the harnessing of renewable energies offers an opportunity for more growth in 

a market that is placing increasing emphasis on climate neutrality and decarbonization, and where 

CO2-producing technologies are facing increasing sanctions. As a specialist data center provider, 

Northern Data offers innovative and sustainable solutions, and aims to meet ever growing ESG-com-

pliant demand. At the same time, it is possible that the high-tech megatrends that Northern Data 

serves with its computing power will become even more dynamic, and that this growth will lead to 

higher demand for computing power produced in a climate-neutral manner. All of this can lead to 

greater demand coupled with a low level of market supply. For Northern Data, this can signify not only 

*****	 	The	EBITDA	performance	indicator	is	not	defined	under	IFRS.	Northern	Data	defines	

EBIDTA	as	the	Group’s	profit	before	income	taxes,	finance	income	and	finance	costs,	as	well	depreci-

ation, amortization and impairment losses. For the calculation of EBITDA, please refer to the consoli-

dated statement of comprehensive income.

more	customer	orders	on	more	attractive	terms,	but	also	a	higher	level	of	profit	sharing	agreements.

1 . 3 . 3 .  O P P O R T U N I T I E S  F R O M  T H E  A C Q U I S I T I O N  O F  C O M P A N I E S 

A N D  T H E  D E V E L O P M E N T  O F  A  N E W  B U S I N E S S  A R E A  I N  2 0 2 1

With	the	acquisition	after	the	reporting	date	of	Decentric	as	well	as	the	Bitfield	Group,	Northern	Data	

aims to enter into the generation and provision of computing power for crypto mining and GPU-

based HPC services outside the crypto market. The acquisition of these companies provides Northern 

Data	with	a	short	time-to-market	for	rapid	profit	realization.	A	particular	focus	is	on	100 %	revenues	

from	the	sale	of	computing	power.	To	this	extent,	the	profit-share	remuneration	model	does	not	apply	

here.

1 . 3 . 4 .  O P P O R T U N I T I E S  T H R O U G H  D I V E R S I F I C A T I O N  O F  D A T A 

C E N T E R  L O C A T I O N S

The strategic transition from a mega-site approach to a multi-site approach can enable Northern Data 

to develop and build data centers in different countries in collaboration with local suppliers and staff. 

This reduces ties to one location and its corresponding regulations.

1 . 3 . 5 .  O P P O R T U N I T I E S  D U E  T O  D A T A - S E N S I T I V E  C U S T O M E R S

Northern Data Group is a provider of HPC applications that is not subject to the US Cloud Act. This US 

act obligates US Internet companies and IT service providers to guarantee US authorities access to 

stored data, even if the storage is not realized in the USA. For this reason, due to the large capacity that 

Northern Data can offer at any one time, it is possible that companies will decide to move computing 

capacity from a US provider to Northern Data. The same applies to cryptominers whose businesses 

are subject to state sanctions, as is currently the case in China. This also generates additional demand 

for computing capacity outside of China, thereby creating a further opportunity for Northern Data. 

China is currently still home to most of the bitcoin mining industry, so a ban on the crypto industry 

by	the	Chinese	government	could	generate	significant	potential	for	Northern	Data.	Similarly,	political	

and legal certainty at Northern Data’s locations enhances the attractiveness of drawing on the Group’s 

data centers.

1 . 3 . 6 .  O P P O R T U N I T I E S  T H R O U G H  A D D I T I O N A L  S E R V I C E S  A N D 

V A R I A B L E  R E M U N E R A T I O N  C O M P O N E N T S

At present, Northern Data is predominantly engaged in the generation and provision of computing 

power for crypto mining. In the context of data center expansion, more services, such as the con-

struction of standardized (mobile) data centers and infrastructure solutions, could also be sold to 

customers, which could ultimately generate further revenues. Beginning in the second quarter of 

2021, 49 installation units (known as PODs) of these mobile data centers were already produced for 

Northern Data customers, essentially for their own purposes. Additional customer orders on more 

attractive terms could also increase the project volume for the future. Last but not least, rising per-

formance-based compensation components from customer projects, which Northern Data earns 

proportionately from customer mining activities, represent a further opportunity for the Group as 
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these are booked in the year in which the services are rendered. The magnitude of the effects is based 

on	underlying	mining	profitability.	Revenue	recognition	of	the	performance-based	components	is	

directly related to development of the data center sites, commissioning the servers and the contrac-

tual	arrangement	of	the	profit-sharing	component.

1 . 3 . 7 .  D I G I T I Z A T I O N  P U S H  D U E  T O  T H E  C O V I D - 1 9  P A N D E M I C

The COVID-19 pandemic has given an additional boost to digitization. Employees are increasingly 

working	from	home	offices,	and	the	organization	of	work	has	shifted	towards	digital	conferencing	

tools.	Some	84 percent	of	companies	are	convinced	that	digitization	has	become	more	important	

for	their	own	company	or	for	the	German	economy	as	a	whole	(86 percent)	due	to	the	pandemic,	

according to a survey conducted by industry association Bitkom. Online commerce has also expe-

rienced a strong growth surge as a consequence of the pandemic. Similarly, areas such as schools, 

universities and public administration have become more digitized. The trend is very likely to continue 

after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, thereby becoming established long-term. This is leading 

to potentially higher demand for computing power, which can be regarded as a further opportunity 

for Northern Data.

1 . 3 . 8 .  R I S K  R E P O R T  I N C L U D I N G  R I S K  R E P O R T I N G  I N  R E L A T I O N 

T O  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S

The Group’s business aim is to operate an HPC infrastructure worldwide. For this reason, potential risks 

in the HPC and data center sector may also have an impact on the development and growth of North-

ern Data. In terms of Northern Data’s business model, the Management Board primarily perceives the 

risks presented in this section. 

The Group was in the market development and establishment phase in 2020, and was consequently 

reliant on non-operating sources of funding. Furthermore, the customer base is still in the process of 

being	established.	For	this	reason,	a	high percentage	of	revenue	is	still	generated	with	a	small	number	

of customers and Northern Data has not yet generated a positive net result.

A delay in the development of data center locations, a later commissioning of servers and, as a conse-

quence,	postponed	variable	profit	sharing,	may	lead	to	the	generation	of	significantly	lower	revenue	

and earnings contributions. Furthermore, expansion plans for existing contracts or contracts under 

negotiation	may	be	delayed,	posing	a	risk	to	the	achievement	of	financial	targets.

The Group pursues a strategy of systematically addressing potential risks and of promoting risk-ori-

ented thinking and action. Northern Data’s aim is to have a controlled approach to risk that helps to 

consistently leverage existing opportunities and enhance business performance. We identify, classify 

and	evaluate	risks	in	order	to	avoid	a	negative	impact	on	the	company’s	financial	position	and	perfor-

mance.

It is not possible for us to quantify risks and their probability of materialization. We have listed risks in 

descending order of importance for the Group.

1 . 3 . 9 .  R I S K S  F R O M  T H E  P R O V I S I O N  O F  C O M P U T I N G  P O W E R  F O R   

 C R Y P T O  M I N I N G  A S  A  B U S I N E S S  A C T I V I T Y

Due to the provision of computing power for crypto mining from 2021 onward, the Group is subject 

to	the	high	volatility	of	the	cryptocurrencies	generated,	as	well	as	mining	profitability.	Cryptocurrency	

prices are erratic and are determined by supply and demand.

In order to protect itself from the high volatility of cryptocurrency prices, Northern Data aims to hold a 

portion	of	its	cryptocurrency	holdings	as	a	long-term	investment,	entailing	the	risk	of	value	fluctua-

tions.

It	should	be	noted	that	the	cryptocurrency	market	is	still	highly	speculative.	This	is	reflected	in	the	

high	daily	trading	volume	in	relation	to	capitalization.	Bitcoin’s	average	volatility	is	still	1-5 percent	per	

day.******	For	other	types	of	cryptocurrencies	(altcoins),	average	daily	volatility	can	be	10-25 percent	or	

more. 

Any	news	about	cryptocurrencies	in	popular	news	sources	is	almost	immediately	reflected	in	the	

price of one cryptocurrency or another. For example, when news broke of the legalization of bitcoin 

exchanges	in	Japan,	the	price	immediately	jumped	by	USD 1,000.******* Conversely, the market immedi-

ately reacted with a massive correction when the Chinese government announced in early 2018 that it 

would introduce full control over cryptocurrencies. Consequently, market risk relating to cryptocurren-

cies is affected by information risk.

1 . 3 . 1 0 .  R I S K S  F R O M  T H E  C H A N G E  O F  T H E  E T H E R E U M  ( E T H )  N E T 

W O R K  F R O M  T H E  P O W * * * * * * * *  T O  T H E  P O S * * * * * * * *  A L G O R I T H M

The majority of GPU servers located at Northern Data are set to the proof-of-work consensus algo-

rithm for Ethereum. With the transition to Ethereum 2.0, the change of the consensus algorithm from 

Proof-of-Work (PoW) to Proof-of-Stake (PoS) is expected to occur in 2022.

After the algorithms change, the GPU servers might not be needed for Ethereum mining, which in 

turn	risks	not	having	sufficient	customer	contracts	for	the	corresponding	alternative	HPC	applications.	

Once this occurs, the GPU servers for HPC business will be utilized to mine other altcoins.

1 . 3 . 1 1 .  L I Q U I D I T Y  R I S K

The construction phases for the data centers entails detailed planning schedules and extensive pur-

chases.	Liquidity	risk	refers	to	the	risk	that	Northern	Data	is	unable	to	meet	its	financial	obligations.

In	the	event	that	the	company	were	to	fail	to	generate	sufficient	earnings	internally,	it	would	be	

dependent	on	obtaining	additional	equity	financing	and/or	external	financing	to	cover	its	financial	

requirements.	If	it	did	not	succeed	in	covering	such	further	financial	requirements	on	financially	viable	

terms,	this	could	have	considerably	negative	consequences	for	the	company’s	financial	position	and	

performance. As part of the listing of the shares on the Open Market of the Munich Stock Exchange, 

the shares are also exposed to valuation by the capital market. To this extent, in relation to its business 

model	Northern	Data	may	be	limited	in	terms	of	the	financing	that	can	be	raised	via	the	capital	mar-

ket. 

Northern Data’s objective in managing liquidity is to ensure that, as far as possible, cash is available in 

sufficient	volume	to	meet	payment	obligations	under	both	normal	and	stress	conditions.	The	aim	in	

this context is to prevent insolvency or lasting damage to the company’s image.

Accordingly, Northern Data limits liquidity risk by implementing liquidity management. The availabil-

ity	and	costs	of	financing	options	are	continuously	monitored.	A	key	objective	here	is	to	ensure	a	high	

degree	of	flexibility	for	Northern	Data	and	to	minimize	potential	repayment	risks.	

In the future acquisition of hardware, the Group is to receive partial deliveries, which are to be resold 

******  Crypto Volatility : Volatility

*******  Japan Recognises Bitcoin as Currency Starting April 2017 (newsbtc.com)

********	 	PoW	(Proof	of	Work)	https://currency.com/proof-of-work-definition

********	 	PoS	(Proof	of	Stake)	https://currency.com/proof-of-stake-definition

http://www.cryptovolatility.net/
http://www.cryptovolatility.net/
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directly	to	future	customers.	The	refinancing	is	to	be	realized	to	a	large	extent	through	prepayments	

from	customers.	In	most	cases,	the	procurement	transactions	will	be	pre-financed	by	customers.	This	

ensures liquidity for the acquisition of hardware. 

In the subsequent commissioning of the systems and day-to-day business, electricity costs, in particu-

lar,	are	a	key	cost	and	risk	factor,	as	these	costs	represent	corresponding	cash	outflows	in	the	operation	

of the hardware. In order to ensure long-term liquidity in this context, the Group enters into long-term 

business relationships with its contractual partners. 

The	business	model	is	geared	to	generating	cash	inflows	on	an	ongoing	basis,	which	continuously	

grow	or	accumulate,	or	can	be	utilized	as	a	basis	for	growth	investments.	A	lack	of	such	inflows	would	

pose a potential risk to sustaining growth investments in the medium term. Besides this, the cash out-

flows	associated	with	operating	expenses	are	offset	by	cash	inflows	from	prepayments	or	near-period	

billing.

1 . 3 . 1 2 .  M A R K E T  R I S K  ( O V E R A R C H I N G )

Market	risk	is	a	financial	risk	arising	from	adverse	changes	in	market	value,	or	other	market	data	

within a market.

Market	price	fluctuations	can	lead	to	significant	earnings	risks	and	cash	flow	volatility	risks	for	North-

ern Data. In particular, changes in exchange rates, cost prices and interest rates impact on the Group’s 

operating	business	as	well	as	its	investing	and	financing	activities.	In	order	to	optimize	the	allocation	

of	financial	resources	across	the	Group’s	entities	and	achieve	its	objectives,	Northern	Data	identifies,	

analyzes and manages the related market price risks. Northern Data seeks to manage and monitor 

these	risks	primarily	as	part	of	its	ongoing	business	and	financing	activities.

1 . 3 . 1 3 .  E L E C T R I C I T Y  P R I C E  A N D  A V A I L A B I L I T Y  R I S K S

After the successful commissioning of hardware, the electricity price represents a further relevant 

risk factor. Secure power supplies at favorable costs are essential to Northern Data’s business. On the 

one hand, therefore, the trend in prices on global energy markets and their possible volatility is of 

great	importance	to	the	company.	In	order	to	avoid	the	risk	of	electricity	price	fluctuations,	long-term	

contracts	are	concluded	with	electricity	suppliers	and	grid	operators.	In	addition,	the	risk	of	fluctuating	

electricity prices is minimized by means of further contractual mechanisms. A hypothetical change 

in	electricity	costs	of	+/-	5 %	as	of	the	balance	sheet	date	would	lead	to	a	theoretical	change	in	the	

Group’s	2021	forecast	EBITDA	of	kEUR 1,253.

On the other, any circumstance that could lead to an interruption in the power supply of the data 

centers has a direct bearing on computing performance. This could be the case if the energy suppliers 

experience technical failures that have a negative effect on power generation and transmission. In this 

context, administrative decisions, such as more stringent environmental requirements in connection 

with energy supply, could also have a negative impact. Direct damage to the data centers, e.g. due to 

severe weather conditions, could also cause outages. However, availability risk is to be minimized by 

selecting	locations	with	good,	predefined	conditions	(in	terms	of	electricity	and	grid	capacities).

1 . 3 . 1 4 .  R I S K S  F R O M  S U P P LY  B O T T L E N E C K S

The global shortage of silicon chips and other coronavirus-related production bottlenecks are causing 

delays in the manufacture of servers. Shortages in international transport capacity may lead to delayed 

deliveries. In turn, this may lead to an inability to generate computing power and convert it into cryp-

tocurrency in planned volumes, which in turn may negatively impact revenue recognition from the 

sale of cryptocurrency assets and computing power.

1 . 3 . 1 5 .  I N T E R E S T  R A T E  R I S K

Interest	rate	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	of	future	cash	flows	from	a	financial	instrument	will	fluc-

tuate because of changes in market interest rates. The risk always arises when the interest terms for 

financial	assets	and	liabilities	differ.

Where	Northern	Data	has	entered	into	contracts	with	interest	rate	agreements,	fixed	rather	than	

floating	interest	rates	have	been	agreed.	In	this	way,	Northern	Data	counters	the	risk	that,	in	a	scenario	

of	rising	interest	rates,	expenses	for	refinancing	funds	will	become	more	expensive	and	thereby	be	

reflected	in	the	income	statement	as	higher	interest	expenses.	Given	both	favorable	business	perfor-

mance by Northern Data and changes in market conditions and expectations, Northern Data might 

be	able	to	refinance	in	the	market	or	invest	funds	at	more	favorable	rates	than	in	prior	periods.	This	

leads	to	asset	value	risk	for	Northern	Data.	The	Group	recognizes	fixed	rate	debt	at	fair	value	through	

profit	or	loss.

Northern	Data’s	interest	rate	risk	derives	primarily	from	financing	in	US	dollars	and	euros.	Insofar	as	

country-specific	regulations	do	not	conflict	with	this,	funds	are	raised	and	invested	within	the	Group.

C U R R E N C Y  R I S K S

Currency risk is the risk associated with the uncertainty relating to future exchange rate movements, 

which affects amounts to be paid and received.

Some Northern Data Group companies are located outside the Eurozone. The reporting currency of 

Northern	Data	is	the	euro,	which	requires	companies	to	present	their	financial	statements	in	euros	

for	the	purpose	of	preparing	consolidated	financial	statements.	In	order	to	take	account	of	the	risks	

deriving from currency translation in risk management, it is generally assumed that investments in 

foreign companies are made on a long-term basis and that their results are continuously reinvested. 

The	effects	of	exchange	rate	fluctuations	on	the	translation	of	net	asset	items	into	euros	are	recog-

nized in equity.

Northern Data is exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign exchange rates when entering 
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into	transactions	with	international	counterparties	that	generate	future	cash	flows	denominated	in	

foreign currencies or in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency. Northern Data Group 

companies	are	particularly	exposed	to	exchange	rate	fluctuations	between	the	US	dollar	and	the	euro	

in the course of their operating activities. Northern Data manages foreign currency risk by sourcing 

advance services and intermediate inputs in the relevant foreign currencies and providing services in 

local markets.

In order to mitigate currency risk, Northern Data’s contracts are structured such that the amounts 

due from Northern Data are denominated in the same currency as the Group’s payment obligations. 

Within	the	Group,	the	settlement	of	transactions,	including	intra-group	financing	and	investments,	is	

predominantly	carried	out	in	euros	and	US	dollars	in	order	to	limit	the	risk	of	currency	fluctuations.

A	hypothetical	change	in	the	US	dollar	exchange	rate	of	+/-	5 %	as	of	the	balance	sheet	date	would	

result	in	a	theoretical	change	in	the	Group’s	2021	forecast	EBITDA	of	kEUR 5,837,	with	the	exchange	

rate	fluctuation	having	a	hypothetical	effect	on	revenue	of	kEUR 10,196.	

C O U N T E R P A R T Y  R I S K

Counterparty risk is the risk of unexpected loss if the counterparty fails to meet its obligations in full 

and	on	time,	or	if	collateral	loses	value.	Northern	Data	provides	direct	and	indirect	financing	to	its	

suppliers, primarily in the form of prepayments. The associated counterparty risks are reduced by the 

creditworthiness of the debtor, the value of collateral, and the success of the respective projects in 

which Northern Data has invested. 

Counterparty risks arise mainly from the procurement transactions described below. The Northern 

Data Group sources its hardware from suppliers in China and Taiwan, where prepayments are also 

made in proportion to the total order. This gives rise to a possible counterparty risk, as it is possible that 

the prepayments made may be lost without adequate consideration. Northern Data aims to work with 

those manufacturers that deliver high quality. The Group also pays attention to the long-term stability 

of	its	counterparties,	which	has	a	beneficial	effect	on	the	assessability	of	counterparty	risks.	Accord-

ingly, in the pre-selection of manufacturers, attention has been paid not only to quality but also to 

reliability. Further risks include a possible loss of access to important third-party suppliers and vendors 

as well as contingent liabilities in connection with acquisitions. The construction phase of the data 

centers, in particular, involves more extensive purchases that harbor a potential risk of failure. Custom-

ers are directly involved in the purchasing process with the manufacturers on a contractual basis.

R I S K S  F R O M  T E C H N I C A L  P R O G R E S S ,  L O S S  O F  K N O W - H O W

Moreover, the company might fail to anticipate market developments, technology trends and new 

scientific	findings	in	a	timely	manner.	This	could	lead	to	a	negative	trend	in	terms	of	competitive	

position. New technological developments on the part of competitors could lead to Northern Data’s 

technological lead being reduced or even lost. Likewise, the emergence of new strong competitors or 

new	business	models	that	were	not	previously	identified	or	not	identified	in	time	remains	a	possibility.	

In addition, Northern Data depends on customers leaving their hardware with the Group. As soon as 

the customers’ applications are no longer worthwhile from their point of view, a risk exists of loss of 

revenues, unless minimum purchase obligations exist. 

Northern Data’s business activities are based on know-how that has been developed by a few key 

experts within the company. The loss of such key individuals may lead to considerable negative effects. 

In the event that such employees leave the company, the organization loses such individuals, or is 

not	able	to	hire	suitable	experts	and	managers	on	fixed	terms,	this	may	jeopardize	the	company’s	

business activities.

S T R A T E G I C  R I S K S  ( P O L I T I C A L  R I S K S  A N D  L E G A L   U N C E R T A I N T I E S )

Due to its overseas activities the company is also exposed to potential political risks and legal uncer-

tainties in the respective countries. Northern Data counters credit risks due to a lack of political secu-

rity	and	acceptance	of	business	locations	through	diversified	data	center	locations	in	politically	stable	

regions and countries.

The impact of the coronavirus crisis is global and poses a potential risk primarily because the potential 

effects	of	the	crisis	on	Northern	Data’s	business	are	difficult	to	forecast	due	to	a	lack	of	precedent.	To	

a greater or lesser extent, this affects customers, business partners, suppliers as well as the company’s 

own management and employees. It goes without saying that this risk for the workforce is minimized 

in personal dealings through the appropriate safety precautions as well as preventative measures. In 

particular, any restrictions and delays in the international movement of goods and people due to the 

crisis may pose a risk to Northern Data’s highly international business. 

A	further	risk	is	posed	by	a	renewed	intensification	of	the	pandemic	situation	with	a	possible	renewed	

shutdown. Such a scenario could bring global supply chains to a standstill and severely depress the 

overall	global	economy,	leading	to	a	global	recession.	Moreover,	given	that	substantial	fiscal	policy	

measures were implemented last year to strengthen the economy, governments’ scope for maneuver 

in terms of monetary policy is limited. For this reason, the economic consequences of a renewed lock-

down could be far more serious due to an absence of further government measures. 

Moreover, a further layer of uncertainty arises from the actions of state governments in relation to 

cryptocurrencies.	For	example,	the	actions	of	the	Chinese	government	have	recently	had	a	significant	

impact on the bitcoin price. Furthermore, uncertainties exist concerning the extent to which central 

banks will regulate digital currencies or even plan their own currencies. This would negatively affect 

the business model of some of Northern Data’s customers.

C Y B E R  A N D  I N F O R M A T I O N  S E C U R I T Y  R I S K S

An increase in cybercrime is observable worldwide, while the digitization of many areas of life is pro-

gressing at the same pace. Functional security of the company’s internal networks forms an extremely 

important basis for Northern Data’s business. For this reason, Northern Data goes to great lengths to 
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protect its own information technology and the security of the software it runs in its data centers. The 

Group is aware of the risks associated with the increasing professionalization of computer crime. For 

this reason, systems are permanently checked. These systems are designed to avert potential attacks 

and protect sensitive data.

1.4. Forecasts and future trends

M A C R O E C O N O M I C  T R E N D S

For Germany, the IFO Institute expects overall sentiment to brighten in 2021, with GDP forecast 

to	recover	from	-4.6 percent	in	2020	to	+2.5 percent	in	2021,	and	to	as	much	as	5.1 percent	in	2022.	

This forecast assumes that infection rates will remain under control to such an extent that renewed 

government restrictions are not necessary, and assuming that no voluntary restraint on consumption 

occurs. However,	value	added	in	the	manufacturing	sector	is	shrinking	as	a	consequence	of	supply	

bottlenecks affecting key intermediate products for industry. 

According to the IFO, the currently prevailing price momentum is a temporary phenomenon. Conse-

quently,	the	inflation	rate	is	expected	to	rise	further	to	around	4.5 percent	by	the	end	of	the	year.	Only	

in	the	coming	year	will	it	gradually	fall	again	and	approach	the	2 percent	level.	

The	IMF	is	even	more	confident	and	forecasts	growth	of	3.6 percent	for	Germany	this	year.	The	IMF	

also forecasts a recovery from the coronavirus crisis for the global economy: this applies especially 

to rich industrialized nations, whereas the situation is likely to deteriorate for emerging economies, 

among	others.	Accordingly,	growth	in	industrialized	countries	is	expected	to	amount	to	5.6 percent.	

In contrast, the forecast for developing and emerging market economies for 2021 was reduced to 

6.3 percent.

For	the	following	year	in	2022,	the	IMF	sees	the	global	economy	expanding	by	4.9 percent.	For	exam-

ple,	the	IMF	raised	its	growth	forecast	for	the	USA	alone,	the	world’s	largest	economy,	to	4.9 percent	for	

the coming year. Germany’s economy is also anticipated to report stronger growth in 2022: following a 

forecast	of	3.4 percent	in	April	2021,	the	IMF	now	expects	growth	of	4.1 percent.	

R E V E N U E  T R E N D S

In 2021, the Group plans to build a GPU-based distributed computing cluster for HPC applications at 

its sites in Norway, Sweden, the Netherlands, Canada and Germany. Tasks are being split across multi-

ple	computer	systems	in	order	to	enhance	efficiency	and	performance.	This	is	creating	the	necessary	

conditions	for	applications	in	the	areas	of	artificial	intelligence,	deep	learning,	rendering	and	the	

Internet of Things (“IoT”). 

Due to the acquisition of Decentric in August 2021, the majority of the acquired servers are in opera-

tional condition. The company expects to complete the installation of the remaining GPU servers no 

later	than	by	the	end	of	the	2021	fiscal	year.	Since	August	2021,	revenue	has	been	generated	from	the	

sale of computing services. 

The	acquisition	of	a	substantial	majority	interest	in	Bitfield	in	2021	enables	Northern	Data	to	secure	

access	to	the	bitcoin	market.	Northern	Data	began	generating	its	first	revenue	from	the	sale	of	com-

puting power in September 2021.

Furthermore, the Group gained two additional hardware customers in the US market in 2021. North-

ern Data AG supplies the customers with hardware and provides the hosting service for the respective 

customer.	The	variable,	profit-related	remuneration	model	will	be	retained	for	these	customers.	

On	the	basis	of	developments	to	date	in	the	2021	fiscal	year,	taking	into	consideration	the	opportuni-

ties	and	risks	as	presented,	and	depending	on	how	profitability	in	the	mining	area	unfolds,	the	Man-

agement	Board	anticipates	Group	revenue	in	the	following	range	in	the	2021	fiscal	year:

Lower limit Upper limit

Mining	profitability	of	Ethereum	(USD) 0.075 0.095

Mining	profitability	of	bitcoin	(USD) 0.20 0.40

Revenue (EUR) 180 million 220 million

E A R N I N G S  T R E N D S

This operating EBITDA forecast includes the current business. Neither special effects from the dives-

titure	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	nor	effects	from	the	current	fiscal	year	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	up	to	the	

divestiture date, nor other acquisition-related extraordinary items are included here. 

The	acquisition	of	Decentric	and	the	Bitfield	Group	in	the	2021	fiscal	year	enables	Northern	Data	to	

secure the immediate recognition of revenue from the provision of computing power for crypto min-

ing from the respective acquisition dates.

The Group is currently pressing ahead with the expansion of its existing data centers and delivery of 

the outstanding servers. The EBITDA forecast was prepared on the assumption of a rapid expansion 

of the data centers. If the data centers are not built out in a timely manner, delays may put Northern 

Data at risk of not being able to meet its forecast. We refer to the corresponding comments in the risk 

report.

The	positive	trend	in	EBITDA	particularly	reflects	high	revenue	from	the	sale	of	computing	services	for	

crypto mining. 

In	the	2021	fiscal	year,	the	Management	Board	anticipates	Group	EBITDA	in	the	following	range:
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Lower limit Upper limit

Mining	profitability	of	Ethereum	(USD) 0.075 0.095

Mining	profitability	of	bitcoin	(USD) 0.20 0.40

EBITDA (EUR) 100 million 125 million

Mining	profitability	is	directly	dependent	on	the	respective	cryptocurrency	price	as	well	as	the	dimen-

sions	of	the	relevant	network.	We	do	not	know	how	the	price	and	profitability	of	either	Ethereum	or	

bitcoin will actually perform in 2021.

Mining	profitability	serves	as	a	core	measure	to	assess	the	profitability	of	computing	power.	For	our	

calculations,	we	took	a	conservative	approach	and	assumed	mining	profitability	for	Ethereum	and	

bitcoin within the above ranges.

BTC	mining	profitability	(in	USD)********

ETH	mining	profitability	(in	USD)********

O V E R A L L  S T A T E M E N T  O N  T H E  G R O U P ’ S  A N T I C I P A T E D 

 D E V E L O P M E N T

In	the	2021	fiscal	year,	the	Management	Board	anticipates	significant	revenue	growth	as	well	as	a	

considerable year-on-year improvement in Group EBITDA. The statements relating to future business 

trends	reflect	assumptions	based	on	the	current	market	situation.	If	the	current	market	situation	

changes,	such	changes	may	affect	the	figures	that	have	been	forecast.	Mining	profitability	for	bitcoin	

and Ethereum, hardware deliveries on schedule, and data center capacity build-out on schedule are 

important for the achievement of the forecast. In addition, effects may arise from the recognition of 

cryptocurrency positions and transactions, as well as from the divestiture of Whinstone and the acqui-

sition	of	Decentric	and	Bitfield.

********  Bitcoin, Litecoin, Namecoin, Dogecoin, Peercoin, Quarkcoin, Worldcoin, Feathercoin statistik 

(bitinfocharts.com)

********  Bitcoin, Litecoin, Namecoin, Dogecoin, Peercoin, Quarkcoin, Worldcoin, Feathercoin statistik 

(bitinfocharts.com)

https://bitinfocharts.com/de/
https://bitinfocharts.com/de/
https://bitinfocharts.com/de/
https://bitinfocharts.com/de/
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2. Annual Report 

2.1. Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

Note
2020

EUR 

2019

EUR 

Revenue 6.1 16.377.361 10.131.889

Changes in inventories -1 -62.914

Other income 6.2 2.400.612 29.261

Total operating revenue 18.777.972 10.098.236

Cost of materials 6.3 -10.284.949 -12.148.046

Personnel expenses 6.4 -5.546.733 -928.334

Other expenses 6.5 -15.291.080 -1.693.357

Operating result before interest, tax, depreciation  

and amortization – EBITDA
-12.344.790 -4.671.501

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 7.1; 7.2; 7.3 -18.131.080 -3.894.008

Operating result before interest and tax – EBIT -30.475.870 -8.565.509

Financial income 6.6 16.026 180.338

Financial expenses 6.7 -53.252.105 -1.024.331

Financial result -53.236.079 -843.992

Result before tax -83.711.949 -9.409.501

Income taxes 6.8 -546.539 131.174

Consolidated	net	profit/loss	for	the	year	 -84.258.488 -9.278.327

of which attributable to shareholders of Northern Data AG -84.258.488 -9.278.327

     

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation -6.335.922 -

Items	that	may	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	in	the	future -6.335.922 -

Other comprehensive income -6.335.922 -

Total comprehensive income -90.594.410 -9.278.327

of which attributable to shareholders of Northern Data -90.594.410 -9.278.327

     

Earnings per share 6.9    

Undiluted (basic) EUR  -7,38 -1,25

Diluted EUR  -5,7 -1,25

The	above	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income	must	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	notes	to	the	financial	statements	pre-

sented below.
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2.2. Consolidated balance sheet

ASSETS Note
31.12.2020

EUR 

31.12.2019

EUR 

01.01.2019

EUR 

Non-current assets 407.562.206 8.588.650 11.182.063

Goodwill 7.1 43.479.382 - -

Other intangible assets 7.1 94.683.996 7.850 13.903

Property, plant and equipment 7.2 234.201.092 5.017.085 4.837.429

Rights of use from lease agreements 7.3 12.933.483 3.371.456 6.330.731

Interests in other companies 8.3.1; 8.9 1.450.622 3.500 -

Other assets 7.5 20.813.631 - -

Deferred tax assets 6.8 - 188.759 -

Current assets 95.014.851 3.496.973 3.349.069

Inventories 7.4 11.874.570 57.571 120.485

Trade receivables 6.1.1; 8.2 2.292.659 50 -

Receivables due from companies in which 

an equity investment is held
8.3.1 267.268 - -

Rights of use from lease agreements 7.3 16.540 - -

Income tax receivables 6.8 - - 8.144

Other assets 7.5 6.701.546 191.658 221.166

Cash and cash equivalents 4.3.7; 8.2 73.862.268 3.247.694 2.999.274

Total assets 502.577.057 12.085.623 14.531.132

EQUITy AND LIABILITIES Note
31.12.2020

EUR 

31.12.2019

EUR 

01.01.2019

EUR 

Equity 176.524.943 -8.470.838 807.489

Subscribed share capital 7.6 14.639.684 7.441.500 7.441.500

Capital reserve 7.6 216.504.263 582.256 582.256

Contributions rendered to implement

the approved capital increase
7.6 52.470.000 - -

Translation differences 7.6 -6.335.922 - -

Net accumulated loss 7.6 -100.753.082 -16.494.594 -7.216.267

Non-current liabilities 49.861.665 16.107.125 7.969.419

Financial liabilities 7.8 17.108.596 15.587.667 4.561.804

Lease liabilities 7.3; 7.8 13.874.563 437.356 3.405.615

Contract liabilities 6.1.1 f. 2.481.592 - -

Provisions 7.7 5.200 24.517 2.000

Deferred tax liabilities 4.3.6; 6.8 14.354.390 57.585 -

Other liabilities 7.9 2.037.324 - -

Current liabilities 276.190.449 4.449.335 5.754.224

Financial liabilities 7.8 27.558.475 - -

Lease liabilities 7.3;7.8 895.910 2.968.258 2.905.801

Trade payables 7.8 20.246.385 979.941 2.601.149

Contract liabilities 6.1.1 f. 1.522.219 - -

Income tax liabilities 6.8 7.130.695 - -

Provisions 7.7 899.237 25.000 40.315

Other liabilities 7.9 217.937.528 476.136 206.959

Total equity and liabilities 502.577.057 12.085.623 14.531.132

The	above	consolidated	balance	sheet	must	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	notes	to	the	financial	statements	presented	below.
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2.3. Consolidated statement of changes in equity

EUR

Subscribed 

share  

capital

Capital 

reserve

Translation  

differences

Net  

accumulated  

loss

Total

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 7.441.500 582.256 - -7.216.267 807.489

Consolidated	net	profit/loss	 

for the year
- - - -9.278.327 -9.278.327

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 7.441.500 582.256 - -16.494.594 -8.470.838

EUR Note
Subscribed 

share capital

Capital 

reserve

Contributions 

rendered to   

implement the 

approved  

capital 

increase

Translation 

differences

Net  

accumulated 

loss

Total

Stand 01.01.2020 7.441.500 582.256 - -16.494.594 -8.470.838

Consolidated	net	profit/

loss for the year
- - - - -84.258.488 -84.258.488

Foreign currency 

translation
- - - -6.335.922 - -6.335.922

Other comprehensive 

income
- - - -6.335.922 - -6.335.922

Total comprehensive 

income
- - - -6.335.922 -84.258.488 -90.594.410

Issuance of ordinary 

shares
1.116.225 0.585.025 52.470.000 - - 104.171.250

Issuance of ordinary 

shares in connection 

with mergers

8.2; 8.2.1 3.804.084 120.787.437 - - - 124.591.521

Convertible bond 

servicing
8.2; 8.2.1

2.277.875
46.539.244 - - - 48.817.119

Deduction of direct 

transaction costs
7.6.2 - -2.694.103 - - - -2.694.103

Share-based

compensation
8.4.2; 8.4.38.4 - 704.404 - - - 704.404

Transactions	with

shareholders
7.198.184 215.922.007 52.470.000 - - 275.590.191

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 14.639.684 216.504.263 52.470.000 -6.335.922 -100.753.082 176.524.943

2.4. Consolidated statement of cash flows 

kEUR  Note 2020 2019

Net	profit	or	loss   -84,258 -9,278

Amortization, depreciation and impairment losses 7.2 18,131 3,894

Increase / decrease in provisions 7.7 856 7

Other non-cash income expenses 6.2; 6.5 704 0

Decrease / increase in inventories, trade receivables and other assets not allocable to 

investing	or	financing	activities
  -28,582 -88

Increase / decrease in trade payables and other liabilities not allocable to investing or 

financing	activities
  216,372 -1,384

Financial	expenses	/	financial	income 6.6; 6.7 53,236 843

Income tax expense  6.8 7,025 0

Cash	flow	from	operating	activities   183,484 -6,006

Cash	outflows	for	investments	in	intangible	assets 7.1 -2,304 0

Cash	outflows	for	investments	in	property,	plant	and	equipment	 7.2 -216,139 -1,108

Cash	outflows	for	investments	in	financial	assets 8.2 -1,447 -4

Cash	inflows	from	additions	to	the	consolidation	scope 5 8,297 0

Interest received 6.6 16 -

Cash	flow	from	investing	activities   -211,577 -1,112

Proceeds from equity contributions by shareholders 7.6.2 104,172 -

of the parent company (cash capital increases) 7.6.2 -2,694 -

Cash	outflows	in	connection	with	capital	measures 7.8 20,968 10,465

Cash	inflows	from	issuing	bonds	and	raising	(finance)	loans 7.8 -18,189 -

Cash	outflows	from	the	repayment	of	bonds	and	financial	loans	and	 

liabilities from leasing agreements
7.8 -3,020 -2,906

Cash	outflows	for	the	repayment	of	financial	liabilities	to	shareholders	 

of the parent company
6.5; 6.7 -2,179 -192

Interest paid   99,058 7,367

Cash	flow	from	financing	activities   70,965 248

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   -351 -

Currency-related change in cash and cash equivalents 3,247 2,999

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   73,861 3,247

Composition of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 73,862 3,247

Liabilities to banks due at any time -1 0

73,861 3,247
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Notes to the financial 
 statements

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

3. Information about the company 

and basis of the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements

3.1. Reporting company 

Northern Data AG (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) is a publicly listed stock corporation 

with its registered headquarters in Frankfurt, Germany. The business address is: An der Welle 3, 60322 

Frankfurt am Main, Germany. Northern Data AG is registered at the Municipal Court of Frankfurt am 

Main (Commercial Register Sheet No. 106 465). 

Northern Data AG, as the parent company, together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries, forms the 

Northern Data Group (hereinafter also referred to as “Northern Data” or the “Group”). Northern Data 

develops and operates global infrastructure solutions in the High Performance Computing (HPC) area. 

The focus here is on the expansion of both stationary and mobile data centers, the development of the 

HPC business segment, the provision of hosting services and the hardware required for this.

The shares of Northern Data AG are traded on the Open Market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and 

the Munich Stock Exchange (m:access).

Until 2019, Northern Data AG was primarily active in bitcoin mining, operating a stationary data center 

in Norway and developing high-tech mobile data centers. As part of the merger with Whinstone US, 

Inc. of Rockdale, Texas, and the realignment of the business model, bitcoin mining was discontinued 

at the end of 2019. With the completion of the acquisitions of Decentric Europe B.V. (hereinafter also 

referred	to	as	Decentric),	Amsterdam,	Netherlands,	and	Bitfield	N.V.,	The	Hague,	Netherlands	(formerly	

Bitfield	AG,	Hofheim	am	Taunus)	(hereinafter	also	referred	to	as	Bitfield)	in	August	and	October	2021,	

the company currently has a strong focus on providing computing power for crypto mining, including 

using its own hardware.

Due	to	the	first-time	consolidation	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.,	Rockdale,	USA,	and	of	the	companies	of	the	

Kelvin Emtech Group, Montreal (Quebec), Canada, as well as effects from a change in the business 

model,	comparability	of	figures	in	the	reporting	period	with	the	corresponding	figures	from	the	com-

parative period in the preceding year is limited.

3.2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements

Northern	Data	AG	prepares	its	consolidated	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	International	

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 

Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the European Union. In addition, com-

mercial law provisions in accordance with Section 315e (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) are 

applied	in	these	financial	statements.

The	financial	statements	of	the	companies	included	within	the	consolidated	group	are	based	on	

uniform	IFRS	accounting	policies.	The	fiscal	year	for	all	consolidated	companies	within	the	Group	

corresponds to the calendar year.

This	consolidated	annual	financial	report	as	of	December	31,	2020	is	the	first	annual	report	prepared	

in accordance with IFRS accounting standards. For periods up to and including December 31, 2019, 

Northern	Data	AG	prepared	annual	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	the	German	Commercial	

Code (HGB).

Companies	newly	acquired	in	the	fiscal	year	under	review	are	included	in	the	consolidated	financial	

statements from the time when control is acquired, in accordance with IFRS 10.

As	a	matter	of	principle,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	basis	

of	historical	cost,	with	the	exception	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities	(including	derivative	financial	

instruments)	recognized	either	through	profit	or	loss	or	through	other	comprehensive	income.	A	

distinction is drawn on the balance sheet between current and non-current assets and liabilities. The 

consolidated income statement has been prepared applying the nature of expense method. The 

consolidated	financial	statements	are	prepared	in	euros,	which	is	the	reporting	currency.	Unless	stated	

otherwise,	all	figures	are	shown	in	thousands	of	euros.	The	tables	and	figures	presented	may	contain	

differences due to rounding.

Northern Data Software GmbH has utilized the exemption pursuant to Section 264 (3) HGB for the 

2020	fiscal	year	and	has	submitted	the	declarations	required	for	this	purpose	to	the	electronic	Federal	

Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) for publication.

Northern Data has applied the same accounting policies in its opening IFRS balance sheet and 

throughout	all	periods	presented	in	its	first	IFRS	financial	statements.	The	accounting	policies	are	

in	accordance	with	IFRS	as	adopted	by	the	European	Union	and	effective	at	the	end	of	the	first	IFRS	

reporting period (December 31, 2020). 
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3.3. Principles of consolidation 

Scope of consolidation

Subsidiaries are companies that are directly or indirectly controlled by Northern Data AG. Control 

exists only when Northern Data AG is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 

with an investee, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

In	accordance	with	the	principles	of	full	consolidation,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	North-

ern Data AG include all domestic and foreign subsidiaries over which Northern Data AG exercises 

direct	or	indirect	control,	and	which	are	not	of	minor	significance.

Number 2020 2019

Northern Data AG and fully consolidated subsidiaries

Germany 2 1

Abroad 7 -

Non-consolidated subsidiaries

Germany - -

Abroad 3 1

Total 13 2

The companies Northern eCloud ehf. DRÖG, Reykjavík, Iceland, Northern Data NOR AS, Oslo, Norway, 

and Whinstone Security LLC, Rockdale, Texas, USA, were not included in the scope of consolidation for 

reasons of materiality.

A complete list of shareholdings is presented in note 8.9 “List of shareholdings of Northern Data AG 

pursuant to Section 313 (2) Nos. 1 to 4 HGB”.

Consolidation methods

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated applying the purchase method from the date on which control is 

transferred, and deconsolidated from the date on which control is lost.

Capital consolidation is performed by offsetting the carrying amounts of the investments against the 

pro rata equity of the subsidiaries. In accordance with IFRS 3, initial consolidation is performed using 

the	purchase	method	by	offsetting	the	acquisition	costs	against	the	fair	values	of	the	identifiable	

assets acquired as well as the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. To 

the extent that the acquisition costs of the investment exceed the proportionately acquired remeas-

ured equity, goodwill arises. If the difference is a liability of a debt nature, the purchase price calcula-

tion	and	allocation	is	reviewed.	In	particular,	identified	assets	and	assumed	liabilities,	any	non-con-

trolling interests in the acquiree, the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree in a 

business combination achieved in stages, and the transferred equity interest are taken into account. 

If this has been correctly taken into account, any remaining negative goodwill is recognized in other 

income. 

Intragroup transactions are eliminated. Receivables and liabilities between consolidated companies 

are	offset	against	each	other.	Intragroup	profits	and	losses	are	eliminated	and	intragroup	income	is	

offset against corresponding expenses.

Foreign currency translation

The	financial	statements	of	subsidiaries	from	countries	outside	the	Eurozone	are	translated	in	accord-

ance with the functional currency concept. The functional currency for subsidiaries is based on the 

primary environment in which they operate. In the Group, the functional currency of all companies 

corresponds	to	the	respective	national	currency.	The	reporting	currency	for	the	consolidated	financial	

statements	is	the	euro	(EUR ).

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the relevant foreign exchange rates on the transac-

tion date. In subsequent periods, monetary assets and liabilities are measured at the closing rate and 

translation	differences	recognized	in	profit	or	loss.	Non-monetary	items	measured	at	historical	cost	in	

a foreign currency are translated applying the exchange rate on the transaction date. Furthermore, 

non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

The	financial	statements	of	foreign	subsidiaries	whose	functional	currency	is	not	the	euro	are	trans-

lated	into	the	Group	currency,	the	euro,	by	applying	the	modified	closing	rate	method.	For	the	sake	of	

simplicity, income statement items are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. Equity is 

translated at historical rates, and asset and liability items at the closing rate on the balance sheet date. 

All	differences	resulting	from	the	translation	of	foreign	currency	financial	statements	are	recognized	in	

other comprehensive income.

The exchange rates on which currency translation into euro is based are shown below:

  2020

Reporting-date rate USD 0,8149

Average EUR/USD exchange rate since date of initial consolidation  

(Whinstone US, Inc.)
0,8693

Reporting-date rate CAD 0,6397

Average EUR/CAD exchange rates since initial consolidation date  

(Northern Data Canada)
0,6429

Average EUR/CAD exchange rates since initial consolidation date  

(Kelvin Emtech Group)
0,6437

3.4. Going concern basis

The	preparation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	requires	an	assessment	of	the	going	concern	

basis. The Management Board has reviewed the forecasts for a period of at least 12 months from the 

date	of	approval	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	The	Management	Board	has	considered	the	

impact of COVID-19 and has concluded that no material factors exist that could jeopardize the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. 

Accordingly, the Management Board is of the opinion that it is appropriate to apply the going concern 

basis	in	the	preparation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements.
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3.5. IFRS standards applied 

3 . 5 . 1 .  S T A N D A R D S ,  I N T E R P R E T A T I O N S  A N D  A M E N D M E N T S  T H A T  A R E  M A N D A T O R Y  F O R 

F U T U R E  R E P O R T I N G  P E R I O D S  ( P U B L I S H E D  S T A N D A R D S  T H A T  A R E  N O T  Y E T  M A N D A T O -

R Y )

The following new or amended accounting standards already adopted by the IASB were not taken into consideration in the consolidated 

financial	statements	for	the	2020	fiscal	year,	as	no	obligation	existed	to	apply	them	yet.	Some	of	the	effects	of	these	new	or	amended	

accounting	standards	on	the	financial	statements	are	still	being	examined.

Standards/Interpretations

Mandatory date of 

application in 

accordance with IASB 

from fiscal years 

commencing on or 

after

Mandatory date of 

application in accordance 

with EU from fiscal years 

commencing on or after

Effects

Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) 01. Jan 23 EU endorsement pending Not relevant

Amendments to IFRS 4 01. Jan 23 01. Jan 21 Not relevant

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual 

Framework
01. Jan 22 01. Jan 22

No significant effects  

are expected

Amendments	to	IAS	1	concerning	the	Classification	of	

Liabilities as Current or Non-current
01. Jan 23 EU endorsement pending

No significant effects  

are expected

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 01. Jan 23 EU endorsement pending
No significant effects  

are expected

Amendments to IAS 8 01. Jan 23 EU endorsement pending
No significant effects  

are expected

Insurance Contracts - deferral of IFRS 9 01. Jan 23 01. Jan 21 Not relevant

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor  

and its Associate or Joint Venture (amendments to  

IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

Postponed indefinitely EU endorsement pending
No significant effects  

are expected

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before  

Intended Use (IAS 16)
01. Jan 22 01. Jan 22

No significant effects  

are expected

Onerous	Contracts—Cost	of	Fulfilling	a	Contract	 

(IAS 37)
01. Jan 22 01. Jan 22

No significant effects  

are expected

Annual Improvements to IFRS Cycle 2018-2020 01. Jan 22 01. Jan 22
No significant effects  

are expected

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16: 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase 2)
01. Jan 21 01. Jan 21

No significant effects  

are expected

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations;  

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and  

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (all published on May 14, 

2020)

01. Jan 22 01. Jan 22
No significant effects  

are expected

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: COVID-19-Related Rent 

Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (published on March 

31, 2021)

April 2021 30. August 2021
No significant effects  

are expected

Status as of August 31, 2021, according to the EFRAG EU Endorsement Status Report.

3.6. Discretionary decisions and estimation uncertainties

Discretionary decisions must be taken into account in two respects when preparing the consolidated 

financial	statements.	In	addition	to	the	need	to	interpret	indeterminate	terms	and	rules,	the	man-

agement must make (forward-looking) assumptions and estimates that may have a bearing on the 

financial	position	and	performance.	Estimation	uncertainties	arise	particularly	from	forward-looking	

corporate planning.

Property, plant and equipment

In estimating the useful lives of assets, discretionary decisions are required on the part of the Group’s 

management. In making such discretionary decisions, Northern Data considers, among other matters, 

the experience gained from comparable assets and from current and future technological changes.

Leases

Discretionary decisions were made in assessing whether to extend existing leases. Economic and 

operational factors were taken into account in the assessment of probability.

Revenue recognition

Identification	of	the	customer	contract

Discretionary decisions are required in determining whether contracts with third parties fall within the 

scope of IFRS 15. In this regard, Northern Data particularly considers whether the contract was negoti-

ated with economic substance.

It may be the case that several contracts are concluded with the same customer. The Group treats 

such contracts as one contract for accounting purposes if the contracts are entered into at the same 

time or with a small time interval and are economically interrelated. Discretionary decisions are 

required when assessing whether different contracts are interrelated. This takes into account whether 

a single economic purpose has been negotiated, whether the consideration for one contract is contin-

gent on the performance of the other contract, or whether some or all of the products in the contracts 

constitute a single performance obligation.

Identification of performance obligations

Contracts with customers often contain different products and services. As a rule, products and 

services	are	to	be	classified	as	separate	performance	obligations.	The	portion	of	the	contract	price	

allocated to them is recognized separately. However, the determination of whether a product or 

service is considered a separate performance obligation involves discretionary decisions. In particu-

lar, in the case of engineering and hosting activities, judgment is required to assess whether such 

services	are	significantly	interdependent.	As	a	rule,	engineering	services	concern	basic	conceptual	

designs, whereas hosting involves simple maintenance measures. Products and services that cannot 

be distinguished independently are combined into a bundle of products and services that can be 

distinguished independently.
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Determination of the transaction price

The company exercises judgment in determining the consideration Northern Data expects to receive 

for the transfer of a customer’s promised products or services. This includes estimates of the amount 

of consideration to be paid. Discretionary decisions are based on comparable assets and services. 

Products	or	services	rarely	include	significant	financing	components.	As	a	rule,	no	financing	compo-

nents are recognized, as generally less than one year elapses between the transfer of the products and 

services to the customer and payment by the customer (see note 6.1 “Revenue”).

Allocation of the transaction price 

Two different approaches are applied in order to determine individual selling prices.

If	individual	selling	prices	for	an	offering	are	observable	and	sufficiently	uniform	across	customers	

(that is, not highly variable), the estimate of individual selling prices is based on historical prices. This 

approach is applied for standardized products and services.

Particularly in the case of new products and services for which the individual selling prices are not 

directly observable, the estimate is made on the basis of cost plus margin. 

Northern Data’s management constantly reviews the inputs in order to ensure that the inputs can be 

objectified.	If	significant	changes	in	circumstances	occur,	the	estimate	is	adjusted.	

Timing and amount of revenue recognition

Judgment is involved in determining whether revenue from the products and services is to be recog-

nized over a period or at a given point in time. Particular consideration is given to assessing whether 

the	customer	already	has	control	and	obtains	economic	benefits	from	the	product	or	service	while	it	is	

being provided. At Northern Data, this applies especially to hosting and engineering services. 

In	determining	the	timing,	the	Group	uses	a	simplification	principle	(right	to	invoice),	as	monthly	

invoicing is performed and the Group is consequently entitled to the hours of work rendered. Accord-

ingly, revenue is recognized to the extent of the amount that the company is entitled to invoice. 

The exercise of judgment and estimation uncertainties exist in relation to variable compensation. In 

this	context,	revenue	is	recognized	when	it	is	considered	to	be	sufficiently	certain.	

Discretionary decisions and estimates related to revenue recognition can affect the timing and 

amount of revenue recognized. 

Purchase price allocation

For the purchase price allocation in the context of business combinations, assumptions must be 

made regarding the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities. The determination of the 

fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date and the useful lives 

of the intangible assets and property, plant and equipment acquired is subject to assumptions. The 

measurement	of	intangible	assets	is	based	to	a	large	extent	on	projected	cash	flows	and	discount	

rates.	Actual	cash	flows	may	differ	significantly	from	the	cash	flows	applied	in	determining	fair	values,	

which	may	lead	to	different	values	and	impairments.	At	the	time	when	the	financial	statements	were	

prepared, it was assumed that with regard to estimation uncertainties or discretionary decisions no 

significant	risk	exists	that	a	material	change	will	arise	within	the	next	reporting	period.

Discretionary decisions were also applied as part of the acquisition of Whinstone US, Inc., realized in 

return for the issue of equity instruments of Northern Data AG, in order to assess that in this case no 

reverse acquisition applied.

Goodwill impairment

In accordance with the accounting policy set out below, goodwill is tested for impairment at least 

annually, and additionally if indications exist of potential impairment. Goodwill is initially allocated 

to a cash-generating unit and tested for impairment on the basis of forward-looking assumptions. 

The	COVID-19	pandemic	did	not	lead	to	an	indication	of	goodwill	impairment	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.	

Details are provided in the notes 3.7.5 “Goodwill” and 7.1 “Goodwill and other intangible assets”.

Financial instruments 

Information on the respective discretionary decisions and estimation uncertainties can be found in 

the notes 3.7.3.2 “Fair value” and 8.2 “Financial instruments”.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unutilized tax loss carryforwards to the extent that it is prob-

able	that	future	taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	the	loss	carryforwards	can	be	utilized.	In	

determining	the	value	of	deferred	tax	assets,	a	significant	discretionary	decision	by	the	Management	

Board is required with regard to the expected time of occurrence and the amount of future taxable 

income. Further details are provided in the note 6.8 “Income taxes”.

Related parties

Discretionary decisions were made in identifying relationships related parties, in particular in deter-

mining	significant	influence	between	Northern	Data	and	other	companies,	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.

3.7. Accounting policies

The main accounting policies are presented below.

3 . 7 . 1 .  B U S I N E S S  C O M B I N A T I O N S

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method at the date on which control 

is	transferred.	The	assets,	liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities	of	the	acquired	company	identified	in	

accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 are measured at fair value at the acquisition date and com-

pared with the cost of the consideration transferred. Any goodwill is determined by the excess of the 

cost	of	the	acquisition	over	the	fair	value	of	the	identifiable	assets	acquired	and	liabilities	assumed.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a year, and additionally if any indications of potential 

impairment exist. Any impairment is recognized as an expense. Impairment testing is performed in 

accordance with IAS 36.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred, with the exception of transaction costs in connec-

tion with the issue of new shares.

3 . 7 . 2 .  T R A N S A C T I O N S  I N  F O R E I G N  C U R R E N C I E S 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group 

companies at the spot rate on the transaction date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at 

fair value in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the date when the fair 

value is determined. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are trans-

lated using the exchange rate on the transaction date. Currency translation differences are recognized 

in	profit	or	loss	for	the	period	,	as	a	matter	of	principle,	and	reported	within	financial	expenses.

3 . 7 . 3 .  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S 

A	financial	instrument	is	a	contract	that	originates	a	financial	asset	at	one	entity	as	well	as	a	financial	

liability or equity instrument at another entity.

3 . 7 . 3 . 1 .  I N T E R E S T  I N C O M E  A N D  I N T E R E S T  E X P E N S E S

Interest income and expenses are recognized in net interest income by applying the effective interest 

method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

over	the	expected	life	of	the	financial	asset	to	the	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset	or	the	carry-

ing	amount	of	the	financial	liability.

In	determining	the	effective	interest	rate,	all	contractually	agreed	cash	flows	as	well	as	all	fees	associ-

ated with the asset or liability that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, direct and incre-

mental transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts are taken into account.

Interest income and expense are recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carry-

ing amount of the asset, or to the carrying amount of the liability. If the asset is not credit impaired, the 

calculation	of	interest	income	reverts	to	the	gross	carrying	amount.	For	financial	assets	that	become	

credit impaired after initial recognition, interest income is calculated in relation to the net carrying 

amount. 

3 . 7 . 3 . 2 .  F A I R  V A L U E

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an arm’s 

length transaction on the measurement date. The fair value of assets traded in active markets is deter-

mined on the basis of price quotations, provided that these represent prices that are used in regular 

and	current	transactions.	The	fair	value	of	a	liability	reflects	the	risk	relating	to	non-performance.	

Where	available,	Northern	Data	measures	the	fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	

based on quoted prices in an active market for them.

In measuring fair value, Northern Data considers factors such as bid and ask spreads, as well as credit 

and	financing	risks.	If	the	fair	value	of	a	financial	asset	or	financial	liability	is	derived	from	a	modeling	

technique, the parameters used in that model are as a rule based on a mid-market price (note 8.2 

“Notes	concerning	financial	instruments”).

Where quoted prices in an active market do not exist, Northern Data applies measurement tech-

niques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable 

inputs. The measurement techniques applied incorporate all factors that market participants would 

consider in pricing such a transaction. If an asset or liability measured at fair value has a bid price and 

an ask price, Northern Data measures assets and long positions at the bid price, and liabilities and 

short positions at the ask price.

The application of measurement techniques and models requires the management to make 

assumptions	and	estimates,	whose	extent	depends	on	the	transparency	of	the	financial	assets	and	

financial	liabilities	and	their	markets,	and	the	complexity	of	those	assets	and	liabilities.	If	manage-

ment	decisions	are	required	to	a	significant	extent	for	such	measurements,	these	are	identified	and	

documented. In the context of validating the models and assessments applied, subjectivity and 

estimation issues are assessed, in particular. Measurements to be assigned to Level 1 do not take into 

account any estimates made by the management, as a matter of principle. In Level 2, or in the case of 

measurement by means of models customary within the sector, and the use of inputs observable in 

active markets, limited consideration is given to management estimates. In Level 3, non-observable 

inputs, including historical data (particularly historical volatilities and historical spreads), are also used 

as part of measurement by means of models customary within the sector, as a consequence of which 

management estimates are incorporated to a broader extent. In principle, no trading activity exists 

for	the	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	whose	fair	values	are	to	be	disclosed,	so	that	significant	

estimates by the management are utilized in measuring the fair value. Where Northern Data is able to 

access measurement results from multiple measurement techniques, the management selects the 

estimate	within	the	range	that	best	reflects	fair	value.	In	addition,	management	may	have	to	adjust	

their measurements in order to measure fair value. Measurement adjustments form part of the meas-

urement process.

The	best	evidence	of	fair	value	on	initial	recognition	of	a	financial	asset	or	financial	liability	can	be	the	

transaction price, in other words, the fair value of the consideration transferred or received. If Northern 

Data determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price, on initial 

recognition	Northern	Data	measures	that	financial	asset	or	financial	liability	at	fair	value.	The	account-

ing treatment of the resulting difference is presented in note 7.8 “Financial liabilities”.

Financial	liabilities	whose	fulfillment	is	determined	by	Northern	Data’s	financial	performance	(espe-

cially the convertible bond; see note 8.2.1 “Convertible bond”) are not only to be repaid in the full con-

tractually	agreed	amount	if	a	company	is	performing	in	financial	terms,	and	its	financial	performance	

is	becoming	stronger,	but	also	lead	to	an	increase	in	the	value	of	the	fair	value	of	the	financial	liability.	

If	the	difference	identified	reflects	a	gain,	it	is	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	on	a	systematic	basis	only	

to the extent that it arises from changes in factors (including time) that market participants would 

consider in pricing the liability, as well as over the expected life of the transaction. If the difference 

calculated represents a loss, it is recognized if it is probable that a loss has occurred, and this loss can 

be reliably estimated. Deciding how to recognize and to defer or accrue differences requires manage-

ment decisions (see note 7.8.2 “Day-one gain or loss”).

If	no	market	values	are	available	for	the	measurement	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities,	the	

fair values are determined by applying measurement models. The choice of the model, the assump-

tions and procedures to be used, as well as inputs, are decided by expert estimate. Parameters as well 

as quotes and prices are derived from third party sources, including stock exchanges. The sources of 

the inputs used are reviewed and assessed to ensure the quality of the fair value to be determined. 

Where possible, the results are compared with actual market transactions in order to ensure that the 

model	valuations	are	calibrated	against	market	prices.	If	verification	is	not	possible	due	to	a	lack	of	

observable data, the estimated fair value is assessed for appropriateness by applying suitable proce-

dures. 
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IFRS 13 Fair Value 

The fair value hierarchy of IFRS 13 is as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: Measurement inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as a price) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3: Measurement parameters for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market 

data.

If, in determining the fair value of an asset or liability, inputs are used that can be assigned to different 

levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is assigned in its entirety to the level of 

the	fair	value	hierarchy	that	corresponds	to	the	lowest	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	meas-

urement as a whole.

Reclassifications	between	levels	of	the	fair	value	hierarchy	are	recognized	by	Northern	Data	at	the	end	

of the reporting period in which the change occurs.

Further information on the assumptions used in determining fair values is provided below in note 8.2 

“Notes	concerning	financial	instruments”.

Measurement techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The table below shows the measurement techniques used in determining Level 2 and Level 3 fair 

values	and	the	significant	unobservable	inputs	used.

As	no	comparable	values	are	available	for	the	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	to	be	measured	at	

fair value, and consequently the fair values have to be determined applying more complex modeling 

techniques,	measurement	techniques	such	as	the	discounted	cash	flow	(DCF)	method,	which	take	

into account current market conditions for credit, interest rate, liquidity and other risks, are applied. 

Modeling techniques for equity securities may also apply earnings multiples. 

Trade and other receivables as well as trade and other payables are not shown in the following table as 

their carrying amount represents a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Sector-standard 

modeling techniques
Level 2 inputs Level 3 inputs

DCF models

Estimated	future	cash	flows

Discount factors, market interest 

rates 

Implied volatilities

Foreign currency exchange rates

Share prices

Forward electricity prices

Estimated	future	cash	flows

Historical volatilities

Beta factors

Spread	premiums	to	reflect	

subordination, sector risks, country 

risks

CRR model (binomial model)

The	fair	values	of	structured	financial	liabilities	are	calculated	by	discounting	the	contractual	cash	

flows	using	the	relevant	credit-risk-adjusted	yield	curve.	The	derivative	components	or	derivatives	

associated with the host contract are valued by applying recognized DCF methods as well as option 

pricing models.

Northern	Data	discounts	fixed-rate	and	variable-rate	receivables	with	a	remaining	term	of	more	than	

twelve	months	using	an	interest	rate	appropriate	to	the	term,	taking	into	account	specific	country	

risks,	the	customer’s	specific	creditworthiness,	and	the	risk	structure	of	the	financed	project.	Northern	

Data also determines the allowance for doubtful accounts for such receivables taking these issues into 

account.	The	determination	of	the	fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities	is	based	as	far	as	possible	

on prices as of the balance sheet date as provided by pricing service agencies. 

The	fair	value	of	liabilities	to	banks	and	other	financial	liabilities,	as	well	as	other	non-current	finan-

cial	liabilities,	is	determined	by	Northern	Data	by	discounting	the	expected	future	cash	flows	at	the	

current	interest	rates	for	financial	liabilities	with	comparable	terms	and	remaining	maturities	(Level	2).	

Loans that are structured products or have embedded derivatives are assigned to the Level 3 valuation 

hierarchy if inputs not observable on the market are applied in the valuation.

3 . 7 . 3 . 3 .  I M P A I R M E N T 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost (other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 

contract assets and trade receivables), the expected credit loss (ECL) model is applied in order to 

determine impairment in accordance with IFRS 9.

The expected credit loss is equal to the gross carrying amount, less collateral, multiplied by the prob-

ability	of	default	and	a	factor	reflecting	the	loss	given	default.	Expected	credit	losses	represent	the	

probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. The calculation of the extent of credit loss represents 

a	forward-looking	assessment	of	future	credit	losses	that	involve	significant	estimation.	Credit	losses	

are measured as the present value of payment defaults. The expected credit loss is discounted at the 

effective	interest	rate	of	the	financial	asset.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the risk provisioning requirement is determined in three different stages, 

which differ with regard to the period under review, the amount of risk provisioning, and interest 

recognition.	As	a	rule,	financial	instruments	are	classified	in	the	first	stage,	unless	they	are	already	

impaired assets as of the acquisition date.

 ▶ Stage	1:	Includes	financial	instruments	that	at	the	reporting	date	have	not	had	a	significant	

increase in credit risk since initial recognition; 12-month expected credit losses are to be recog-

nized	in	profit	or	loss.	

 ▶ Stage	2:	If	a	significant	increase	in	default	risk	is	identified	on	the	measurement	date,	the	risk	

provision must be recognized for the remaining term of the receivable (lifetime expected credit 

loss). The expected loss is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Interest revenue is 

recognized on the basis of the gross carrying amount.

 ▶ Stage	3:	Where	objective	indications	of	impairment	exist,	financial	assets	are	to	be	allocated	

to Stage 3. Risk provisions are also calculated on the basis of the lifetime expected credit loss. 

Interest revenue is recognized on the basis of the gross carrying amount less the risk provision 

to be recognized. 

In particular, contractual and statutory termination rights are also taken into account when fore-

casting	the	exposure	over	the	entire	term	of	the	financial	asset.	The	determination	of	whether	the	

credit	risk	of	a	financial	asset	has	increased	significantly	since	initial	recognition	is	based	on	both	

quantitative and qualitative information, as well as analysis based on the past experience of Northern 

Data and sound estimates, including forward-looking information. The overdue nature of a receivable 

carries	significant	weight	in	this	regard.	A	significant	increase	in	default	risk	is	assumed	if	the	internally	

determined counterparty risk has deteriorated by at least three notches since initial recognition. No 

significant	changes	in	counterparty	risk	have	arisen	during	the	reporting	period	or	since	the	initial	

recognition	of	the	financial	assets	concerned.	If	objective	evidence	exists	of	an	actual	default,	the	

transfer is made to Stage 3. Where external rating information is available, the expected credit loss is 
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determined on the basis of such data. Otherwise, ND determines default rates on the basis of historical 

default rates, taking into account forward-looking information relating to economic trends. A default 

or	classification	of	a	receivable	as	irrecoverable	is	assumed	within	the	ND	Group	to	have	occurred	after	

180 or 360 days, depending on the region.

Cash and cash equivalents are receivables due on demand or in the short term from banks domi-

ciled in Germany, the USA and Canada, each of which has an investment grade rating (rating: A+, AA, 

A-). Given the short-term nature of receivables due from banks with strong credit ratings, Northern 

Data utilizes the low credit risk exemption. Assets with investment grade ratings are always assigned 

to Stage 1.

Non-current assets and receivables relate, in particular, to deposits paid for electricity supply con-

tracts.

The expected credit losses for trade receivables, receivables from finance leases and for contract 

assets	are	derived	using	a	simplified	approach	with	the	expected	credit	losses	over	the	entire	term	

based on default probabilities, which are mainly derived from the results of receivables management 

monitoring activities. Expected credit losses on trade receivables and for other contract assets are 

determined on a collective basis, with the respective portfolio corresponding to a Group company. 

As	soon	as	a	loan	is	identified	as	impaired,	the	risk	provision	is	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	

respective period.

Northern	Data	classifies	a	financial	asset	as	“in	default”	when	an	assessment	has	been	made	that	it	

is unlikely that the debtor will discharge its obligation in full and Northern Data will have to resort to 

measures such as realization of collateral (where such collateral exists).

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 

An	impairment	loss	is	applied	to	the	gross	carrying	amount	of	a	financial	asset	if	Northern	Data	does	

not	have	a	reasonable	expectation	that	all	or	part	of	the	financial	asset	will	be	recoverable.	Northern	

Data	applies	an	impairment	loss	to	the	gross	carrying	amount	if	the	financial	asset	is	past	due,	based	

on past experience of realizing such assets. Northern Data makes an individual assessment of the tim-

ing and amount of the impairment loss based on whether a reasonable expectation exists of recovery. 

Northern	Data	does	not	expect	any	significant	recovery	of	the	amount	written	off.	Impaired	financial	

assets may still be subject to enforcement measures for collection.

Financial assets are written off as uncollectible if recovery appears unlikely. This is generally the case if 

the	deadline	with	respect	to	the	insolvency	or	bankruptcy	proceedings	has	expired,	the	financial	asset	

is	derecognized	and	all	rights	to	payment	expire,	or	the	financial	asset	is	transferred	to	a	third	party	

and	there	is	no	contractual	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	it.	

3 . 7 . 3 . 4 .  C A S H  A N D  C A S H  E Q U I V A L E N T S

Cash equivalents comprise all near-cash assets that have a remaining term of less than three months 

at the time of acquisition.

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortized cost, which due to their short-term maturity 

corresponds to their fair values as well as their nominal amounts.

3 . 7 . 3 . 5 .  C L A S S I F I C A T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T

Financial assets

Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	classified	and	measured	on	the	basis	of	Northern	Data’s	business	

model	and	the	nature	of	the	cash	flows:

financial assets measured at amortized cost

 ▶ financial	assets	measured	at	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	income	(debt	instru-

ments)

 ▶ financial	assets	measured	at	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	income	(equity	securities),	

and 

 ▶ financial	assets	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include:

 ▶ trade accounts receivable and payable

 ▶ receivables	due	from	affiliated	companies

 ▶ other receivables and assets 

 ▶ cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets	are	classified	at amortized cost if their purpose or business model is to be held, their 

contractual	terms	generate	cash	flows	on	specified	dates	that	are	solely	repayments	of	principal	and	

interest	on	principal	outstanding,	and	their	contractual	cash	flows	are	to	be	collected.

Northern	Data	makes	an	assessment	of	the	objectives	of	the	business	model	in	which	the	financial	

asset	is	held	at	the	level	of	the	overall	business,	as	this	best	reflects	the	manner	in	which	the	busi-

ness is managed and information is provided to the management. The information to be considered 

includes:

 ▶ the	management’s	stated	strategy	to	realize	the	contractual	cash	flows

 ▶ how the results at the level of the overall business are evaluated and reported to the Group 

management

 ▶ the	risks	affecting	the	results	of	the	business	model	(and	the	financial	assets	held	under	that	

business model), and how those risks are managed

For the purpose of determining whether the contractual cash flows represent solely principal and 

interest payments, Northern Data refers to the fact that 

 ▶ the	“principal	amount”	is	defined	as	the	fair	value	of	the	financial	asset	at	initial	recognition;	and	

 ▶ “interest”	is	defined	as	a	charge	for	the	time	value	of	money	and	for	the	default	risk	associated	

with the principal outstanding over a period of time, as well as for other basic credit risks, liquid-

ity	risk,	costs	(for	example,	administrative	costs)	and	a	profit	margin.

In	assessing	whether	the	contractual	cash	flows	are	solely	payments	of	interest	and	principal	on	the	

principal	amount,	Northern	Data	considers	the	financial	asset’s	contractual	terms.	This	includes	an	

assessment	of	whether	the	financial	asset	contains	a	contractual	arrangement	that	could	change	

the	timing	or	amount	of	the	contractual	cash	flows	so	that	they	no	longer	meet	those	conditions.	

In making its assessment, Northern Data considers, in particular, certain events that would change 

the	amount	or	timing	of	cash	flows,	conditions	that	would	adjust	the	interest	rate,	including	variable	

interest rates, prepayment and extension options, and conditions that restrict Northern Data’s right to 
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receive	cash	flows	from	a	specific	asset	(for	example,	a	lack	of	rights	of	recourse).

An early repayment option is consistent with the interest-only and principal-only criterion if the 

amount of the early repayment essentially includes unpaid interest and principal on the principal out-

standing, and may include an appropriate consideration for the early termination of the contract. In 

addition,	a	condition	for	a	financial	asset	acquired	at	a	premium	or	discount	to	its	contractual	principal	

amount that permits or requires it to be repaid early for an amount that is essentially the same as its 

contractual principal amount, plus accrued (but unpaid) interest on the contract (which may include 

an appropriate consideration for early termination), is treated as complying with the criterion if the fair 

value	of	the	early	repayment	option	at	inception	is	not	significant.

All financial assets	not	classified	at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 

income	(FVOCI)	and	financial	assets	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	are	subsequently	

measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognized 

in	the	income	statement	under	the	financial	result.

Financial assets are not reclassified after initial recognition	unless	Northern	Data	modifies	its	

business	model	for	managing	the	financial	assets.	In	this	case,	all	financial	assets	that	are	affected	

by	the	modification	are	reclassified	on	the	first	day	of	the	reporting	period.	When	financial	assets	are	

reclassified,	they	are	adjusted	prospectively	from	the	date	of	reclassification.	Previously	recognized	

gains, losses (including impairment losses or income) or interest, are not adjusted.

On initial recognition, Northern Data may irrevocably elect to designate financial assets that other-

wise qualify for measurement at amortized cost, or at fair value through other comprehensive income, 

as at fair value through profit or loss	if	doing	so	results	in	the	elimination	or	significant	reduction	of	

accounting mismatches that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets designated as at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method (see note 3.7.3.2 “Fair value”; 6.7 “Financial expenses”; 8.2 “Notes 

concerning	financial	instruments”	).	Initial	measurement	is	at	fair	value	(see	note	3.7.3.2 “Fair value”; 6.7 

“Financial expenses”; 8.2	“Notes	concerning	financial	instruments”).	The	amortized	cost	is	reduced	to	

reflect	impairment	losses	and	repayments.	Interest	income,	foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses,	and	

impairment	losses	are	recognized	in	profit	or	loss.	A	gain	or	loss	on	derecognition	is	recognized	in	

profit	or	loss.	

Financial assets	classified	as	at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair 

value, with foreign exchange gains and losses as well as impairment losses recognized in the income 

statement, and other net gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income. On derecog-

nition,	accumulated	other	comprehensive	income	is	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss.	Interest	income	is	

calculated applying the effective interest method, and is also recognized in the income statement.

Equity investments	classified	as	at fair value through other comprehensive income are subse-

quently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as income in the income statement unless 

the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains or 

losses	are	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income,	with	no	reclassification	to	profit	or	loss.	

Financial liabilities

Northern	Data	classifies	financial	liabilities	according	to

 ▶ financial	liabilities	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	and	

 ▶ financial	assets	measured	at	amortized	cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include:

 ▶ trade payables

 ▶ liabilities	owed	to	affiliates	companies

 ▶ other liabilities

 ▶ financial	liabilities	

Some structured financial liabilities (liabilities with embedded derivatives) consist of a derivative 

as well as a non-derivative component. The derivative component or the embedded derivatives are 

inseparably	linked	to	the	non-derivative	component	of	the	financial	liability,	in	other	words,	the	host	

contract. If the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related 

to	those	of	the	host	contract	and	the	structured	financial	liability	concerned	is	not	recognized	at	fair	

value, the embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and recognized at fair value, with 

value	changes	recognized	in	profit	or	loss.	The	financial	liability’s	host	contract	is	measured	in	accord-

ance	with	the	relevant	accounting	standard.	The	financial	derivative	is	measured	at	fair	value	through	

profit	or	loss	in	accordance	with	IFRS	9.	If	the	conditions	for	using	the	fair	value	option	are	met	for	

structured	financial	liabilities	that	are	to	be	accounted	for	separately	(see	note	3.7.3.9 “Electricity con-

tract	to	be	classified	as	a	financial	instrument”;	8.2	“Notes	concerning	financial	instruments”),	these	

structured	financial	liabilities	are	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	as	a	single	liability.

Northern Data measures financial liabilities	–	with	the	exception	of	liabilities	for	which	the	fair 

value option has been exercised	–	at amortized cost using the effective interest method (note 6.7 

“Financial expenses” and 8.2	“Notes	concerning	financial	instruments”).	Interest	expenses	and	foreign	

currency translation differences are recognized in the income statement. Gains or losses on derecog-

nition are also recognized in the income statement. Financial liabilities designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss upon exercise of the fair value option are measured at fair value, and net gains 

or losses, including interest expense, are recognized in the income statement. Changes resulting from 

the	Group’s	own	credit	risk	in	the	fair	value	of	financial	liabilities	classified	at	fair	value	are	recognized	

directly in other comprehensive income (excluding recycling).

Financial liabilities	consisting	of	a	cash	instrument	and	several	financial	derivatives,	which	would	have	

to be accounted for separately from the cash instrument under IFRS 9, are measured in their entirety 

as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Northern Data utilizes the fair value option 

in order to reduce the complexity arising from the recognition of structured liabilities, and to enhance 

the reliability of the measurement in the item to be recognized on the balance sheet. Northern Data 

permits	classification	as	measured	at	fair	value	only	for	those	financial	liabilities	for	which	fair	value	

is	reliably	measurable.	Financial	liabilities	that	are	measured	as	a	single	financial	liability	at	fair	value	

through	profit	or	loss	due	to	the	exercise	of	the	fair	value	option	on	the	basis	of	several	embedded	

derivatives (note 4.3.5 “Financial liabilities”) are disclosed in 8.2	“Notes	concerning	financial	instru-

ments”.
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The following table provides an overview of the basic measurement categories and their abbreviations. 

IFRS 9 measurement category Abbreviation

Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost FAAC

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost FLAC

Financial	Assets	Measured	at	Fair	Value	through	Profit	or	Loss FVTPL

Financial	Liabilities	Measured	at	Fair	Value	through	Profit	or	Loss FVTPL

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through OCI FVOCI

3 . 7 . 3 . 6 .  R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  D E R E C O G N I T I O N 

Northern Data derecognizes a financial asset	when	its	contractual	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	

the	financial	asset	expire,	or	it	transfers	its	rights	to	receive	contractual	cash	flows	in	a	transaction	in	

which	either	essentially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	financial	asset	are	transferred,	or	

Northern Data neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, and 

does not retain control of the transferred asset. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecog-

nized.	If	the	financial	asset	is	transferred	to	a	third	party,	derecognition	also	occurs	only	if	the	right	to	

receive	related	cash	flows	is	also	transferred	to	the	third	party.	Financial	assets	are	derecognized	when	

the	contractual	rights	to	the	cash	flows	from	the	financial	asset	expire	or	the	financial	asset	is	trans-

ferred to a third party. Receivables, including related impairment losses, are derecognized when they 

are determined to be uncollectible.

Northern Data derecognizes a financial liability when the contractual obligations are discharged, 

canceled	or	expire.	Furthermore,	Northern	Data	derecognizes	a	financial	liability	when	its	contractual	

terms	are	modified,	and	the	cash	flows	of	the	modified	liability	are	significantly	different.	In	this	case,	a	

new	financial	liability	is	recognized	at	fair	value	based	on	the	adjusted	terms.	When	a	financial	liability	

is derecognized, the difference between the carrying amount of the liability extinguished and the 

consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognized in 

profit	or	loss.

3 . 7 . 3 . 7 .  M O D I F I C A T I O N S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S

If the contractual terms of financial assets	are	renegotiated	or	modified	and	the	modification	does	

not	lead	to	derecognition,	a	gain	or	loss	is	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	difference	between	

the	original	contractual	cash	flows	and	the	modified	cash	flows	discounted	at	the	original	effective	

interest	rate.	Significant	modifications	or	renegotiations	lead	to	the	derecognition	of	the	recognized	

original	agreement	and	the	recognition	of	a	new	financial	asset	in	accordance	with	the	renegotiated	

contractual	terms.	For	credit-risk-determined	modifications,	Northern	Data	assesses	whether	the	

modified	contractual	terms	lead	to	a	materially	modified	financial	asset,	and	consequently	require	

derecognition.	This	assessment	is	to	include	a	quantitative	evaluation	of	the	impact	of	the	cash	flow	

changes	deriving	from	the	modified	contractual	terms,	taking	into	account,	where	appropriate,	qual-

itative	aspects	of	the	impact	of	the	modified	contractual	terms.	In	the	case	of	modifications	that	lead	

to	the	derecognition	of	the	original	financial	asset,	and	where	evidence	exists	of	impairment	of	the	

new	financial	asset	on	initial	recognition,	the	new	financial	asset	is	classified	as	a	financial	asset	at	risk	

of default in Stage 3.

3 . 7 . 3 . 8 .  O F F S E T T I N G 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported on the balance sheet only 

when a legal right to do so exists, and an intention exists to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset 

and settle the liability simultaneously.

3 . 7 . 3 . 9 .  E L E C T R I C I T Y  S U P P LY  C O N T R A C T  T O  B E  C L A S S I F I E D  A S  A 

F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T

Contracts that are used to purchase and sell electricity or that are entered into and held for the 

purpose	of	receiving	or	delivering	non-financial	items	in	accordance	with	Northern	Data’s	expected	

purchase,	sale	or	usage	requirements	are	classified	as	own-use	contracts.	They	are	not	recognized	as	

derivative	financial	instruments	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVPL)	in	accordance	with	IFRS	9,	

but	as	pending	transactions	in	the	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	IAS	37.	Contracts	that	pro-

vide	for	net	settlement,	as	well	as	resales	of	volumes	to	be	delivered	in	the	future,	are	to	be	classified	

as	financial	instruments	and	consequently	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	in	accordance	

with IFRS 9. Embedded derivatives in own-use contracts are to be separated from the host contract 

and accounted for as a derivative under IFRS 9 if the economic characteristics and risks of those deriv-

atives are not closely related to those of the host contract.

Margin payments (initial and variation margin) are reported under other assets. Margin payments 

received are recorded under other liabilities.

The result from commodity derivatives, which is the difference between the contract price and the 

market price, is recognized in other comprehensive income.

3 . 7 . 4 .  I N T A N G I B L E  A S S E T S  ( E X C L U D I N G  G O O D W I L L )

Intangible assets (excluding goodwill) are carried at amortized cost less straight-line amortization 

(except	for	assets	with	indefinite	useful	lives)	and	impairment	losses.

Internally generated intangible assets are capitalized if the requirements (technical feasibility, inten-

tion to complete, ability to use and sell, etc.) of IAS 38.57 are cumulatively met. 

If these criteria are not met, the asset must be expensed.

The economic useful lives, residual carrying amounts and amortization methods for intangible assets 

are reviewed at least at each balance sheet date. The expected useful lives are as follows:

Asset Useful life

Customer relationships 7-15 years

Other concessions, rights and licenses 3-10 years

If expectations differ from previous estimates, the relevant changes are recorded as changes of esti-

mates in accordance with IAS 8.

Customer	relationships	were	identified	as	part	of	the	acquisition	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	and	Kelvin	

Emtech Inc. (see note 5 “Business Combinations”). 

Gains or losses from the disposal of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the 

proceeds	of	the	sale	and	the	carrying	amounts	of	the	intangible	assets,	and	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	

under “Other income” in the event of a gain, or “Other expenses” in the event of a loss.

3 . 7 . 5 .  G O O D W I L L
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Goodwill arises from the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the difference between the pur-

chase	price	and	the	fair	values	of	the	identifiable	assets,	liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities	acquired.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or on an ad hoc basis by comparing the carrying amount of 

the cash-generating unit or units with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 

of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell, and its value in use. As a matter of principle, the Group deter-

mines fair value less costs to sell for this purpose. 

If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and must be written 

down to the recoverable amount. If the fair value less costs to sell is higher than the carrying amount, 

it is not necessary to calculate the value in use; the asset is then not impaired. An appropriate valuation 

method is applied in order to determine the fair value less costs to sell. This is based on discounted 

cash	flow	valuation	models	or	available	market	data	(inputs)	for	the	fair	value.	A	subsequent	reversal	of	

an impairment loss recognized previously for goodwill is not permitted if the reasons for the impair-

ment no longer exist. Goodwill is recognized in the functional currency and translated at the closing 

rate.

3 . 7 . 6 .  P R O P E R T Y ,  P L A N T  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at amortized cost less straight-line depreciation and 

any impairment losses. Acquisition costs include costs directly attributable to the acquisition as well as 

borrowing costs if the recognition criteria are met. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carry-

ing	amount	when	the	costs	are	incurred	if	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	associated	with	

the item will accrue to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as and when they are incurred. Land and buildings are 

recognized	separately.	Land	has	an	indefinite	useful	life	and	is	not	depreciated.	

Asset Useful life

Buildings 7-15 years

Servers and other hardware 5 years

The depreciable amount of the item of property, plant and equipment is determined after deducting 

its estimated residual value. The estimated residual values and the economic useful lives are examined 

on every reporting date and adjusted if necessary. Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 

be recoverable. In such a case, the impairment test is performed in accordance with IAS 36. An impair-

ment loss is applied in the amount by which the estimated residual value exceeds the recoverable 

amount. If necessary, the remaining useful life is adjusted accordingly.

If the reasons for a previously recognized impairment loss no longer apply, the impairment loss is 

reversed	through	profit	or	loss,	provided	that	the	reversal	does	not	exceed	the	carrying	amount	that	

would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized in prior periods.

Gains or losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference 

between the proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment, 

and are recognized in the income statement under “Other income” in the case of a gain, or under 

“Other expenses” in the case of a loss.

3 . 7 . 7 .  I N V E N T O R I E S

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories (with the 

exception	of	prepayments	received)	is	based	as	a	matter	of	principle	on	the	first-in,	first-out	method.	

Net realizable value is determined as the estimated selling price of inventories less estimated costs to 

sell.

3 . 7 . 8 .  P R O V I S I O N S

Provisions are formed if the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 

that	an	outflow	of	resources	embodying	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation,	

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount of the provision 

corresponds to the best possible estimate of the amount required to settle the current obligation as 

of the balance sheet date, whereby expected reimbursements from third parties are not netted but 

instead recognized as a separate asset if realization is virtually certain. If the interest effect is material, 

the provision is discounted at a congruent-maturity, risk-adjusted, pretax market interest rate. Subse-

quent	interest	accruals	are	reported	as	financial	expenses.

Provisions for site restoration obligations are made on the basis of contractual obligations which pro-

vide for the restoration of the respective assets and which Northern Data cannot avoid. The amount 

of the provision is the Group’s best estimate of the settlement amount on the balance sheet date. 

Discounting is applied due to the material interest effect.

3 . 7 . 9 .  C O N T I N G E N T  L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  O F F - B A L A N C E - S H E E T  C O N -

T R A C T U A L  O B L I G A T I O N S

Contingent liabilities and off-balance-sheet contractual obligations based on present obligations are 

not	recognized	as	liabilities	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	until	utilization	is	probable.

However, in the context of a business combination, contingent liabilities are recognized in accordance 

with IFRS 3 if their fair value can be reliably measured.

3 . 7 . 1 0 .  E Q U I T Y

Transaction costs incurred in connection with issuing equity instruments are treated as a deduction 

from equity, taking tax effects into account. The proceeds received after deducting directly attributa-

ble transaction costs are allocated to share capital (nominal value) and the capital reserve.

3 . 7 . 1 1 .  I N C O M E  T A X E S

The tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in 

profit	or	loss	unless	they	relate	to	a	business	combination	or	to	an	item	recognized	directly	in	equity	or	

in other comprehensive income.

The Group has determined that interest and penalties on income taxes, including uncertain tax items, 

do	not	meet	the	definition	of	income	taxes	and	are	consequently	accounted	for	in	accordance	with	

IAS 37.

3 . 7 . 1 1 . 1 .  C U R R E N T  T A X E S 
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Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or tax loss for the year, 

based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted as of the balance sheet date, and any adjustment 

to tax payable in respect of previous years. The amount of the expected tax liability or tax receivable 

reflects	the	best	estimate,	taking	into	account	any	tax	uncertainties.	Current	tax	liabilities	also	include	

any tax liabilities that arise as a consequence of the determination of dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only under certain conditions.

3 . 7 . 1 1 . 2 .  D E F E R R E D  T A X E S 

Deferred taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for Group accounting purposes, and the amounts used for tax purposes. Deferred 

taxes are not recognized for

 ▶ temporary differences arising on initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is 

not a business combination and that affects neither accounting earnings nor taxable earnings;

 ▶ temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly 

controlled entities, provided that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary differences, and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

 ▶ taxable temporary differences on initial recognition of goodwill.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unutilized tax losses, unutilized tax credits and deductible tem-

porary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable earnings will be available against 

which they can be utilized. Future taxable earnings are determined on the basis of the reversal of 

taxable	temporary	differences.	If	the	amount	is	not	sufficient	to	fully	capitalize	deferred	tax	assets,	the	

future	taxable	earnings	–	taking	into	account	the	reversal	of	temporary	differences	–	are	determined	

on the basis of the subsidiaries’ individual business plans. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 

balance	sheet	date	and	reduced	to	the	extent	that	it	is	no	longer	probable	that	the	related	tax	benefit	

will be realized; reversals are implemented if the probability of future taxable earnings improves.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable earnings will enable them to be recovered. Deferred tax 

is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to temporary differences when they reverse, 

using	tax	rates	enacted,	or	substantively	enacted,	on	the	balance	sheet	date.	Deferred	taxes	reflect	any	

uncertainty	contained	in	income	taxes.	The	measurement	of	deferred	taxes	reflects	the	tax	conse-

quences that would arise from the Group’s expectations of the manner in which the carrying amounts 

of its assets will be recovered, or its liabilities settled, on the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets 

and deferred tax liabilities are offset if certain conditions are met.

3 . 7 . 1 2 .  L E A S E S

Northern Data assesses at inception whether the contract is, or contains, a lease in accordance with 

IFRS	16.	IFRS	16	defines	a	lease	as	a	contract	that	conveys	the	right	to	control	the	use	of	an	identified	

asset	for	a	specified	period	of	time	in	return	for	payment	of	a	consideration.	A	lease	conveys	the	right	

to	control	the	use	of	an	identified	asset	provided	that	the	lessee	has	the	right	to	obtain	essentially	

all	of	the	economic	benefits	from	the	use	of	the	identified	asset	throughout	the	period	of	use	(for	

example, by having the exclusive right to use the asset during that period), and to direct the use of the 

identified	asset	during	the	period	of	use.

The lessee must recognize its rights and obligations from all lease relationships on the balance 

sheet as rights of use and lease liabilities. The lease liability is measured at the present value of the 

future	lease	payments	at	the	time	the	lease	is	made	available.	This	includes	fixed	payments	less	any	

lease incentives to be received, variable lease payments linked to an index or (interest) rate, amounts 

expected to be paid by Northern Data under residual value guarantees, the exercise price of a pur-

chase option if Northern Data is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and lease termination 

penalties if the lease term indicates that the lessee will exercise the termination option. The lease 

payments are discounted using the interest rate on which the lease agreement is based. If this rate 

cannot be readily determined, Northern Data uses the marginal borrowing rate. In general, Northern 

Data	applies	a	marginal	borrowing	rate	for	discounting	purposes,	adjusted	for	country-specific	risk,	

contract currency risk, and contract term. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost. The cost of the 

right-of-use asset comprises the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability plus lease 

payments made at or before the date of origination, plus initial direct costs and any site restoration 

obligation, and less any lease incentives received.

The Group exercises the option not to apply the recognition and measurement requirements of 

IFRS 16	to	leases	where	the	underlying	asset	is	of	low	value	(up	to	EUR  5,000).	Furthermore,	use	is	

made	of	the	simplification	to	classify	leases	with	a	term	of	less	than	12	months	as	current	leases.	Lease	

payments for both low value assets and current leases are expensed. The company does not utilize the 

option under IFRS 16.15 to account for leasing and non-leasing components uniformly in accordance 

with IFRS 16.

Lease payments are divided into principal and interest payments after the date on which the respec-

tive asset is made available. The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying 

amount by the interest costs of the lease liability using the effective interest rate and reducing the car-

rying amount by the lease payments made. The carrying amount of the lease liability is remeasured if 

the lease agreement is reassessed or amended (including an amended assessment as to whether it is 

reasonably certain that an extension or termination option will be exercised). Subsequently, the right-

of-use asset is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted 

to	reflect	certain	revaluations	of	the	lease	liability.	As	a	matter	of	principle,	the	right-of-use	asset	is	

depreciated straight-line over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the leased asset.

Asset Useful life

Rights	of	use	–	containers	USA	 1-10 years

Data centers 10 years  

Office	premises less than 1 year

Living accommodation less than 1 year

Lease expenses represent depreciation expense on right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease 

liabilities.

3 . 7 . 1 3 .  P R I N C I P L E S  O F  R E V E N U E  R E C O G N I T I O N

Northern Data generally enters into multiple contracts with the same customer. These contracts are 

aggregated as one contract for accounting purposes under IFRS 15 if they are entered into at the same 

time or with a short time lag and are economically interrelated. The assessment is based on the cus-

tomer’s economic purpose (see note 3.6 “Discretionary decisions and estimation uncertainties”). 

The contracts regularly consist of various services and products. The main revenue class, hosting, is 

presented in note 6.1 “Revenue”. 

In	accordance	with	IFRS	15,	revenue	is	recognized	when	the	performance	obligation	is	fulfilled	or	con-

trol is transferred to the customer. Revenue is reported at the amount of consideration agreed with 

the customer less sales taxes, deductions and credit notes. 

A contract liability is recognized when the customer makes payment, or payment falls due, before 

Northern Data transfers the related goods or services to the customer, and Northern Data has an 

unconditional	right	to	receive	specified	consideration	before	transferring	an	item	of	merchandise	or	
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service	to	the	customer.	Contract	liabilities	are	recognized	as	revenue	when	Northern	Data	satisfies	its	

contractual obligations, or when control of the related goods or services is transferred to the customer.

A contract asset is recognized when Northern Data has recognized revenue in respect of a perfor-

mance obligation before the customer has made a payment or, regardless of when due, before the 

conditions for an invoice to be issued and a receivable to be recognized have been met. 

Northern Data‘s invoicing is based on long-term customer contracts for infrastructure and hosting 

services.

Prior to the business model transition, Northern Data provided bitcoin-blockchain services in 2019. In 

2019,	the	development	of	Northern	Data’s	financial	position	and	performance	was	still	significantly	

influenced	by	the	activities	in	the	area	of	research	and	development	for	mobile	high-tech	data	centers	

for sustainable bitcoin mining, their construction and optimization as well as the development of 

software for blockchain applications. Consequently, business performance in the 2019 reporting year 

was particularly characterized by bitcoin mining. The provision of computing power in the bitcoin 

network was remunerated by bitcoins. Revenue was recognized at the time the computing services 

were rendered. 

Supplementary explanations can be found in note 6.1 “Revenue”.

3 . 7 . 1 4 .  F I N A N C I A L  I N C O M E  A N D  E X P E N S E S

The	company’s	financial	income	and	finance	expenses	include:

 ▶ Net gains or losses on the disposal of investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI

 ▶ Impairment losses (and reversals of impairment losses) relating to investments in debt instru-

ments measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI.

 ▶ Impairment	losses	on	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	recognized	in	the	financial	result	

3 . 7 . 1 5 .  E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E

Earnings per share are calculated as the consolidated net (post-tax) result attributable to sharehold-

ers of the parent company, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the reporting period.

Diluted earnings per share are based on the assumption that other contracts for the issue of ordinary 

shares, such as stock options, will be exercised, and that the convertible bond will be serviced in shares. 

3 . 7 . 1 6 .  G O V E R N M E N T  G R A N T S

In accordance with IAS 20, government grants are not recognized on the balance sheet until reasona-

ble assurance exists that the conditions attaching to them will be complied with, and that the grants 

will be received. As a general rule, such grants are recognized as income in the periods in which the 

corresponding expenses are incurred. In the case of investments in property, plant and equipment or 

intangible assets, the government grants extended for this purpose reduce the cost of the asset. The 

grant	is	thereby	recognized	through	profit	or	loss	by	means	of	reduced	depreciation	amounts	over	the	

useful life of the asset.

3 . 7 . 1 7 .  S H A R E - B A S E D  P A Y M E N T  T R A N S A C T I O N S 

The fair value on the grant date of share-based payment arrangements for employees is recognized as 

an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the period in which the employees become 

unconditionally	entitled	to	the	awards.	The	amount	expensed	is	adjusted	to	reflect	the	number	

of awards for which the relevant service conditions and non-market performance conditions are 

expected	to	be	satisfied,	so	that	the	final	amount	expensed	is	based	on	the	number	of	awards	that	

satisfy the relevant service conditions and non-market performance conditions at the end of the vest-

ing period. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the fair value is determined 

at the grant date taking these conditions into account. No adjustment is to be made for differences 

between expected and actual results.

3.8. Effects due to COVID-19

Due to the increase in new coronavirus infections in the second half of 2020, further lockdown 

measures were implemented by governments around the world, which also entailed delays in the 

construction of the data centers in Rockdale, USA. As a consequence, customer hardware could not be 

installed on time and the company was unable to realize the full amount of its planned revenues. Due 

to the ongoing global vaccination campaigns, it is not anticipated that such challenges will persist in 

the	2021	fiscal	year.

Although further risks or a worsening of existing risks may arise in the future due to the uncertain out-

look, mainly due to the further course of the pandemic and potential measures to combat it, the risk 

of	non-payment	can	be	classified	as	low	due	to	Northern	Data’s	business	model	and	its	existing	cus-

tomer	structure.	Consequently,	the	collectability	of	receivables	was	not	affected	in	the	fiscal	year	under	

review. Equally, the global epidemiological situation, including the resultant economic consequences, 

did not give rise to any indications of a potential impairment of the Group’s assets. Potential future 

effects on the valuation of individual assets and liabilities are analyzed on an ongoing basis. For further 

information on goodwill, please refer to note 7.1 “Goodwill and other intangible assets”.

Whinstone	US,	Inc.	received	a	low-interest	loan	in	the	amount	of	kEUR  269	as	part	of	the	Paycheck	

Protection	Program	(PPP)	–	a	loan	program	launched	by	the	United	States	of	America	to	combat	the	

economic consequences of the coronavirus. As the company meets the requirements for the loan, it is 

thought to be highly probable that the loan will be written off by the US government. Accordingly, the 

amount	was	reclassified	to	the	income	statement	in	the	reporting	period	in	accordance	with	IAS	20.	

Coronavirus	support	in	Canada	in	the	amount	of	kEUR  58	was	treated	in	a	similar	manner.
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4. First-time adoption of IFRS 

4.1. Equity reconciliation 

The following reconciliation statement shows the effects of the transition to IFRS on the equity of 

Northern Data AG.

kEUR 31.12.2019 01.01.2019

Total equity according to HGB -9.479 -719

Leases -44 -

Inventories -4 -

Transaction costs due to equity procurement - -

Site restoration obligations -10 -

Convertible bond -402 0

Financial liabilities 1.468 1.526

Total value of equity according to IFRS -8.471 807

4.2. Reconciliation of results 

The following reconciliation statement shows the effect of the transition to IFRS on the results of 

 Northern Data.

kEUR 2019

Net result according to HGB -8.760

Leases -44

Inventories -5

Site restoration obligations -10

Convertible bond -402

Financial liabilities -57

Net result according to IFRS -9.278

4.3. Effects of the conversion on selected items 

4 . 3 . 1 .  L E A S E S

Under IFRS 16, the lessee must recognize its rights and obligations from all leases on the balance 

sheet as rights of use and lease liabilities. The only exceptions are leases where the underlying asset 

is	of	low	value	and	leases	with	a	term	of	less	than	twelve	months.	This	led	to	significant	effects	as	part	

of	the	first-time	adoption	of	IFRS.	Rights-of-use	and	associated	lease	liabilities	were	measured	at	the	

date of transition to IFRS. 

4 . 3 . 2 .  I N V E N T O R I E S

As	part	of	the	first-time	adoption	of	IFRS,	the	carrying	amount	of	inventories	decreased	as	of	Decem-

ber 31, 2019 due to different consumption methods according to HGB and IFRS. 

4 . 3 . 3 .  E Q U I T Y 

The costs associated with raising equity must be deducted directly from equity (IAS 32). 

4 . 3 . 4 .  S I T E  R E S T O R A T I O N  O B L I G A T I O N S

As	a	consequence	of	the	first-time	adoption	of	IFRS	16,	contractually	agreed	restoration	obligations	

were recognized as liabilities. As part of the initial measurement on the date of transition to IFRS, a 

provision	was	formed	for	the	specified	obligation	in	accordance	with	the	relevant	standards,	and	the	

valuation of the underlying rights of use adjusted. 

4 . 3 . 5 .  F I N A N C I A L  L I A B I L I T I E S 

The	conversion	effects	arising	from	the	financial	liabilities	are	presented	quantitatively	in	notes	4.1 

“Reconciliation of equity” and 4.2 “Reconciliation of results” and explained by associated disclosures 

in sections 7.9 “Other liabilities” and 8.2	“Notes	concerning	financial	instruments”.	The	effects	derive	

mainly from fair value measurement according to IFRS. Under German Commercial Code (HGB) 

accounting principles, measurement was at book value. 

4 . 3 . 6 .  D E F E R R E D  T A X E S 

The	adjustments	made	as	part	of	the	first-time	adoption	of	IFRS	lead	to	temporary	differences.	

Deferred taxes on such differences were recognized either in reserves or in the statement of compre-

hensive income in line with the underlying transaction.

4 . 3 . 7 .  C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

As	a	consequence	of	the	first-time	application	of	IFRS,	payments	in	connection	with	operating	leases	

(interest	paid	and	repayment	of	lease	liabilities)	are	no	longer	reported	under	cash	flow	from	operat-

ing	activities,	but	instead	under	cash	flow	from	financing	activities.	
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5. Business combinations

Merger with Whinstone US, Inc.

On	March	9,	2020,	Northern	Data	AG	acquired	100 %	of	the	shares	in	Whinstone	US,	Inc.,	Rockdale,	

USA, thereby gaining control over the company.

Whinstone US, Inc. originally operated data centers specializing in blockchain applications such as 

bitcoin mining, and had its own mining facilities. At the time of the acquisition, the company was in 

the process of realigning its business activities as a provider of HPC services, in particular the provision 

of infrastructure and operation of HPC data centers. Whinstone US, Inc. operated an HPC data center 

in	Rockdale,	Texas,	USA,	during	the	fiscal	year	under	review,	particularly	for	customer	applications	in	

the blockchain and bitcoin mining area.

The merger with Whinstone US, Inc. was realized as part of the expansion of Northern Data AG in 

the North American region. The strategic goal of the merger was to combine the technology and 

customer- oriented expertise of both companies and to leverage this for the development of High 

Performance Computing (HPC) platforms.

The merger with Whinstone US, Inc. was executed by issuing 3,720,750 treasury shares, which corre-

sponds	to	an	equivalent	value	of	kEUR  119,808	based	on	the	share	price	on	the	acquisition	date.

The following overview summarizes the consideration transferred as part of the business combination, 

as	well	as	the	values	of	the	assets	identified	and	liabilities	assumed	at	the	acquisition	date:	

kEUR  

Consideration

Shares issued 4.783

Total consideration 4.783

fair	value	of	identified	assets	acquired	and	liabilities	assumed	as	of	the	acquisition	date

Customer relationships 107.454

Property, plant and equipment and rights of use from leasing agreements 37.351

Other assets 4.104

Cash and cash equivalents 3.074

Trade payables -627

Contractual liabilities, accruals and deferrals -6.620

Financial liabilities, liabilities from leasing agreements -44.093

Other liabilities -285

Deferred taxes from PPA -23.021

Total	identified	net	assets 77.337

Goodwill 42.471

Total 119.808

The	acquired	trade	receivables	comprise	gross	amounts	of	contractual	receivables	of	kEUR  9,	none	of	

which were assessed as probably uncollectible as of the acquisition date.

The goodwill is attributable to the strong market position of Whinstone US, Inc. and its innovative 

high-tech market environment in the High Performance Computing (HPC) area, the skills and exper-

tise of its employees, and the synergies expected to arise from the acquisition of the company at the 

time of the transaction, by combining the acquired advantages with those of Northern Data AG. 

Between the acquisition date and December 31, 2020, the acquired company contributed revenue of 

kEUR  16,155	and	a	result	of	kEUR  -23,835	to	the	Group’s	results.	The	contribution	to	results	includes	

effects	of	kEUR  -7,325	from	the	carrying	forward	of	disclosed	hidden	reserves	up	to	the	balance	sheet	

date.	If	the	acquisition	had	already	occurred	as	of	January	1,	2020,	consolidated	revenue	of	kEUR  16,162	

and	a	consolidated	pretax	result	of	kEUR  -26,661	would	have	been	reported	in	the	consolidated	

income statement.

Merger with Groupe Kelvin Emtech Inc.

Based on the agreement dated October 30, 2020, Northern Data AG acquired all shares in Groupe 

Kelvin Emtech Inc., Montreal, Canada, thereby gaining control over the company. The acquisition was 

executed with effect as of December 3, 2020, by issuing 83,334 treasury shares, which corresponds to 

consideration	of	kEUR  4,783	based	on	the	share	price	on	the	acquisition	date.	As	part	of	the	acquisi-

tion of Groupe Kelvin Emtech Inc., Northern Data AG also gained control over the direct subsidiaries 

of Groupe Kelvin Emtech Inc.: Kelvin Emtech Inc., Kelvin Emtech Technologies Inc. and Kelvin Emtech 

Construction Inc. (all Montreal, Canada).

The Kelvin Emtech Group specializes in electromechanical installations in data centers and all relevant 

infrastructures in the IT and telecommunications sectors. The activities include, among others, inspec-

tions, demand analyses, planning as well as construction and operation of the plants.

The merger with Kelvin Emtech Group formed part of the Northern Data Group’s expansion strategy 

in Canada. The strategic goal of the merger was to acquire and expand expertise in the construction 

and installation of data centers in the North American region.
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The following overview shows the consideration transferred as part of the merger, as well as the values 

of	the	assets	identified	and	liabilities	assumed	as	of	the	acquisition	date:	

kEUR  

Consideration

Shares issued 4.783

Total consideration 4.783

fair	value	of	identified	assets	acquired	and	liabilities	assumed	as	of	the	acquisition	date

Customer relationships 3.295

Patents and other intangible assets 732

Property, plant and equipment 363

Other non-current assets 78

Inventories 9.209

Cash and cash equivalents 5.223

Other current assets 1.192

Contractual liabilities, accruals and deferrals 13.917

Financial liabilities 565

Other liabilities 765

Deferred taxes from PPA 1.069

Total	identified	net	assets 3.776

Goodwill 1.008

Total 4.783

The	acquired	trade	receivables	comprise	gross	amounts	of	contractual	receivables	of	kEUR  1,239,	none	

of which were assessed as probably uncollectible as of the acquisition date.

The goodwill is attributable, in particular, to the technical skills, expertise and experience of the 

employees as well as the synergies expected from the integration of the acquired companies into the 

business of the Northern Data Group as a result of the acquisition.

Between the acquisition date and December 31, 2020, the acquired company and its subsidiaries 

contributed	total	revenue	of	kEUR  214	and	a	result	of	kEUR  -13	to	the	Group’s	results.	If	the	acquisition	

had	already	occurred	as	of	January	1,	2020,	consolidated	revenue	of	kEUR  2,673	and	a	consolidated	

pretax	result	of	kEUR  -40	would	have	been	reported	in	the	consolidated	income	statement.

6. Notes to the income statement

6.1. Revenue

The following section provides comprehensive and supplementary information on customer con-

tracts. In particular, this includes notes concerning how Northern Data recognizes revenue, and 

information on the allocation of revenue to trade receivables and, where applicable, customer-related 

obligations. In the reporting period, Northern Data started to provide HPC services to its customers, 

and	the	kEUR  16,377	of	revenue	generated	in	this	context	is	mainly	attributable	to	hosting	services	

as	well	as	hardware	maintenance	services	in	the	US	business,	which	are	collectively	classified	under	

the	revenue	class	“Hosting”.	The	revenue	in	the	previous	year	(kEUR  10,132)	derived	mainly	from	the	

sale of cryptocurrencies. Revenue is generated exclusively from foreign companies and amounts to 

kEUR  16,377.	

Revenue derives predominantly from the sale of hosting services. Invoices for hosting activities are 

issued monthly and are usually payable within 60 days. Hosting is recorded over a period of time, i.e. 

according	to	invoicing.	In	the	2020	fiscal	year,	the	Group	had	three	major	customers	based	in	the	USA.	

The	resultant	revenues	of	kEUR 	16,154	are	divided	approximately	equally	between	the	three	major	

customers.

6 . 1 . 1 .  P E R F O R M A N C E  O B L I G A T I O N S  O U T S T A N D I N G 

The portion of the transaction price of a customer contract that is allocated to performance obli-

gations outstanding represents revenue from the contract that has not yet been recognized. This 

includes both amounts recognized as contract liabilities and amounts contractually agreed but not 

yet due.

As permitted by IFRS 15, no disclosures are made concerning the performance obligations remaining 

as of December 31, 2020 or December 31, 2019 that have an expected original term of one year or less. 

6 . 1 . 2 .  C O N T R A C T  B A L A N C E S

The following table provides information on receivables and contract liabilities deriving from contracts 

with customers.

kEUR 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 01.01.2019

Receivables included in trade receivables 2.293 - -

Contract liabilities 4.004 - -

Trade receivables exclusively comprise receivables due from customers for goods and services pro-

vided up to the respective reporting date. 

Contract liabilities relate to prepayments received from customers for future engineering services and 

hosting services that will be realized in the subsequent invoicing period (following month).

An	impairment	loss	of	kEUR  135	was	recognized	on	trade	receivables	in	accordance	with	the	proce-

dures described in note 3.7.3.3 “Impairment”.

At	the	end	of	the	2020	fiscal	year,	agreements	were	concluded	with	Decentric	Europe	B.V.,	Amster-

dam,	Netherlands	(hereinafter	“Decentric”),	and	Bitfield	N.V.,	The	Hague,	Netherlands	(formerly	Bitfield	

AG,	Hofheim	am	Taunus)	(hereinafter	“Bitfield”).	In	addition	to	hosting	services,	these	also	include	
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agreements	relating	to	the	supply	of	hardware	to	be	installed	in	the	course	of	2021.	In	the	2021	fiscal	

year, Northern Data acquired the aforementioned companies. As, in the company‘s opinion, the agree-

ments did not meet the criteria for a contract in the meaning of IFRS 15.9 as of December 31, 2020, and 

no transfer of economic control occurred, no revenue was recognized in respect of these companies in 

2020 (see note 8.10 “Events after the reporting period” and the Group management report). As a con-

tract in the meaning of IFRS 15.9 was not concluded in 2021 as a consequence of the acquisitions of the 

companies,	it	is	also	the	case	that	in	the	2021	fiscal	year	no	revenue	is	recognized	in	respect	of	these	

companies.	As	the	payments	received	from	these	companies	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	were	made	in	the	

expectation that a contract in the meaning of IFRS 15.9 would ultimately be concluded, the payments 

received	were	reported	under	operating	cash	flow	in	the	cash	flow	statement	for	the	2020	fiscal	year.	

As the payments were not received under a contract in the meaning of IFRS 15.9, they were recognized 

on the balance sheet as other liabilities (see Note 7.9 “Other liabilities” and the notes discussing trans-

actions with related parties in Note 8.3.1 “Related parties”).

6.2. Other income

Other income is composed as follows:

kEUR 2020 2019

Income from currency translation 1.991 1

Government grants 327 -

Miscellaneous 83 28

Total 2.401 29

The Group was granted two state support measures. The government grants received in the 2020 

fiscal	year	arose	in	the	context	of	coronavirus	assistance	in	the	USA	and	Canada.	These	amounted	to	

kEUR  327	and	related	to	state	wage	and	salary	subsidies.	These	grants	were	recognized	in	profit	or	

loss when the right to receive them arose.

6.3. Cost of materials 

The	cost	of	materials	in	the	amount	of	kEUR  10,285	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	derives	mainly	from	the	pur-

chase	of	electricity	for	the	data	center	of	Whinstone	US,	Inc.	(kEUR  10,285;	previous	year	kEUR  0).	The	

year-on-year increase in the cost of materials is mainly due to the change in the business model and 

additional activities abroad. 

The	cost	of	materials	in	the	previous	year	(kEUR  12,148)	was	incurred	before	the	change	in	the	busi-

ness	model.	This	included,	in	particular,	mining-specific	costs	as	well	as	costs	of	associated	trading	

transactions. Following the change in the business model, such costs of Northern Data AG were 

reported	under	other	expenses	in	the	2020	fiscal	year,	as	they	are	not	offset	by	any	revenue	from	the	

start	of	the	2020	fiscal	year.

6.4. Personnel expenses and number of employees

Personnel expenses are composed as follows:

kEUR 2020 2019

Wages and salaries 4.337 817

Social security contributions 506 111

Share-based payment transactions 704 -

Total 5.547 928

The average number of employees is composed as follows:

Number of employees 2020 2019

Employees 113 8

   of which senior executives 8 2

The	total	number	of	employees	in	the	Group	as	of	the	end	of	the	fiscal	year	under	review	was	157,	eight	

of whom are senior managers. For expenses and other disclosures relating to share-based payments, 

please refer to note 8.4 “Share-based payment” and for company pension schemes, please refer to 

note 8.5	“Employee	benefits”.	

6.5. Other expenses

Other expenses are composed as follows:

kEUR 2020 2019

Legal and consulting fees 5.647 851

Expenses from currency translation 5.068 6

Incidental costs from rent and lease, other occupancy 

costs
1.539 133

Miscellaneous expenses 3.037 703

Total 15.291 1.693

Other expenses include, in particular, advertising costs, maintenance and repair expenses, 

	mining-specific	costs	and	various	other	expenses.

6.6. Financial income

The	financial	income	is	composed	as	follows:

kEUR 2020 2019

Interest and similar income 16 -

Net	changes	from	financial	liabilities	measured	at	

FVTPL 
- 180

Total 16 180
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6.7. Financial expenses

The	financial	expenses	are	composed	as	follows:

kEUR 2020 2019

Interest and similar expenses 1.398 132

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 50.869 591

of which: convertible bond 32.814 591

of which: electricity supply contract 18.055 -

Interest expense from leases 470 120

Interest expenses from effective interest method (loans) 514 180

Reversals of discounting on provision for restoration 

obligations 
1 1

Foreign currency translation 0 0

Total 53.252 1.024

 

The	result	from	financial	instruments	in	the	fair	value	option	(FVTPL)	category	includes	only	meas-

urement and realization results. Expenses and income are shown netted in each case. The fair value 

option (FVTPL) category includes the convertible bond. The electricity supply contract is to be catego-

rized on a mandatory basis as at fair value (FVTPL). Expenses and income are shown in each case on a 

net basis.

6.8. Income taxes

Income taxes include the actual taxes paid or owed by the consolidated companies as well as deferred 

taxes.

kEUR 2020 2019

Current	tax	expense	on	profits	for	the	period -7.025 -

Current tax expense/income from previous years - -

Total current tax expense -7.025 -

Deferred tax expense/income due to temporary 

differences
4.285 -

Deferred tax expense/income due to tax loss 

 carryforwards
2.193 131

Total deferred tax expense/income 6.478 131

Total income taxes -547 131

 

Deferred	tax	income	due	to	temporary	differences	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	includes,	among	other	

items, income from the amortization of the disclosed hidden reserves of Whinstone US, Inc. and 

Kelvin	Emtech	Group	(kEUR  1,956).	Deferred	tax	income	due	to	tax	loss	carryforwards	includes	mainly	

deferred	taxes	on	the	company’s	tax	loss	carryforwards	(kEUR  2,208),	which	were	capitalized	after	the	

acquisition of Whinstone US, Inc. for offsetting with subsequent years’ deferred tax liabilities. As a con-

sequence,	deferred	tax	assets	totaling	kEUR  3,264	were	recognized	on	the	previously	unrecognized	

tax loss carryforwards (before netting with deferred tax liabilities) as of the balance sheet date.

The	nominal	tax	rate	applicable	to	Northern	Data	AG	amounted	to	27.4 %	in	the	fiscal	year	under	

review	(previous	year:	31.9 %).

The following overview shows the reasons for the difference between the expected and the reported 

tax expense within the Group:

  2020 2019

Tax rate of the parent company 27,40% 31,90%

kEUR

Consolidated result before income taxes -83.712 -9.410

 = Expected tax expense/income -22.916 -3.004

Differing tax rates of subsidiaries 2.018 -

Tax-exempt income -44 -

Non-deductible expenses 9.799 -

Additions from trade tax -14 -

Change in tax rates -3.839 -

Permanent differences 175 -

Effect of temporary differences and losses for which no deferred taxes 

were recognized
18.128 2.873

Effect from change in temporary differences and losses as well as 

utilization of tax loss carryforwards
-2.760 -

Total income taxes 547 -131

 

The tax liabilities reported on the consolidated balance sheet derive from the income taxes of the 

companies	included	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	for	the	2020	fiscal	year.	The	companies	

are subject to their countries’ respective tax laws. When assessing tax assets and tax liabilities, the 

interpretation of tax legislation may be subject to uncertainties, and a divergent view of the respective 

tax authority cannot be excluded. Changes in assumptions concerning the correct interpretation of 

tax	regulations	are	reflected	in	the	accounting	treatment	of	contingent	income	tax	assets	and	liabili-

ties. Uncertain income tax items are recognized at their most probable value.

Deferred taxes were recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amounts recognized 

on the Group companies’ IFRS balance sheets, including disclosed hidden reserves, and the tax bal-

ance sheets, as well as for tax loss carryforwards that are expected to be utilized. For the measurement 

of deferred taxes, tax rates were used for which it is assumed that they will be valid at the time of the 

reversal	or	realization	of	the	deferrals.	Due	to	the	move	in	2021,	a	tax	rate	of	31.9 %	was	applied	to	calcu-

late the deferred taxes of Northern Data AG.
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Deferred tax assets are based on the following temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards:

In	TEUR  31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Rights of use from lease agreements 96 -

Trade	receivables	/	receivables	due	from	affiliated	companies 4.047 -

Other assets 312 -

Cash and cash equivalents (mainly currency translation) 169 -

Trade payables 4.512 -

Financial liabilities (convertible bond, derivatives) 3.680 189

Contractual liabilities, deferred revenue 26.122 -

Other accruals and deferrals 34 -

Tax loss carryforwards 6.442 -

Total 45.414 189

Offsetting (per consolidation unit) -24.942 -

Recognition of deferred tax assets not exceeding the amount of 

deferred tax liabilities (per consolidation unit)
-20.472 -

Amount recognized on the balance sheet - 189

 

The recognition of deferred tax assets on loss carryforwards was based in part on the planned reali-

zation of deferred tax assets due to future taxable earnings that are higher than the earnings effects 

from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences. The unrecognized deferred tax assets on 

tax	loss	carryforwards	amount	to	kEUR  3,178	as	of	the	balance	sheet	date.

Deferred tax liabilities derive from the following temporary differences:

kEUR 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Intangible assets 19.669 -

Property, plant and equipment 13.415 -

Trade accounts receivable and payable 376 -

Transaction costs from capital procurement measures 910 -

Trade	payables	/	receivables	due	to	affiliated	companies 4.584 -

Financial liabilities (loans) 51 57

Other accruals and deferrals 16 -

Contractual liabilities, deferred revenue 275 -

Total 39.296 57

Offsetting (per consolidation unit) -24.942 -

Amount recognized on the balance sheet 14.354 57

 

The deferred tax liabilities arise primarily from the purchase price allocations in connection with the 

acquisition of Whinstone US, Inc. and the Kelvin Emtech Group. Taking into account the carrying for-

ward of the disclosed hidden reserves and charges up to the balance sheet date, deferred tax liabilities 

totaling	kEUR  19,918	(before	netting	with	deferred	tax	assets)	are	recognized	for	these	companies.

The	income	and	expenses	from	deferred	taxes	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	fiscal	year	under	

review relate to the following temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards:

kEUR 2020

Intangible assets 1.784

Property, plant and equipment -13.589

Rights of use from lease agreements 102

Trade	receivables	/	receivables	due	from	affiliated	companies 3.671

Other assets 312

Cash and cash equivalents 169

Transaction costs from capital procurement measures -910

Trade	payables	/	receivables	due	to	affiliated	companies -72

Financial liabilities (loans) 3.741

Contractual liabilities, deferred revenue 26.342

Other accruals and deferrals 29

Tax loss carryforwards 5.371

Total (gross amount) 26.950

Recognition of deferred tax assets not exceeding the amount of deferred  

tax liabilities (per consolidation unit)
-20.472

Total	deferred	tax	expense/income 6.478

6.9. Earnings per share

The following table shows the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share attributable 

to shareholders of the parent company:

2020 2019

Net result attributable to equity holders of the parent 

company
kEUR -84.258 -9.278

Weighted average number of shares for the calculation 

of earnings per share

Undiluted (basic) Number 11.411.172 7.441.500

Diluted Anzahl 14.789.684 7.441.500

Earnings per share

Undiluted (basic) EUR -7,38 -1,25

Diluted EUR -5,7 -1,25
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7. Notes to the balance sheet

7.1. Goodwill and other intangible assets

kEUR Goodwill Customer 

base

Acquired

concessions 

and other 

rights

Similar 

rights and 

assets

Total

Cost

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - - 31 - 31

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - - 31 - 31

Additions to consolidation group 43.479 110.749 713 66 155.007

Additions - - 2.225 - 2.225

Additions from internally generated intangible assets - - 79 - 79

Disposals - - -12 - -12

Net currency translation differences - -10.910 -9 - -10.919

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 43.479 99.839 3.027 66 146.411

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - - 17 - 17

Additions (amortization) - - 6 - 6

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - - 23 - 23

Additions (amortization) - 8.602 166 4 8.772

Additions to impairment losses - - 6 - 6

Disposals - - -12 - -12

Net currency translation differences - -537 -4 - -541

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 - 8.065 179 4 8.248

Carrying amounts          

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - - 14 - 14

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - - 8 - 8

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 43.479 91.774 2.848 62 138.163

Intangible assets consist mainly of goodwill and customer bases acquired as part of the acquisitions of 

Whinstone US, Inc. and the Kelvin Emtech Group. Details on the acquisition of Whinstone US, Inc. and 

the Kelvin Emtech Group can be found in note 5 “Business combinations”.

Goodwill is not amortized, but is instead tested for impairment at least once a year in accordance with 

IAS 36 on the basis of the recoverable amount in accordance with the procedure described in note 

3.7.5	“Classification	and	measurement”.	The	recoverable	amount	was	determined	on	the	basis	of	the	

value in use. Based on this impairment test in accordance with IAS 36, no goodwill impairments arose 

as of the December 31, 2020 balance sheet date.

An	after-tax	capitalization	rate	(WACC)	of	7.30 %	(pretax	WACC	9.20 %)	was	applied	to	the	initial	

goodwill impairment test for Whinstone US, Inc. as of December 31, 2020. The impairment test was 

performed at the level of Whinstone US, Inc. as a separate cash-generating unit, and the goodwill 

arising from the original purchase price allocation was allocated in full to this cash-generating unit. 

Due	to	the	fact	that	an	impairment	test	was	conducted	for	the	first	time,	no	information	is	provided	

on	previous	comparative	values.	The	discount	rate	is	based	on	a	base	rate	of	1.75 %	and	a	market	risk	

premium	of	5.00 %.	Due	to	the	lack	to	date	of	historical	data	and	a	valid	database,	a	growth	rate	of	

0.00 %	was	assumed.	The	carrying	amount	of	goodwill	remained	unchanged	at	kEUR  42,471	as	of	the	

balance sheet date.

For	the	first	impairment	test	of	Kelvin	Emtech	Group	goodwill	as	of	December	31,	2020,	the	Kelvin	

Emtech Group companies were combined into one cash-generating unit. The goodwill was allocated 

in	full	to	this	cash-generating	unit.	An	after-tax	capitalization	interest	rate	(WACC)	of	6.10 %	(pretax	

WACC	7.60 %)	was	applied	as	a	basis.	The	discount	rate	is	based	on	a	base	rate	of	1.25 %,	a	market	

risk	premium	of	5.00 %	and	a	growth	rate	of	0.00 %.	The	carrying	amount	of	goodwill	remained	

unchanged	at	kEUR  1,008	as	of	the	balance	sheet	date.	

The recoverable amounts of the two cash-generating units were each determined on the basis of 

value	in	use	from	the	discounting	of	free	cash	flows	using	EBIT	forecasts	based	on	the	Management	

Board’s	planning	for	the	years	2021	to	2025.	The	cash	flow	projections	include	specific	estimates	for	five	

years and an estimated terminal value subsequently. 

The basic assumptions are derived from the Management Board’s assessment of future develop-

ments based on internal and external sources: 

 ▶ The planned revenues for the planning period are based primarily on customer contracts 

already concluded. In the case of Whinstone US, Inc., slight growth in the utilization of com-

puter capacity was assumed over the planning years, with an upper limit on total capacity. At 

Kelvin Emtech Group, slightly increasing revenues were assumed over the planning years.

 ▶ EBIT margins at Whinstone US, Inc. were assumed to increase sharply until 2022 and remain 

approximately	flat	thereafter.	At	Kelvin	Emtech	Group,	slightly	increasing	EBIT	margins	were	

assumed over the planning years.

The Management Board is of the opinion that in each case no realistic change in the key assumptions 

would cause the carrying amount of the cash-generating units or goodwill to exceed the recoverable 

amount.

Northern	Data	capitalized	kEUR  79	of	development	costs	for	internally	generated	intangible	assets	in	

the reporting period. 
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7.2. Property, plant and equipment

kEUR Land  

and  

buildings

Data centers: 

servers,	fixtures	and	

fittings,	operating	

equipment

Office	and	 

other  

business  

equipment

Prepayments  

and plant  

under  

construction

Total

Cost          

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - 5.431 29 - 5.460

Additions - 1.102 7 - 1.109

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - 6.533 36 - 6.569

Additions to consolidation group 55 9.374 2.400 10.763 22.592

Additions 550 5.022 98 210.481 216.151

Reclassifications 10.150 19.179 - -29.329 -

Net currency translation differences -636 -2.462 -287 -631 -4.016

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 10.119 37.646 2.247 191.284 241.296

Accumulated deprecation and impairment losses

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - 606 17 - 623

Additions (depreciation) - 923 6 - 929

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - 1.529 23 - 1.552

Additions (depreciation) 105 2.616 488 - 3.209

Impairment - 2.512 - - 2.512

Net currency translation differences -7 -98 -73 - -178

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 98 6.559 438 - 7.095

Carrying amounts          

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - 4.825 12 - 4.837

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - 5.004 13 - 5.017

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 10.021 31.087 1.809 191.284 234.201

During	the	2020	fiscal	year,	the	Group	decommissioned	parts	of	its	legacy	server	inventory.	Based	on	

lower	resale	prices,	this	led	to	an	impairment	loss	of	kEUR  2,512.	The	recoverable	amount	of	the	related	

assets	determined	in	this	manner	amounts	to	kEUR  534	as	a	result	of	the	closure.

As	of	December	31,	2020,	property,	plant	and	equipment	with	a	carrying	amount	of	kEUR  43,563	is	

pledged as collateral under a customer contract.

7.3. Leases 

Leases as lessee 

The	existing	leases	mainly	relate	to	the	rental	of	office	space	and	other	operating	and	office	equip-

ment. The term of the lease agreements is typically at least two years with an option to extend. The 

lease agreements can be extended at the end of the leasing period, as a matter of principle. Lease 

payments	are	renegotiated	at	irregular	intervals	in	order	to	reflect	market	trends	in	an	agile	manner.

Northern	Data	rents	various	smaller	office	premises	with	contractual	terms	of	less	than	one	year.	

Northern Data has elected not to recognize rights of use or lease liabilities for these leases. Expenses 

for	current	leases	amounted	to	kEUR  113	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	(previous	year:	kEUR  5).	Expenses	for	

low-value	leasing	liabilities	amount	to	kEUR  586	(previous	year:	kEUR  0).	

I  R I G H T S  O F  U S E

kEUR Land and 

buildings

Operating 

equipment
Total

Cost

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - 6.331 6.331

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - 6.331 6.331

Additions to consolidation group 46 15.031 15.077

Additions 17 - 17

Disposals - -6.331 -6.331

Net currency translation differences -5 -1.627 -1.632

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 58 13.404 13.462

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - - -

Additions (depreciation) - 2.960 2.960

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - 2.960 2.960

Additions (depreciation) 22 3.610 3.632

Disposals - -5.913 -5.913

Translation differences -1 -166 -167

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 21 491 512

Carrying amounts      

Balance as of 1-Jan-19 - 6.331 6.331

Balance as of 31-Dec-19 - 3.371 3.371

Balance as of 31-Dec-20 (current and non-current) 37 12.913 12.950
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kEUR 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Interest expenses 420 115

Expenses for current leases 168 5

Expenses for low-value leases 757 -

Expenses for variable lease payments not included in the 

 measurement of lease liabilities
5 -

I I I  A M O U N T S  R E C O G N I Z E D  I N  T H E  C A S H  F L O W  S T A T E M E N T

kEUR 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Total	cash	outflows	for	leases 5.143 3.026

I V  E X T E N S I O N  O P T I O N S

Some real estate leases contain renewal options that are exercisable by the company up to one year 

prior to the expiration of the non-cancelable lease term. The renewal options are exercisable only by 

the company and not by the lessor. On the grant date, the Group assesses whether the exercise of 

renewal	options	is	sufficiently	certain.	The	Group	redetermines	whether	the	exercise	of	a	renewal	

option	is	sufficiently	certain	if	a	significant	event	or	a	significant	change	in	circumstances	occurs	

within	its	control.	At	present,	no	renewal	options	have	been	classified	by	the	company	as	sufficiently	

certain.

Information on the residual terms of the lease liabilities is provided in the table in note 7.8 “Composi-

tion and remaining term”.

7.4. Inventories

Inventories	of	kEUR 	11,875	(previous	year:	kEUR 	58)	mainly	relate	to	services	from	contract	manufac-

turing for the provision of server containers that had not yet been invoiced as of the reporting date.

7.5. Other assets

The following assets are reported on the consolidated balance sheet under other assets: 

kEUR 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 01.01.2019

Financial assets – non-current -

   Security deposits 20.814 - -

   Total 20.814 - -

Total non-current 20.814 - -

       

Financial assets – current

   Security deposits 6 8 -

   Accrued income and prepayments 400 - -

   Loans to staff 330 - -

   Creditor accounts in debit 39 - -

   Other receivables 5 - -

   Total 780 8 -

Non-financial	assets	–	current

   Taxes other than income taxes 5.913 - 149

   Miscellaneous current assets 9 184 72

   Total 5.922 184 221

Total short-term 6.702 192 221

 

Security deposits primarily relate to agreements that Whinstone US, Inc. has with power suppliers, as 

well as long-term leases. The accrued income and prepayment items relate, in particular, to prepay-

ments made in the course of the planned construction of data centers.

7.6. Equity 

7 . 6 . 1 .  P R I N C I P L E S  A N D  O B J E C T I V E S  O F  C A P I T A L  M A N A G E M E N T

The Northern Data Group’s primary objective in relation to capital management is to ensure a sound 

capital and liquidity base for the Group’s operations and for its sustainable growth. In this context, the 

trust	and	confidence	of	shareholders	and	their	expectations	in	terms	of	shareholder	returns	are	also	to	

be safeguarded, with stakeholders’ interests given due consideration.

As a young and growing corporate group, Northern Data monitors capital on the basis of the equity 

ratio	and	the	(EBITDA)	return	on	equity.	No	externally	defined	target	exists	for	the	ratio	of	equity	to	

debt. 

Capital increases and the issue of new shares as part of mergers with other companies are realized in 

order to meet growth targets and to secure the capital and liquidity base. In addition, procurement 

transactions	are	pre-financed	with	prepayments	from	customers	as	part	of	operating	activities	by	

means	of	appropriate	contractual	arrangements.	In	order	to	enable	balanced	equity	and	debt	financ-
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ing	in	the	future,	the	Group	is	considering	concluding	financing	agreements	with	various	banks.

The ratios applied to monitor capital are as follows:

  31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Equity	ratio	(%) 35,1 -*

     

  2020 2019

Return	on	equity	(%) -7 -*

* no calculation due to negative equity as of December 31, 2019

7 . 6 . 2 .  N O T E S  C O N C E R N I N G  E Q U I T Y

The	subscribed	share	capital	amounts	to	EUR  14,639,684	as	of	the	reporting	date	(previous	year:	

EUR  7,441,500),	and	is	divided	into	14,639,684	shares	with	a	nominal	value	of	EUR  1	per	share.	

A non-cash capital increase was implemented at Northern Data as part of the merger with Whin-

stone US. In the previous year, the Management Board passed a resolution to increase the company’s 

share	capital	by	EUR  3,720,750.00	against	a	non-cash	capital	contribution,	by	issuing	3,720,750	no-par	

value	bearer	shares,	each	with	a	notional	interest	in	the	share	capital	of	EUR  1.00	(Approved	Capital	

2019/I). Shareholders’ statutory subscription rights were excluded in this context. The shareholders 

of Whinstone US, Inc. were admitted to subscribe against contribution of their respective shares in 

Whinstone	US,	Inc.	The	capital	increase	was	completed	in	the	first	quarter	of	2020	in	the	full	amount	

of	EUR  3,720,750.00	against	non-cash	capital	contributions.	The	non-cash	capital	contributions	were	

realized by transferring all of Whinstone’s shares to the company upon entry in the commercial 

register on March 9, 2020. After the non-cash capital increase, the company’s share capital amounted 

to	EUR  11,162,250.00.	The	difference	between	the	fair	value	(stock	market	price)	on	the	transaction	

date	and	the	nominal	value	of	the	shares	issued	(totaling	kEUR  116,087)	was	transferred	to	the	capital	

reserve.

By making partial use of the Approved Capital 2020/I, as approved by the Ordinary Annual General 

Meeting on December 30, 2019, and entered in the commercial register on March 16, 2020, a share 

capital	increase	of	EUR  685,000.00	to	EUR  11,847,250.00	against	cash	capital	contributions	was	

implemented in April 2020. The gross proceeds from the capital increase amounted to approximately 

EUR  30.1 million.	The	amount	exceeding	the	nominal	value	of	the	issued	shares	(in	total	kEUR  29,455)	

was	transferred	to	the	capital	reserve.	In	July	2020,	a	further	share	capital	increase	of	EUR  431,225.00	to	

EUR  12,278,475.00	against	cash	capital	contributions	was	completed.	Gross	proceeds	of	EUR  21.6 mil-

lion	were	generated,	of	which	a	total	of	kEUR  21,130	was	allocated	to	the	capital	reserve.	

Based on the conditional increase of the share capital approved on August 30, 2019, as amended by 

resolution of the Annual General Meeting on December 30, 2019 (Conditional Capital 2019/I), subscrip-

tion	shares	with	a	nominal	value	of	EUR  2,277,875	have	been	issued	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	in	connec-

tion with the servicing of the convertible bond. As a consequence, the share capital of Northern Data 

AG	increased	to	EUR  14,556,350.00.	The	difference	between	the	nominal	value	of	the	shares	issued	

and	the	value	of	the	convertible	bond	attributable	to	them	(in	total	kEUR  15,945)	was	transferred	to	

the capital reserve. 

As part of the merger with Groupe Kelvin Emtech Inc., a further non-cash capital increase was 

implemented in December 2020. In this context, on the basis of the authorization issued by the 

Annual	General	Meeting	of	December	30,	2019,	the	share	capital	was	increased	by	EUR  83,334	to	

EUR  14,639,684.00	through	the	issuance	of	83,334	no-par	value	bearer	shares,	each	with	a	notional	

share	of	EUR  1.00	in	the	share	capital.	The	shareholders	of	Group	Kelvin	Emtech	Inc.	were	admitted	

to subscribe against contribution of their respective shares in Group Kelvin Emtech Inc. The capital 

increase	was	completed	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2020	in	the	full	amount	of	EUR  83,334.00	against	

non-cash capital contributions. The non-cash capital contributions were realized by transferring all 

shares in Northern Data AG with entry in the commercial register on December 3, 2020. The differ-

ence between the fair value (stock market price) on the transaction date and the nominal value of the 

shares	issued	(totaling	kEUR  4,700)	was	transferred	to	the	capital	reserve.

By making partial use of the Approved Capital 2020/I, as approved by the Ordinary Annual General 

Meeting on November 10, 2020, and entered in the commercial register on December 8, 2020, a share 

capital	increase	of	EUR  900,000.00	against	cash	capital	contributions	was	initiated	in	December	

2020.	This	share	capital	increase	was	filed	with	the	Frankfurt	am	Main	District	Court	on	December	

23, 2020, and entered in the commercial register on January 6, 2021. The gross proceeds from the 

capital	increase	already	received	in	December	2020	amounted	to	approximately	kEUR  52,470.	As	of	

December 31, 2020, the amount is reported under equity, under the item “Contributions rendered to 

implement the approved capital increase”.

The transaction costs incurred in connection with the capital raising measures were deducted directly 

from the capital reserve.

Accumulated	effects	from	the	value	adjustment	of	the	convertible	bond	(kEUR  30,594)	are	reported	

as an allocation to the capital reserve.

The	translation	differences	derive	from	the	translation	of	the	financial	statements	of	Whinstone	US,	

Inc, Northern Data CA Ltd., and the companies of the Kelvin Emtech Group.

7.7. Provisions

kEUR Balance as of 

01-Jan-20

Addition Consumption Release Discounting/

reversal of 

discounting

Balance as 

of 31-Dec-20

Financial statements and auditing 25.000 550.193 25.000 - - 550.193

Site restoration obligations 19.817 - - 20.327 510 -

Archiving requirements 4.700 500 - - - 5.200

Other 0 349.044 - - - 349.044

Total 49.517 899.737 25.000 20.327 510 904.437

kEUR Balance as of 

01-Jan-20

Addition Consumption Release Discounting/

reversal of 

discounting

Balance as 

of 31-Dec-20

Financial statements and auditing 21.000 25.000 21.000 - - 25.000

Site restoration obligations 19.315 - - - 502 19.817

Archiving requirements 2.000 2.700 - - - 4.700

Total 42.315 27.700 21.000 - 502 49.517
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7.8. Financial liabilities

7 . 8 . 1 .   C O M P O S I T I O N  A N D  R E S I D U A L  T E R M S

Contractual maturities:

kEUR
< 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years 01.01.2019

Trade payables 2.601 - - 2.601

Lease liabilities 2.906 3.405 - 6.311

Loan liabilities - - 4.562 4.562

Total 5.507 3.405 4.562 13.474

Contractual maturities:

kEUR
< 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years 31.12.2019

Trade payables 980 - - 980

Loan liabilities - - 4.547 4.547

Lease liabilities 2.968 437 - 3.405

Convertible bond - 11.041 - 11.041

Total 3.948 11.478 4.547 19.973

Contractual maturities:

kEUR
< 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years 31.12.2020

Trade payables 20.246 - - 20.246

Loan liabilities 10.633 16.933 - 27.566

Lease liabilities 896 2.563 11.311 14.770

Convertible bond - 176 - 176

Derivatives from electricity contracts - - 16.925 16.925

Other	financial	liabilities 1 - - 1

Total 31.776 19.672 28.237 79.684

 

For the liabilities shown in the previous table (convertible bond, loan), which are not traded on an 

active market, measurement is performed applying the method described in note 3.7.3 “Financial 

instruments”.

In	addition	to	trade	payables,	financial	liabilities	include	a	customer	loan	of	kEUR  25,498	as	a	signifi-

cant item. The lease liabilities derive mainly from rental and lease agreements. The convertible bond 

and the electricity supply contract are explained separately in the corresponding notes 8.2.1 “Convert-

ible bond” and 8.2.2	“Electricity	supply	contract	to	be	classified	as	a	financial	instrument”.	In	essence,	

only	the	loan	is	interest-bearing.	In	the	first	conversion	window,	a	conversion	is	made	by	the	holders	

of	the	convertible	bond	on	the	basis	of	the	company’s	financial	performance,	with	the	result	that	the	

convertible	bond	has	an	insignificant	interest	burden.	

7 . 8 . 2 .  D A Y - O N E  G A I N  O R  L O S S

Differences arose between the transaction price on the date of initial recognition of the liabilities and 

the fair value determined by means of the valuation method described in 3.7.3 “Financial instruments”.

The	differences	still	to	be	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	amounted	to	kEUR 	708	as	of	the	end	of	the	fiscal	

year	under	review	(previous	year:	kEUR 	2,050).

The difference for the convertible bond is distributed over the expected remaining term of the liability 

by calculating the annual amount that will result in the redemption amount at the maturity date of 

the liability. As a consequence, the differential amount for the convertible bond (see note 8.2.1 “Con-

vertible bond”) is distributed pro rata temporis over the remaining term of the bond amount not yet 

converted.

Compliance and non-compliance with loan conditions

During	the	2020	and	2019	fiscal	years,	Northern	Data	did	not	default	on	any	of	its	principal	or	interest	

payment obligations, and met all of its obligations. Loan conditions were complied with and no viola-

tions occurred.

7.9. Other liabilities

kEUR 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Current other liabilities 

Liabilities from value added tax 3.525 40

Liabilities to third parties 213.346 -

Miscellaneous other liabilities 1.067 436

Total 217.938 476

Non-current other liabilities    

Security deposits 2.037 -

Total 2.037 -

 

Other current liabilities to third parties mainly include prepayments for hardware components by 

	Bitfield	Group	and	Decentric,	which	were	acquired	in	August	2021	and	September	2021	(see	also	note	

8.10 “Events after the reporting period”, note 8.3.1 “Related companies” and the Group management 

report).
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8. Other notes 

8.1. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

The	statement	of	cash	flows	shows	how	cash	and	cash	equivalents	changed	during	the	fiscal	year	

under review. In accordance with IAS 7 “Statements of Cash Flows”, a distinction is drawn between 

changes	in	funds	from	operating,	investing	and	financing	activities.

The	changes	in	liabilities	from	financing	activities	in	the	2020	fiscal	year	are	as	follows:

kEUR  Balance 

as of 

31-Dec-19

Cash Non-cash Balance as of 

31-Dec-20

Other  

cash flows

Change in 

scope of  

consolidation

Change in  

fair value

Exchange  

rate changes

Other

Loan liabilities 4.547 -2.500 27.113 159 -2.808 1.054 27.565

Lease liabilities 3.405 -4.578 17.266 -1.685 363 14.771

Wandelanleihe 11.041 4,657 - - - -17,742 176

Convertible bond 11.041 4.657 - 2.220 - -17.742 176

Other	financial

liabilities
- 1 - - - - 1

Total 18.993 -2.420 44.379 19.304 -4.493 -16.325 59.438

The	other	effects	relating	to	the	convertible	bond	(kEUR  17,742)	arise	from	conversion.

The prepayments for hardware components reported under other liabilities (cf. note 7.9 “Other liabili-

ties”) were recognized in the expectation that revenues will be realized at a later date. Accordingly, the 

change	in	these	liabilities	(totaling	kEUR 	135,073)	was	allocated	to	cash	flow	from	operating	activities	

in	the	consolidated	cash	flow	statement.

The	changes	in	liabilities	from	financing	activities	in	the	2019	fiscal	year	are	as	follows:

kEUR  Balance 

as of 

31-Dec-19

Cash Non-cash Balance as of 

31-Dec-20

Other  

cash flows

Change in 

scope of  

consolidation

Change in  

fair value

Exchange  

rate changes

Other

Loan liabilities 4.562 - - - - -15 4.547

Lease liabilities 6.311 -3.025 - - - 119 3.405

Convertible bond - 10.450 - 591 - - 11.041

Total 10.873 7.425 - 591 - 104 18.993

8.2. Notes concerning financial instruments

The	table	below	shows	the	carrying	amounts	and	fair	values	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities,	

including	their	levels	in	the	fair	value	hierarchy.	This	table	does	not	show	fair	values	for	financial	assets	

and	financial	liabilities	if	their	carrying	amount	represents	a	reasonable	approximation	of	fair	value.

kEUR Measurement 

category 

according to  

IFRS 9

Carrying 

amount 

Amortized 

cost 

FVOCI FVPL Total

carrying 

amount

Level	within	the	 

fair value hierarchy

(fair value)

31.12.2019
1.

Level

2.

Level

3.

Level

Assets/liabilities

Cash and cash 

equivalents
FAAC 3.248 3.248 - - 3.248 - - -

Trade receivables FAAC 0 0 - - 0 - - -

Interests in other 

companies
FVOCI 4 - 4 - 4 - - 4

Trade payables FLAC 980 - - - 980 - - -

Loans to 

 shareholders
FLAC 4.547 - - - 4.547 - - -

Convertible bond FVTPL 11.041 - - 11.041 11.041 - - 11.041

kEUR Measurement 

category 

according to 

IFRS 9

Carrying 

amount 

Amortized 

cost 

FVOCI FVPL Total

carrying 

amount

Level	within	the	fair	

value hierarchy (fair 

value)

31.12.2020
1.

Level

2.

Level

3.

Level

Assets/liabilities

Cash and cash 

equivalents
FAAC 73.862 73.862 - - 73.862 - - -

Trade receivables FAAC 2.293 2.293 - - 2.293 - - -

Interests in other 

companies
FVOCI 1.451 - 1.451 - 1.451 - - 1.451

Trade payables FLAC 20.246 - - - 20.246 - - -

Loans to customers FLAC 25.498 25.498 - - 25.498 - - -

Loans to 

 shareholders
FLAC 1.164 - - - 1.164 - - -

Convertible bond FVTPL 176 - - 176 176 - - 176

Derivatives from 

electricity contracts
FVTPL 16.925 - - 16.925 16.925 - 16.925 -
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Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	trade	receivables	as	well	as	other	current	financial	assets	and	liabilities	

mainly have short residual terms. For this reason, their carrying amounts as of the balance sheet 

date	approximate	to	their	fair	value.	The	carrying	amount	of	current	financial	liabilities	represents	an	

approximation of the fair value on the reporting date. 

Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	measured	at	fair	value	are	determined	by	applying	a	measure-

ment	technique	that	includes	significant	unobservable	inputs	(Level	3).	For	the	valuation	of	embed-

ded	options	in	structured	financial	liabilities,	significant	unobservable	inputs	as	well	as	historical	

volatilities for equities are used for the valuation. 

Northern Data’s maximum credit exposure is equal to the carrying amount of assets subject to credit 

risk.

The table below shows the reconciliation of the opening balance to the closing balance for Level 3 fair 

values.

kEUR Total of	which	gains	and	

losses recognised in 

other comprehensive 

income

of	which	gains	and	

losses recognised in 

financial	expenses	

Balance	at	start	of	fiscal	year	

(liability amount)
-11.037 - -

Addition	of	shares	in	affiliated	

companies	–	net	change	in	fair	

value

1.447 - -

Convertible bond - net change in 

fair value
10.865 - 10.865

Balance	at	end	of	fiscal	year	 

(asset amount)
1.275 - 10.865

 

Further	notes	to	the	table	with	the	change	in	fair	values	of	Level	3:	The	decrease	in	financial	liabilities	

measured at fair value based on utilization of the fair value option is due to the investors’ exercise of 

conversion rights relating to the convertible bond and the repayment of the subordinated loan.

The	loan	was	disbursed	to	Northern	Data	at	nominal	value.	A	fixed	interest	rate	below	the	market	rate	

at the time the loan was issued was agreed as the loan interest rate for the entire term of the loan. As a 

consequence, the loan amount received or the transaction price do not represent fair value at the time 

of	addition.	The	fair	value	of	the	loan	was	determined	applying	a	discounted	cash	flow	(DCF)	method.

The loan is a subordinated loan liability that must be repaid from future proceeds at any time, albeit 

no later than December 31, 2025, with the interest payments also to be met from future proceeds.

The	loans	to	shareholders	were	subjected	to	a	scenario	analysis.	The	interest	rate	was	identified	as	a	

key input. Based on the available data, a scenario analysis was performed on the basis of alternative 

time periods. An alternative spread calculation also simulates the possibility of an alternative rating 

assessment. A hypothetical calculation of the spread over a period of 12 months leads to an increase in 

the	interest	rate	of	1.58	percent.	This	reduced	the	impact	on	the	fair	value	on	addition	by	kEUR  -368.	

Furthermore, in addition to a longer term, the spread calculation was adjusted to 3 months, which 

leads to a reduction of the interest rate by -1.15 percent and increases the value on addition by 

kEUR  296.	

For	financial	liabilities	designated	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	companies	are	required	to	

present separately the amount of gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive income and the 

amount	recognized	in	profit	or	loss.	

Northern	Data	is	exposed	to	a	number	of	different	financial	risks,	which	are	explained	in	the	manage-

ment report as electricity price risk, liquidity risk, counterparty risk, currency risk and interest rate risk. 

Risk management is performed by the Group Finance Department. The Group Finance Department 

identifies,	evaluates	and	hedges	financial	risks	in	close	cooperation	with	the	Group’s	operating	units.	

Changes in the risk situation are responded to with appropriate process changes. The aim of risk man-

agement	is	to	reduce	financial	risks	through	planned	measures.

8 . 2 . 1 .  C O N V E R T I B L E  B O N D 

The	convertible	bond	issued	by	Northern	Data	was	placed	in	the	nominal	amount	of	kEUR  10,450	in	

the	2019	fiscal	year	and	the	remaining	kEUR  9,550	at	the	beginning	of	the	2020	fiscal	year.	Due	to	the	

structure of the convertible bond, investors exercised their conversion rights for a conversion volume 

of	kEUR  19,395	as	of	the	first	date	when	they	were	able	to	exercise	their	conversion	rights.	Northern	

Data	exercised	the	convertible	bond	issuer’s	right	in	the	first	conversion	period	until	June	30,	2020	to	

the	effect	that	the	Group	serviced	part	of	the	conversion	in	2,214,250	shares	and	settled	kEUR  4,412	in	

cash. In the second half of 2020, further investors exercised their conversion rights with the result that 

kEUR  509	in	conversion	volume	on	the	part	of	Northern	Data	was	fulfilled	exclusively	in	shares.	For	

the	nominal	amount	of	kEUR  82	remaining	as	of	December	31,	2020,	Northern	Data	exercised	its	right	

as the issuer to draw the clean-up call (see note 8.10 “Events after the reporting period”), and con-

sequently, the remaining fair value of the convertible bond (Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy) is not 

subjected	to	a	sensitivity	analysis	for	reasons	of	materiality,	as	any	resulting	fluctuations	in	value	would	

have an immaterial effect. 

Due to the placement of the convertible bond over a longer period of time or over a period in which 

the share price performed positively, the transaction price, the respective nominal amount of the 

shares acquired from the bond, could no longer be used as the fair value at the time of placement. 

The fair value was determined using a DCF method and the CRR option pricing model.

The	convertible	bond	is	a	structured	financial	liability	(see	note	3.7.3.5	“Classification	and	measure-

ment”),	which	consists	of	a	fixed-interest	debt	instrument	and	a	derivative	component	to	be	classified	

as debt, which also has treasury shares as the underlying asset.

The	convertible	bond	was	arranged	with	a	term	of	five	years,	with	a	fixed	interest	rate	of	5	percent	

per	annum.	The	conversion	price	was	EUR  8.00	per	share,	although	the	company	was	entitled	to	pay	

a	cash	amount	of	EUR  21.00	instead	of	delivering	shares.	The	total	volume	of	the	convertible	bond	

amounts	to	kEUR  20,000.	The	conversion	right	may	be	exercised	by	a	bondholder	from	May	15,	2020	

onwards	on	the	last	five	banking	days	of	each	calendar	quarter	until	the	repayment	date.

8 . 2 . 2 .  E L E C T R I C I T Y  S U P P LY  C O N T R A C T  T O  B E  C L A S S I F I E D  A S  A 

F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T

Northern	Data	purchases	a	fixed	volume	of	electricity	each	month	at	a	fixed	payable	price,	regardless	

of actual usage. In the event of additional requirements, Northern Data can purchase the required 

additional volumes on the basis of agreed additional volume conditions. However, Northern Data did 

not identify any demand for additional volumes. In the event that Northern Data does not have the 

originally planned requirement, Northern Data may resell the unutilized quantities back to the power 

supplier at the current market price. The contract includes a Net Settlement Option, and the Own Use 

Exemption	does	not	apply	due	to	the	specific	design	of	the	factual	situation.	For	this	reason,	the	power	

contract	is	to	be	classified	as	FVTPL.	

Northern	Data	is	required	to	provide	an	initial	security	of	USD 7.5 million.	In	addition,	Northern	Data	
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must also provide an ongoing security, determined by market price developments.

Electricity forward contracts are valued individually at their forward rate or price on the balance sheet 

date using the electricity price model that is customary in the market and that is also used to deter-

mine the margin. The forward rates or prices are based, as far as possible, on market quotations, taking 

into account forward premiums and discounts where applicable. 

Uncertainties arise for Northern Data not only from the following, simulated market values but also 

from the multiplicity of internal factors (e.g. actual electricity consumption of a unit) as well as external 

factors (e.g. weather conditions and temperatures).

A hypothetical change in the electricity costs for MW/h as of the balance sheet date of EUR +0.82 

(1 USD),	would	lead	to	a	theoretical	change	in	the	market	values	of	kEUR  8,697.

Risks are explained in more detail in the risk report within the management report. 

8.3. Related party transactions 

Related	parties	as	defined	in	IAS	24	are	natural	persons	or	entities	that	can	be	influenced	by	Northern	

Data,	that	can	exercise	influence	over	Northern	Data,	or	that	are	subject	to	the	influence	of	another	

party related to Northern Data.

8 . 3 . 1 .  R E L A T E D  C O M P A N I E S

As	of	the	balance	sheet	date	and	throughout	the	past	fiscal	year,	no	party	was	able	to	exercise	a	con-

trolling	influence	over	Northern	Data	AG.	Significant	influence	was	exercised	by	the	Block.one	Group.

Firstly, the related parties are non-consolidated subsidiaries. Northern Data maintains relationships 

with certain of its unconsolidated subsidiaries in the ordinary course of its business. Transactions with 

such Group companies are disclosed below. The transactions relate to calls on liquid funds and settle-

ments under the Group’s internal credit facility agreements.

kEUR 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Receivables

Whinstone Security LLC. - -

Northern eCloud ehf. DRÖG 41 -

Northern Data NOR AS 226 -

Total 267 -

 

The open balances at the end of the reporting period are unsecured, and are settled by cash payment 

or the offsetting of receivables and payables.

Secondly, hardware and other supply contracts in particular were concluded with a subsidiary of Block.

one	and	a	further	associated	company	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.	Deliveries	in	the	amount	of	kEUR 	86,999	

were realized. As the company is of the opinion that the agreements did not meet the criteria for a 

contract	as	defined	by	IFRS	15.9	as	of	December	31,	2020	and	no	transfer	of	economic	control	occurred,	

no revenue was recognized with these companies concerning deliveries in 2020. As of the balance 

sheet date, liabilities from these business relationships exist due to payments received in the amount 

of	kEUR 	213,346.

No guarantees exist for receivables due from, or liabilities due to, related parties. No valuation allow-

ances were applied to receivables due from related parties.

8 . 3 . 2 .  R E L A T E D  P E R S O N S

Related	parties	are	those	persons	who	have	significant	influence	over	the	financial	and	operating	

policies of Northern Data, including their close family members. These include the members of the 

Management and Supervisory boards of Northern Data.

Management Board 

During	the	past	fiscal	year,	the	Management	Board	of	Northern	Data	comprised	the	following		

 individuals:

 ▶ Aroosh	Thillainathan,	Chief	Executive	Officer,	Frankfurt	am	Main;	since	January	1,	2020.

 ▶ Dr.	Mathias	Dähn,	Chief	Financial	Officer,	Frankfurt	am	Main;	since	September	7,	2020.

 ▶ Stefan	Sickenberger,	Chief	Operating	Officer,	Frankfurt	am	Main;	since	August	1,	2020.

 ▶ Mathis	Schultz,	Chief	Financial	Officer,	Frankfurt	am	Main;	until	September	6,	2020.

Members of the Management Board held the following positions within the Group:

 ▶ Aroosh	Thillainathan,	Chief	Executive	Officer,	Whinstone	US.	Inc.,	Rockdale	Texas	(Mr.	Thillaina-

than was a director of Whinstone US, Inc. prior to its acquisition by Northern Data)

The total compensation of the Management Board is as follows:

kEUR 2020 2019

Current payments (compensation) 1.107 90

Share-based payments 337 -

Total 1.444 90
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Supervisory Board

Name Profession Member since appointed	until	/	

stepped	down	on

Further mandates in 2020  

(during	the	term	of	office)

Eerik Budarz Economist 17.04.2019 10.11.2020  

Marc Schönberger Lawyer 17.04.2019 10.11.2020
Supervisory Board Pantaflix AG, 

Supervisory Board Bitfield AG

Dr. Tom Oliver Schorling Independent lawyer 10.11.2020 2023

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board of Exaloan AG, Frankfurt 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board  

of Dioscure Therapeutics SE, Bonn

Dr. Bernd Hartmann Managing Director 25.07.2014 2023
Partner and Managing Director  

of Roskos & Meier OHG

Hermann-Josef Lamberti Business executive 10.11.2020 2023

Member of the Board of Trustees  

of the Frankfurt Institute for  

Advanced Studies (FIAS)

 

The	compensation	of	the	Supervisory	Board	in	the	past	fiscal	year	amounted	to	kEUR  143.	In	addition	

to	reimbursement	of	their	expenses,	each	member	of	the	company’s	Supervisory	Board	receives	fixed	

annual	compensation	of	kEUR  30.	The	Chair	of	the	Supervisory	Board	receives	fixed	annual	compen-

sation	of	kEUR  60,	and	the	Deputy	Chair	of	the	Supervisory	Board	receives	kEUR  45.

8 . 3 . 3 .  D I R E C T O R S ’  D E A L I N G S

Pursuant	to	Article	19	(1)	of	the	Market	Abuse	Regulation	(MAR	–	Regulation	(EU)	No.	596/2014),	the	

members of the Management and Supervisory boards, as well as certain relatives, must immediately 

disclose all sales and purchases of Northern Data shares and other related rights if the value limit of 

EUR  20,000	is	exceeded	within	the	calendar	year.

The	following	table	shows	a	list	of	transactions	published	in	the	2020	fiscal	year:

Notifying individual Notification	

date 

Date Transaction type Price Aggregate  

volume

 

kEUR 

Aroosh Thillainathan 09.03.2020 09.03.2020

Acquisition of shares with a nominal value of 

EUR 1.00 subscribed for on February 17, 2020, in 

accordance with the notification pursuant to 

Article 19 MAR of February 19, 2020, as part of a 

capital increase against non-cash capital 

contributions at Whinstone US Inc.

EUR 1.00 744

8.4. Share-based payment transactions

8 . 4 . 1 .  D E S C R I P T I O N  O F  S H A R E - B A S E D  P A Y M E N T  A R R A N G E M E N T

As of December 31, 2020, there is a Share Option Scheme 2020 (“SOP 2020”), i.e. share-based payment 

arrangement, within the Group which provides for settlement by equity instruments.

On August 4, 2020, Northern Data introduced the SOP 2020, which entitles members of the compa-

ny’s Management Board and employees, as well as members of management bodies and employ-

ees	of	affiliated	companies,	to	acquire	shares	in	Northern	Data	AG.	Under	the	program,	holders	of	

exercisable options have the right, subject to certain conditions, to purchase shares at the exercise 

price (which corresponds to the unweighted arithmetic mean of the prices determined in the closing 

auction in XETRA® trading, or a comparable successor system, or a successor price, during the last ten 

trading days prior to the date on which the option is granted).

All options are to be settled by physical delivery of the shares, as a matter of principle. However, the 

company	is	entitled	to	effect,	at	its	discretion,	fulfillment	by	granting	a	cash	settlement	amount.	The	

cash settlement amount granted is calculated as the difference between the exercise price and the 

unweighted arithmetic mean of the prices of the shares of Northern Data AG as determined in the 

closing auction in XETRA® trading or in a comparable successor system or as a successor price during 

the last ten trading days prior to the exercise of the option.

Between August 10 and December 15, 2020, a total of 628,949 share options were issued to members 

of the company’s Management Board and employees, as well as to members of the management 

bodies	and	employees	of	affiliated	companies.	The	options	can	be	exercised	for	the	first	time	after	

the expiry of a holding period of four years from the respective issue date. Furthermore, the exercise 

conditions stipulate that the option holders can only exercise the options if, as a matter of principle, 

the option holder remains with the company for more than three years (vesting period), and the com-

pound annual growth rate (CAGR) of the Group’s revenue in the reference period amounts to at least 

25 percent.

8 . 4 . 2 .  D E T E R M I N I N G  F A I R  V A L U E S 

The fair value of the SOP 2020 was determined by applying the Black-Scholes formula. Service and 

non-market performance conditions associated with the transactions were not included in determin-

ing fair value.

The parameters used in determining the fair values on the SOP 2020 grant date include, in particular:

 ▶ the	share	price	on	the	respective	grant	date	(average	share	price	EUR  50.92);	the	value	also	

corresponds to the average exercise price of the options

 ▶ expected volatility of 54.6 percent

 ▶ expected life of 4.0 years (weighted average)

 ▶ expected dividends equivalent to 0.0 percent of the share price

 ▶ risk-free	interest	rate	–	0.5	percent

The expected volatility is based on the 180-day volatility from an appropriate peer group, as Northern 

Data currently has very high, unrepresentative volatility due to the development and growth of its 

business.
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The	expected	life	of	the	instruments	is	based	on	the	general	behavior	of	option	holders.	The	first	

opportunity to exercise the options is four years after the grant date. The option holder then has the 

right	to	exercise	the	options	over	a	period	of	five	years.	As	part	of	measuring	the	options,	it	is	assumed	

that the option holders will exercise the right to subscribe for the shares immediately after four years.

8 . 4 . 3 .  R E C O N C I L I A T I O N  O F  O U T S T A N D I N G  S H A R E  O P T I O N S

The number of share options under the SOP 2020 shows the following changes:

Thousands of options AOP 2020

Outstanding as of January 1, 2020 -

Expired during the year -

Exercised during the year -

Granted during the year 629

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 629

Exercisable as of December 31, 2020 -

8 . 4 . 4 .  E X P E N S E S  R E C O G N I Z E D  I N  P R O F I T  O R  L O S S

In	connection	with	the	SOP	2020	share-based	payment	arrangement,	expenses	of	kEUR  704	(previ-

ous	year:	kEUR  0)	were	recognized	under	personnel	expenses	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.

8.5. Employee benefits

The	Group	has	company	pension	schemes	in	the	form	of	defined	contribution	plans.

Defined	contribution	plans	exist	in	the	form	of	retirement,	disability	and	survivors’	benefits,	the	

amount of which depends on length of service and salary. Employer’s contributions to the statutory 

pension	insurance	to	be	paid	in	Germany	are	to	be	regarded	as	such	defined	contribution	plans.	

Payments	to	defined	contribution	plans	in	the	Group	relate	predominantly	to	contributions	to	the	

statutory pension insurance scheme in Germany. In the reporting period, expenses in connection with 

defined	contribution	plans	amounted	to	kEUR  176	(previous	year:	kEUR  98).

8.6. Entity-wide disclosures

Due to the Northern Data Group’s organizational structure, no delineation of reporting segments was 

presented	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.	In	the	following,	information	is	provided	at	entity	level	in	accordance	

with IFRS 8.31 et seq.

The revenue of the Northern Data Group can be analyzed by geographical region (location of the 

companies included) as follows.

kEUR  2020  2019

Germany - 10.132

Abroad 16.377 -

Total 16.377 10.132

 

The carrying amounts of non-current assets are composed as follows.

kEUR 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Germany 192.091 8.396

Abroad 193.207 0

Total 385.298 8.396

 

For the presentation of information on geographical regions, revenues as well as non-current assets 

are	stated	according	to	the	registered	office	of	the	respective	Northern	Data	company.	Non-current	

assets by region comprise non-current assets less deferred tax assets, interests in other companies, 

and	other	financial	assets.

8.7. Other financial obligations

Other	financial	obligations	amounted	to	kEUR  133,701	as	of	the	balance	sheet	date	(previous	year:	

kEUR  807).	The	other	financial	obligations	include,	in	particular,	current	purchase	commitments	

based	on	hardware	contracts	in	an	amount	of	EUR  133,097.	In	addition,	financial	obligations	arise	

from low-value and short-term rental and lease agreements with a remaining term of up to one year 

in	an	amount	of	kEUR  205,	and	with	a	remaining	term	of	one	to	five	years	in	an	amount	of	kEUR  399.	

For	financial	obligations	from	rental	and	lease	agreements,	please	also	refer	to	note	7.8 “Financial 

liabilities”.

8.8. Auditor’s fees and services

Pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB in conjunction with Section 314 (1) No. 9 HGB, the fees and services for 

the	auditor	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	must	be	disclosed	as	follows:	

kEUR 2020

Audit	of	financial	statements 406

Other	certification	services 110

Total 516

The fees for auditing services provided by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft related to the 

audit	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	the	company’s	separate	annual	financial	state-

ments,	as	well	as	various	audits	of	the	annual	financial	statements	of	its	subsidiaries.	Moreover,	a	

review	of	the	interim	financial	statements	was	performed	in	the	2020	fiscal	year.
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8.9. List of shareholdings of Northern Data AG pursuant to 

 Section 313 (2) Nos. 1 to 4 HGB

Subsidiary Domicile Interest in 

%

Full consolidation (F) 

Participation (P)

31.12.2020 

Equity

EUR

31.12.2020

Net	profit	or	loss

EUR

31.12.2020

Groupe Kelvin Emtech Inc. Montreal (Canada) 100 F 1.452.060 -158

Kelvin Emtech Inc. Montreal (Canada) 100 F 1.137.077 78.247*)

Kelvin Emtech Technologies Inc. Montreal (Canada) 100 F 186.036 -45.7271)

Kelvin Emtech Technologies Inc. Montreal (Canada) 100 F 128.947 -32.678

Lancium Technologies Corp. Houston (USA) 7,01 P n/a n/a

Northern Data CA Ltd. Ontario (Canada) 100 F -658.092 -661.398**)

Northern Data NL BV
Eygelshoven

(Netherlands)
100 V -53.433 -53.5332)

Northern Data NOR AS Oslo (Norway) 100 P 2.865 0

Northern Data Software GmbH * Frankfurt (Main) 100 F 2.881.809 2.856.809

Northern eCloud ehf. DRÖG Reykjavík (Iceland) 100 P -52.336 -44.887

Whinstone Security LLC Rockdale (USA) 100 P -23.685 -25.266

Whinstone US , Inc. Rockdale (USA) 100 F -24.276.210 -17.011.673***)

 

Northern Data Software GmbH has made use of the exemption pursuant to Section 264 (3) HGB for 

the	2020	fiscal	year	and	has	submitted	the	declarations	required	for	this	purpose	to	the	electronic	

Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) for publication.

*	 Short	fiscal	year	from	November	1,	2021	to	December	31,	2021

** Equity and earnings according to IFRS

***	 Equity	and	earnings	in	accordance	with	IFRS;	short	fiscal	year	from	November	1,	2021	to	

December 31, 2021

8.10. Events after the reporting date

February 2021

In February 2021, Northern Data announced that it would repay its 2019 convertible bond early. The 

full	repayment	of	the	outstanding	small	partial	nominal	amount	of	EUR  82,000.00	plus	accrued	

interest was realized in accordance with the bond terms and conditions on March 15, 2021. Pursuant 

to the bond terms and conditions, the company would have been entitled to pay a cash amount 

of	EUR  21.00	per	share	in	lieu	of	shares	in	the	event	of	conversion,	to	which	the	bondholders	would	

otherwise have been entitled. Given this, and taking into consideration the short period until the 

repayment date, Northern Data decided to treat all remaining bondholders as if they had converted 

on	time,	and	to	pay	them	a	cash	amount	of	kEUR  2.6	per	outstanding	bond	rather	than	the	nominal	

amount plus interest. The repayment was realized on March 15, 2021.

March 2021

On March 31, 2021, Northern Data AG approved a capital increase from Approved Capital. The share 

capital	was	increased	from	EUR  15,879,707	to	EUR  16,443,675	through	the	issue	of	563,968	new	no-par	

value bearer shares. The shares were issued against cash capital contributions, making partial use of 

the existing Approved Capital and excluding existing shareholders’ subscription rights. The shares 

were	issued	at	an	average	placement	price	of	EUR  107.63	per	share.	The	total	gross	proceeds	from	the	

issue	thereby	amount	to	approximately	EUR  60.7 million.	The	proceeds	will	be	used	to	strengthen	

the balance sheet and to expand the shareholder structure, and are to be deployed to accelerate the 

growth	of	existing	business	activities	as	well	as	for	general	corporate	purposes.	Strategic	financial	

investors participated to a large extent in the capital increase.

In March 2021, the acquisition of a data center site in Boden, Sweden, was completed. The acquisi-

tion	was	effected	by	issuing	shares	from	approved	capital	and	a	cash	component	of	EUR  4 million	

(adjusted	for	selected	liabilities	and	receivables).	The	highly	efficient	data	center	is	powered	by	100	

per cent renewable electricity, and is used to run Northern Data Group’s own GPU-based high-perfor-

mance computing hardware. The related purchase price allocation had not yet been completed as of 

the	date	when	the	consolidated	financial	statements	were	prepared.

April 2021 

On April 8, 2021, Northern Data sold its US subsidiary Whinstone US, Inc. which operates the high-per-

formance data center at its Rockdale, Texas, location, to Riot Blockchain, Inc. (NASDAQ: RIOT), a 

US-based publicly traded bitcoin miner in North America. The purchase price consists of a cash pay-

ment	(cash-	and	debt-free)	of	approximately	EUR  67 million,	and	an	additional	11.8 million	common	

shares in Riot Blockchain, Inc. The total value of the shares, based on the last Riot Blockchain share 

price	(reference	date	of	April	7,	2021:	USD 48.37),	corresponds	to	approximately	EUR  481 million.	The	

total	volume	of	the	transaction	consequently	amounts	to	approximately	EUR  548 million.	Following	

the closing of the transaction, which the company announced on May 27, 2021, Northern Data holds 

an	approximately	12.3 %	interest	in	Riot	Blockchain,	Inc.	This	leads	to	an	estimated	disposal	value	of	

EUR  383 million.	
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May 2021 

In May 2021, Northern Data signed a contract with Canadian blockchain technology company Digihost 

Technology Inc. (TSXV: DGHI) as a new crypto customer. The agreement includes the sale of high per-

formance	mining	equipment,	and	at	the	same	time	a	long-term	hosting	agreement	including	a	profit	

sharing agreement.

August 2021

On August 12, Northern Data AG reached an agreement with Block.one concerning the acquisition of 

Decentric Europe BV. The transaction comprises a cash component and/or offset as well as a vendor 

loan	totaling	EUR  195 million,	which	will	be	paid	within	12	months,	and	2.3 million	shares	in	Northern	

Data	AG	(valued	at	that	time	at	approximately	EUR  171 million),	which	will	be	issued	by	way	of	a	capital	

increase against non-cash capital contributions with the exclusion of shareholders’ subscription rights. 

The capital increase was approved on August 12. The related purchase price allocation had not yet 

been	completed	as	of	the	date	when	the	consolidated	financial	statements	were	prepared.

September 2021

Northern	Data	has	acquired	an	approximately	86.6	percent	interest	in	Bitfield	N.V.,	thereby	valuing	

the	company	up	to	a	total	amount	of	EUR  400 million,	and	has	signed	binding	purchase	agreements	

with the major shareholders. The transaction takes the form of a capital increase against non-cash 

capital	contributions	in	return	for	the	issue	of	up	to	5.1 million	shares	in	Northern	Data	AG.	

These announcements relating to events after the reporting date do not lead to any effects on the 

separate	and	consolidated	financial	statements	for	the	2020	fiscal	year.	Above	and	beyond	this,	the	

company	is	not	aware	of	any	further	events	or	developments	after	the	reporting	date	that	are	specific	

to the Group and that might have led to any material change in the reporting or measurement of 

individual assets or liabilities as of December 31, 2020.

8.11. Date of release for publication 

The	consolidated	financial	statements	were	approved	by	the	Management	Board	for	publication	and	

forwarding to the Supervisory Board on November 9, 2021. The Supervisory Board approved the con-

solidated	financial	statements	on	the	same	date.

8.12. Responsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consol-

idated	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	Group’s	assets,	liabilities,	financial	position	

and performance, and the Group management report includes a fair review of the Group’s devel-

opment and performance of its business and position, together with a description of the principal 

opportunities and risks associated with the Group’s expected development.

Frankfurt am Main, November 9, 2021

Aroosh Thillainathan Dr. Mathias Dähn Stefan Sickenberger

Chief	Executive	Officer	 Management	Board	member	 Management	Board	member
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9. Unqualified audit opion
9.1. Independent Auditor´s Report

Independent Auditor's Report 

 

To Northern Data AG, Frankfurt am Main 

OOppiinniioonnss  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Northern Data AG, Frankfurt am 
Main (until 10 January 2020: Northern Bitcoin AG), and its subsidiaries, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year from 
1 January to 31 December 2020, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the group manage-

ment report of Northern Data AG for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020. 

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit, 

– the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with 
the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial 
law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] 
and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabili-
ties, and financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial per-
formance for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020, and  

– the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of 
the Group's position. In all material respects, this group management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and 
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. 

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any 
reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of 
the group management report. 
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BBaassiiss  ffoorr  tthhee  OOppiinniioonnss  

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group manage-

ment report in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the German Generally Accepted Stand-
ards of Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) 
[Institute of Public Auditors in Germany]. Our responsibilities under those requirements and 
principles are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and of the Group Management Report" section of our auditor's 
report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of 
German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the group management report. 

OOtthheerr  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn  

Management and/or the Supervisory Board are/is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information in the annual report. The other information does 
not include the consolidated financial statements, the group management report information 
audited for content and our auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report 
do not cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any 
other form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so 
doing, to consider whether the other information  

– is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the group man-

agement report information audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or  

– otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ooff  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  aanndd  tthhee  SSuuppeerrvviissoorryy  BBooaarrdd  ffoorr  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  
SSttaatteemmeennttss  aanndd  tthhee  GGrroouupp  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  RReeppoorrtt  

Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional require-
ments of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB and that the consolidated 
financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial performance of the Group. In addition, man-

agement is responsible for such internal control as they have determined necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for dis-

closing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for 
financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the group management report 
that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group's position and is, in all material 
respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal 
requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In 
addition, management is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they 
have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a group management report that is in 
accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide suffi-
cient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group management report. 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process for 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report. 

AAuuddiittoorr''ss  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  aanndd  ooff  tthhee  
GGrroouupp  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  RReeppoorrtt  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and whether the group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the 
Group's position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal re-
quirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as 
well as to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the group management report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit con-
ducted in accordance with Section 317 HGB and in compliance with the German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements and this group management report. 

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also: 

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and per-
form audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of in-
ternal controls. 



P A G E  1 1 9A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 

Northern Data AG

P A G E  1 1 8 A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 

Northern Data AG

U N Q U A L I F I E D  A U D I T  O P I O N 

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R ´ S  R E P O R T

U N Q U A L I F I E D  A U D I T  O P I O N

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R ´ S  R E P O R T

– Obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the 
audit of the group management report in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effec-
tiveness of these systems. 

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by management and the reason-
ableness of estimates made by management and related disclosures. 

– Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty ex-
ists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in the auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements and in the group management report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going con-
cern. 

– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
present the underlying transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial 
performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the addi-
tional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB. 

– Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and on the group management report. We are responsible for the direc-
tion, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 
opinions. 

– Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the consolidated financial 
statements, its conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group's position it pro-
vides. 

– Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by management in the 
group management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evalu-
ate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by management as a basis for the pro-
spective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information 
from these assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective infor-
mation and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that 
future events will differ materially from the prospective information. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

The terms governing this engagement, which we fulfilled by performing the aforementioned 
audit of the consolidated financial statements, are set out in the General Engagement Terms 
for Wirtschaftsprüfer and Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften [German Public Auditors and 
Public Audit Firms] as amended on 1 January 2017. By taking note of and using the infor-
mation as contained in our independent auditor's report, each recipient confirms to have taken 
note of the terms and conditions stipulated in the aforementioned General Engagement 
Terms (including the liability limitations specified in Item No. 9 included therein) and acknowl-

edges their validity in relation to us. 

  

Mannheim, 9 November 2021  

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
[Original German version signed by:] 

 

  

Rackwitz 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] 

Forstreuter 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] 
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N O R T H E R N D A T A . D E

Disclaimer 

The information published in this business report does not represent a recommendation nor an offer 

nor an invitation to buy or sell investment vehicles, to engage in transactions, or to conclude legal 

transactions of any kind. Northern Data AG provides the information and opinions published herein 

for exclusively personal use and for information purposes; this information is subject to change at any 

time and without prior notice. Northern Data AG makes no warranty or representation (either express 

or implied) regarding the accuracy, completeness and topicality of the information and opinions 

published in this business report. Northern Data AG is, in particular, not obligated to remove from the 

business report any information which is no longer topical or to expressly mark it as such. The inforr-

mation	in	this	report	does	not	represent	decision	guidance	for	economic,	legal,	fiscal,	or	other	issues	

where consultancy is required, nor should decisions regarding assets or other issues be taken solely on 

the	basis	of	this	information.	We	recommend	obtaining	advice	from	a	qualified	specialist.	

This is a translation of the German “Geschäftsbericht 2020“of Northern Data AG. Sole authoritative and 

universally valid version is the German language document.
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